THE USE OF RNA INTERFERENCE AS A TOOL TO EXAMINE GENE FUNCTION, AND ITS POTENTIAL AS A SPECIES-SPECIFIC PESTICIDE IN THE YELLOW FEVER MOSQUITO, *AEDES AEGYPTI*

BY

Aditi Diana Singh

A thesis submitted to the Faculty of Graduate Studies of The University of Manitoba

In partial fulfillment of the requirements of the degree of

MASTER OF SCIENCE

Department of Biological Sciences University of Manitoba Winnipeg, Manitoba

© December 2010

Acknowledgements

I am extremely grateful to my advisor, Dr. Steve Whyard, for his endless support, guidance and knowledge during the course of my degree. This thesis would not have been possible without your patience and encouragement. You have been instrumental in my growth as a student at the University of Manitoba and have inspired me to continue in this amazing field of science.

I thank my thesis committee, Dr. Gunnar Valdimarsson, Dr. Alberto Civetta, and Dr. Dana Schroeder, and greatly appreciate all of the support and advice they have given to me.

I thank all my lab mates, past and present, who have helped and supported me. I would especially like to thank Jenna Yuen and Beatriz Lerner for teaching me a variety of lab techniques, as well as Scott Read and Darcy Childs for their friendship and advice over the years.

Special thanks to Dr. Erwin Huebner and John Brubacher for the initial use of their lab space and equipment, as well as the Animal Holding Facility staff at the University of Manitoba for helping to maintain our mosquito colony.

Finally, I must thank my family and friends, especially my parents and brothers, who have supported and encouraged me every step of the way.

This research was funded by the National Sciences and Engineering Research Council (NSERC), and I gratefully acknowledge additional funding through the University of Manitoba Faculty of Science Graduate Studentship Awards and the Major G.E.H. Barrett-Hamilton Memorial Scholarship, endowed by Mr. Michael Nesbitt.

<u>Abstract</u>

RNA interference (RNAi) is a gene silencing mechanism induced by doublestranded RNA (dsRNA). RNAi has been used extensively to create loss-of-function mutants in many species to identify the functions of genes, but it also has the potential to be used as a species-specific pesticide if the dsRNA can silence essential genes in pests. The mosquito *Aedes aegypti* is a vector of numerous viruses including Dengue and West Nile virus, and is frequently controlled by chemical insecticides. With growing concerns about the extensive use of broad-spectrum pesticides, new control methods are eagerly sought. In this study, I examined the efficacy of feeding pesticidal dsRNAs to mosquito larvae. A dose-dependent RNAi response and mortality was observed when larvae were fed dsRNA targeting several different genes. Unlike RNAi in the related dipteran *Drosophila melanogaster*, RNAi in *A. aegypti* also appeared to be systemic, spreading beyond the gut to other tissues. A degree of species-specificity was also observed, as dsRNA specific to the *D. melanogaster* β -tubulin gene killed *D. melanogaster* larvae but did not kill mosquito larvae.

RNAi was also used to determine the function of a newly-identified *A. aegypti* cytochrome P450 (CYP) gene, *Aacyp*. This gene showed male-biased expression in the mosquitoes, and was expressed primarily in the male abdomen and/or thorax, but unlike some other insect male-biased CYPs, *Aacyp* was not highly expressed in the reproductive structures. While dsRNA injections successfully knocked down expression of *Aacyp*, no discernable change in reproductive or male-specific behaviours were noted. Nevertheless, RNAi is still considered a highly versatile tool for both gene function studies and has promising potential to be developed into a novel class of pesticides.

Table of Contents

Acknowledgements	ii
Abstract	iii
Table of Contents	iv
List of Tables	vi
List of Figures	vii
Chapter 1: General Introduction	1
1.1 Mosquito biology	1
1.2 Sex determination and differentiation in insects	3
1.3 Sex-specific genes and male accessory gland proteins	7
1.4 Cytochrome P450s	10
1.5 RNA interference	13
1.6 Mechanism of RNAi	14
1.7 RNAi in plants	16
1.8 RNAi in animals	
1.9 RNAi in insects	19
1.10 DsRNA delivery methods	
1.11 RNAi in mosquitoes	25
1.12 Thesis objectives	
Chapter 2: A novel, sex-biased cytochrome P450 gene in A. aegypti	
2.1 Introduction	
2.2 Methods	
2.2.1 Mosquito Rearing	
2.2.2 Isolation of the CYP gene fragment from cDNA	
2.2.3 Expression profile of the novel CYP gene in A. aegypti	
2.2.3.1 General expression within different life stages of A. aegypti	
2.2.3.2 Aacyp expression in specific tissues	
2.2.4 Cloning A. aegypti cytochrome P450 for dsRNA delivery	
2.2.5 In vitro transcription of dsRNA	
2.2.6 Cytochrome P450 injections and bioassay	
2.2.7 Phylogenetic analysis of A. aegypti cytochrome P450	42
2.3 Results	
2.3.1 A novel CYP gene in the A. aegypti genome	
2.3.2 Aacyp is sex-biased in A. aegypti males	
2.3.3 Aacyp expression in specific tissues of A. aegypti adults	50

2.3.4 Aacyp dsRNA injections and mating bioassays	. 54
2.3.5 Phylogenetic analysis of Aacyp	. 57
2.4 Discussion	. 60
Chapter 3: Ingested double-stranded RNA can act as an insecticide in A. aegypti larvae	e 70
3.1 Introduction	. 70
3.2 Methods	. 73
3.2.1 Cloning A. aegypti β -tubulin for dsRNA delivery	. 73
3.2.2 Preparation of double-stranded RNA	. 75
3.2.3 Bioassays	. 75
3.2.3.1 Survival bioassays	. 75
3.2.3.2 Gene expression	. 77
3.2.3.3 Tissue specific gene expression	. 78
3.2.4 Delivery of Aedes aegypti β -tubulin-dsRNA to Drosophila melanogaster	. 78
3.2.4.1 Preparation and delivery of D. melanogaster β -tubulin dsRNA	. 78
3.2.5 Chitin synthase and heat shock protein 83 dsRNA delivery	. 80
3.2.5.1 Preparation of chs and hsp83 dsRNA	. 80
3.2.5.2 Chs and hsp83 bioassays	. 80
3.3 Results	. 82
3.3.1 Oral delivery of β -tubulin dsRNA to A. aegypti larvae affects survival 3.3.2 Oral delivery of β -tubulin-dsRNA can cause knockdown of β -tubulin	. 82
expression	. 85
3.3.3 Oral delivery of β -tubulin-dsRNA can cause knockdown of β -tubulin	
expression in the gut and other tissues	. 88
3.3.4 Oral delivery of <i>chitin synthase</i> and <i>heat shock protein 83</i> dsRNAs to <i>A. aegypti</i> larvae	. 91
3.3.5 Effect of A. aegypti β -tubulin-dsRNA on D. melanogaster larvae	. 94
3.4 Discussion	. 95
Chapter 4: Conclusions and Future Directions	108
References	114

List of Tables

Table 1. Comparison of intron and exon sizes in Aacyp and cyp4g35. 46
Table 2. Mortality and moulting success of individual A. aegypti injected with dsRNA. 55
Table 3. Fertility data obtained from mated individuals injected with dsRNA at the pupal
stage 55
Table 4. Cytochrome P450 genes used for comparison with Aacyp
Table 5. Survival of A. aegypti larvae two weeks after dsRNA treatment. 83
Table 6. Decrease in β -tubulin expression in guts and remaining carcass of A. aegypti
larvae 3 days after treatment with dsRNA91
Table 7. Knockdown, mortality and length of larvae after treatment with dsRNAs 92
Table 8. Mortality and qRT-PCR data for <i>D. melanogaster</i> larvae treated with β -tubulin
dsRNAs

List of Figures

Figure 1. Sex determination pathway in <i>D. melanogaster</i>	5
Figure 2. RNAi mechanism in eukaryotes 1	14
Figure 3. Plasmid map of Qiagen's Cloning Vector pDrive	33
Figure 4. Plasmid map of the dual-T7 vector, pL4440	39
Figure 5. Clustal alignment of CYP4G35 and Aacyp protein sequences4	14
Figure 6. Clustal alignment of <i>Aacyp</i> and <i>cyp4g35</i> nucleotide sequences	45
Figure 7. Clustal alignment of Aacyp fragment from A. aegypti and the coding sequence	e
of cyp4g15 from D. melanogaster4	17
Figure 8. Clustal alignment of the protein sequences of Aacyp fragment CYP4G15 from	n
D. melanogaster	18
Figure 9. Aacyp expression in different life stages of A. aegypti	49
Figure 10. <i>Aacyp</i> expression in male and female larvae and pupae5	50
Figure 11. Aacyp expression in male and female head tissues at various ages	51
Figure 12. Aacyp expression in male and female bodies (minus reproductive tissues) at	
various ages5	52
Figure 13. Aacyp expression in male and female reproductive tissues at various ages5	53
Figure 14. Comparison of <i>Aacyp</i> expression in all tissues tested5	54
Figure 15. Box plot showing the range of Aacyp expression in dsRNA-injected	
individuals5	56
Figure 16. Phylogenetic tree comparing Aacyp with cyp genes from various insects (see	
Table 4)	58

Figure 17. A. <i>aegypti</i> partial β -tubulin mRNA sequence from NCBI's gene database
(Accession: XM_001655975)74
Figure 18. Comparison of liposome-encapsulated and non-encapsulated dsRNA on larval
survival after 7 days
Figure 19. Survival of A. aegypti larvae over a two week period after dsRNA treatment.
Figure 20. Gene expression of β -tubulin 3, 5 and 7 days after treatment with 0.5ug/ul gus-
dsRNA or β -tubL-dsRNA
Figure 21. Gene expression of β -tubulin in guts and carcasses 3 days after dsRNA
treatment with $0.5\mu g/\mu l$ concentrations

Chapter 1: General Introduction

1.1 Mosquito biology

Aedes aegypti, also known as the yellow fever mosquito, is a vector of several important human viruses, including yellow fever and dengue. These diseases mainly affect tropical and subtropical regions, particularly in South America, Africa and India where *A. aegypti* is predominant. On an annual basis, dengue alone affects nearly 100 million people worldwide (Centers for Disease Control and Prevention), and is a threat to nearly 2.5 billion people (World Health Organization). *A. aegypti* also has the potential to transmit West Nile Virus (WNV), cases of which have been steadily increasing since the first North American infection in 1999 (Hayes *et al.*, 2005).

The complete life cycle of *A. aegypti* takes about two weeks, which makes it relatively easy to maintain in the lab. The eggs are laid in water and hatch after sensing a decrease in oxygen levels, which is usually indicative of bacterial growth and organic material available as a food source for new larvae (Gjullin *et al.*, 1941). Aquatic larvae feed on bacteria and detritus over four instars, and then moult to aquatic pupae, finally emerging as adults a few days later.

The females of most mosquito species require a blood-meal to produce viable eggs. During the feeding process, the insect injects saliva into its host, which may transfer various pathogens that the mosquito harbours. Viruses and other pathogens are usually acquired by the mosquito when feeding on an infected vertebrate host. The pathogen typically replicates in the female's gut cells, then travels from the gut and eventually makes its way to the salivary glands, where it is then transferred to another host when the female feeds again. *A. aegypti* mosquitoes have a preference for human

hosts and when they acquire a virus or other parasite from a blood-meal, the insect typically remains infective for its entire lifespan (Halstead, 2008). These factors can increase transmission rates of viruses in some areas, and the World Health Organization suggests the only way to combat virus transmission is to control the mosquito vectors.

In 2007, a draft of the genome sequence of *A. aegypti* was published in Science (Nene *et al.*, 2007), revealing it to be nearly five times as large as that of the malaria vector *Anopheles gambiae*. Comparisons made to *D. melanogaster* and *A. gambiae* genomes revealed expansions of various protein families within these different dipteran species. The acquisition of different genes in the insects may reflect various biological adaptations of these organisms, and further comparisons to other insect genomes may ultimately reveal the genetic basis of both the phenotypic differences and the vectorial capacities of the mosquito species (Waterhouse *et al.*, 2008).

As new genes are identified and their functions validated, it is anticipated that we may also identify new targets for insecticide development or develop novel methods of genetic control of these serious pests. Large research efforts have previously focused on identifying molecular targets within tissues intimately involved in pathogen development and transmission, such as the mosquito's gut and the salivary glands (Abraham *et al.*, 2004; Arca *et al.*, 2005; Sanders *et al.*, 2003; Valenzuela *et al.*, 2002). Only female mosquitoes transmit disease, and consequently, there has been increasing interest in identifying genes and their associated proteins that are involved in sexual development of mosquitoes, as these may also prove particularly useful in understanding how these insects vector the pathogens and in developing novel methods of mosquito control. As part of my research has involved the examination of a gene that displayed a male-biased

expression, it is worth reviewing some aspects of insect and mosquito sexual development.

1.2 Sex determination and differentiation in insects

There are numerous ways to determine the sex of an organism, and all known mechanisms can be observed in different insects (Sanchez, 2008). The signal for sex determination can be zygotic, maternal or environmental. Only a few insects, however, employ maternal or environmental sex-determination systems. The genetics involved in maternal signals are somewhat complex, but in the end, females develop as either gynogenic, producing only female offspring, or androgenic, producing only male offspring. For example, in the blowfly *Chrysomya rufifacies*, gynogenic females express a maternal factor that is incorporated into developing oocytes and forces female development on any zygotes derived from them. Androgenic females do not produce the maternal factor, and therefore only males will develop from their oocytes (Ullerich, 1984).

Environmental factors, such as temperature, can affect sex-determination by inducing the elimination of paternally derived chromosomes in developing offspring, usually increasing the number of females produced (Nigro *et al.*, 2007).

Zygotic signals are seemingly the most common mechanism used to determine the sex of an individual. These signals involve chromosome differences between males and females that are usually fixed at fertilization. Normally there is a sex-determining factor based on the presence or absence of specific chromosomes. As in humans, some insects like tephritid and muscid flies possess male-determining factors on their Y chromosome, making males the heteromorphic sex possessing both an X and Y chromosome. Females are the homomorphic sex and possess two X chromosomes. In lepidopterans, males are the homogametic sex (ZZ) and females are the heterogametic sex (ZW), with Z and W used to distinguish this system from the XY system (Sanchez, 2008). There are also insects whose sex is based on haploid vs. diploid numbers of chromosomes, as in bees, where males are haploid and females are diploid.

For *Drosophila*, whose sex-determining mechanism has been the most thoroughly studied in insects, sex determination is based on chromosome ratios between X chromosomes and autosomes. The homomorphic female possesses a 2X:2A chromosome ratio, where X refers to the X chromosome and A refers to autosomal chromosomes, while the heteromorphic male possesses a 1X:2A ratio. Once the sex of the organism is determined, several genes are turned on or off in order to control development of the soma specific to that sex. Male *Drosophila*, for example, will express sex-specific genes that drive the development of internal and external male body parts, and also lay down the neural networks specific for male courtship behaviours. Female development, however, is the "default setting" and occurs in the absence of the male-specifically spliced genes.

Female *D. melanogaster* express the gene *sex lethal* (*sxl*) to produce a functional SXL protein that signals default female-specific splicing of transformer (*tra*) and doublesex (*dsx*) genes required for differentiation of the body into female specific tissues (Fig. 1).



Figure 1. Sex determination pathway in *D. melanogaster* (from Arbeitman *et al.*, 2004). Females express *Sxl*, which activates female-specific splicing of *tra*. These genes, along with the sex-non-specific *tra2*, activate female-specific splicing of *dsx* and *fru*, however the female *fru* transcript is not translated. In males, *Sxl* and *tra* are non-functional, leading to male-specific splicing of *dsx* and *fru*. (*Sxl* = sex lethal, tra/tra2 = transformer/transformer 2, *dsx* = doublesex, *fru* = fruitless).

In males, SXL is truncated, and therefore non-functional, which leads to a nonfunctional TRA and male-specific splicing of *dsx* and *fru* transcripts. *Dsx* encodes sexspecific transcription factors that are responsible for sex-specific development of the soma, while *fru* encodes a transcription factor responsible for male-specific development of the nervous system, controlling male behaviours such as mating and fighting (reviewed in Saccone *et al.*, 2002; Sanchez, 2008; Shirangi and McKeown, 2007).

Although the sex-determination pathway is well understood in *D. melanogaster*, there is limited information regarding the pathway in other insects. Originally it was believed that these mechanisms differed greatly among phyla until Raymond *et al.* (1998) showed that *mab-3* in *C. elegans* and *dsx* in *D. melanogaster*, being similar in sequence, also have similar roles in sexual development, which suggests the possibility of a common evolutionary origin. However, it was later discovered that although several dipteran species possess homologues of *sxl*, the gene at the top of the sex-determination cascade in *Drosophila*, the gene produced proteins of similar size and equal abundance in both males and females, suggesting that it did not play a role in sex determination in these other dipterans (Schütt and Nöthiger, 2000). When *M. domestica sxl* was expressed in *D. melanogaster*, there was no effect on sex ratios, despite the fact that SXL proteins in these two species share 85% of their amino acids (Meise *et al.*, 1998). Based on these observations, it has been suggested that SXL acquired a unique sex-determining role in drosophilids, but that it is not the key sex-determining switch in many other insects (Schütt and Nöthiger, 2000; Verhulst *et al.*, 2010).

The gene at the end of the sex determination pathway in *D. melanogaster*, *dsx*, appears to be present in other dipteran insect species with a highly conserved structure and expression pattern, with differing male and female-specific transcripts (reviewed in Schütt and Nöthiger, 2000). Homologues of *dsx* have been identified in a range of dipteran species, including *Bactrocera tryoni* (Shearman and Frommer, 1998), *Megaselia scalaris* (Kuhn *et al.*, 2000), *Ceratitis capitata* (Saccone, 1998), *M. domestica* (Hediger *et al.*, 2004), and *Anopheles gambiae* (Scali *et al.*, 2005). More recently, our laboratory has identified the orthologues of *dsx* and *fru* in the mosquito *A. aegypti*, and preliminary evidence suggests that both are alternatively spliced in a sex-specific manner. By using RNA interference (RNAi) to disrupt the expression of a male-specific *dsx* splice variant, it was also observed that normal development of male *A. aegypti* mosquitoes can be

disrupted (Whyard *et al.*, unpublished), which suggests that, like *D. melanogaster*, sex differentiation in *A. aegypti* is regulated by this important transcription factor.

1.3 Sex-specific genes and male accessory gland proteins

Apart from genes that regulate sex-specific development, some genes are sexspecifically expressed during maturity of an insect, usually for the purposes of reproduction. Females specifically express genes necessary for egg development, sperm storage and ovipositing, while males typically express genes needed for sperm production, mate-finding, and courtship behaviour.

Arbeitman *et al.* (2004) conducted a genome wide analysis of *Drosophila* genes to determine which genes are sex-specific in somatic tissues. They found 63 genes were differentially expressed between males and females, 11 of those genes being expressed only within internal genital organs and were most likely regulated by *dsx*.

Many uniquely male genes of insects are expressed in the male accessory glands (MAGs); in *D. melanogaster*, Arbeitman *et al.* (2004) found that three genes were expressed solely in MAGs. MAGs are usually paired structures of the male reproductive system that produce all of the components of the seminal fluid. An analysis of *D. melanogaster* MAG gene expression (Chen, 1991; Wolfner, 1997; Wolfner, 2002) revealed that this male tissue produces over 80 proteins, and while the function of many of the proteins have not been fully elucidated, many of them are thought to enhance the male's reproductive success. For the majority of insects, after copulation, the female's fecundity is increased, while her receptivity to mate again is decreased. Several studies

have shown that these changes in the female are caused by secretions of the MAGs transferred to the female during copulation (Chen, 1984).

The most thoroughly studied MAG protein is sex peptide or Acp70A (called Acp for *ac*cessory gland *p*rotein), a small 36 amino acid peptide found in *D. melanogaster*, which when transferred to females, was found to induce the typical post-mating responses of increasing oviposition activity and decreasing receptivity to further mating (Chen *et al.*, 1988). Virgin females are known to lay a few eggs per day, but after mating, females may lay up to 60 eggs per day. Virgin females also readily accept courting males whereas after mating, females show specific rejection behaviours such as extruding their ovipositor and closing their genital opening by appressing their vaginal plates. This means that subsequent copulations are mechanically prevented. It has been shown that these behaviours last for about one week, and after that time the female will revert back to a virgin-like state, being receptive to mating again (Kubli, 1992).

Heifetz *et al.* (2000) observed that *D. melanogaster* females have increased numbers of eggs in their oviducts and external openings of the genital tract 6 hours after mating, compared to control females. They also observed that females mated to males that did not produce the MAG protein ovulin possessed half as many eggs passing through their genital tract compared to females mated to control males. Heifetz *et al.* (2005) subsequently found that ectopic expression of ovulin was able to stimulate ovulation in unmated females. They reported that 67% of unmated females ectopically expressing ovulin had an egg in their genital tract, compared to only 8.3% of unmated control females. Some MAGs have also been shown to produce antibacterial proteins, as there is the potential for micro-organisms to enter the insect's genital tract. Antibacterial proteins may act to protect sperm once it is in the female's body, or protect eggs once in the reproductive tract. There is at least one known antibacterial protein (Acp62F) produced in the MAGs of *D. melanogaster* (Lung *et al.*, 2002).

It has also been shown that some MAG proteins are necessary for actual sperm storage within the female's sperm storage organs. Female fruit flies store sperm in their seminal receptacle (a coiled tubule) and their two spermathecae (sac-like organs), from which they can use the sperm for two weeks after mating to fertilize eggs. Tram and Wolfner (1999) counted the number of sperm in females after mating and found significantly less sperm in the seminal receptacle and spermathecae of females mated to males that produced reduced quantities of MAG secretions. Ninety percent of sperm transferred to the female is not properly stored when females are mated to males that do not produce MAG secretions. Neubaum and Wolfner (1999) showed that D. *melanogaster* females mated to males that don't produce the MAG protein Acp36DE have a decreased number of sperm in their sperm storage organs after mating. Twentyfour hours after mating, females mated to control males had more than double the amount of sperm stored in both their seminal receptacle and spermathecae compared to females mated to males that lack Acp36DE. However, the specific role of MAG secretions related to sperm storage is unknown.

When I first started my M.Sc. studies, little was known about the MAG in the mosquito *A. aegypti*, and one of my research objectives was to determine whether *A. aegypti* possessed orthologues to several of the aforementioned MAG proteins. After

starting my research however, two competing research groups published papers describing the complete repertoire of genes expressed in *A. aegypti* MAGs (Sirot *et al.*, 2008) and a characterization of sex peptide in the mosquito (Sirot *et al.*, 2008; Yapici *et al.*, 2008). While my intention had initially been to identify and characterize a subset of the *Aedes* MAG genes, I recognized that these two competing groups were already well ahead of me, and I therefore elected to focus my attention on the role of a novel cytochrome P450 (CYP) gene that I had fortuitously identified using degenerate PCR techniques to isolate MAG gene orthologues in *A. aegypti*.

1.4 Cytochrome P450s

CYPs are a family of enzymes found in all organisms and have the ability to metabolize xenobiotic and endogenous compounds. They were named after a carbon monoxide-binding pigment discovered in rabbit liver microsomes that showed an intense absorption band at 450 nm (Omura and Sato, 1964a; Omura and Sato, 1964b). CYPs can be very diverse, having only three absolutely conserved amino acids. Despite this diverse sequence heterogeneity, their general topography and structural folding patterns are highly conserved. All CYPs contain heme-binding domains near the carboxy terminus, and it is around the heme group that most structural conservation occurs, including the three conserved amino acids (Werck-Reichhart and Feyereisen, 2000).

All CYPs are named beginning with "CYP", followed by a number for one of over 200 families, characterized by those CYPs with 40% or more amino acid identity, a letter for the subfamily, characterized by greater than 55% identity, and a final number for the gene (e.g. CYP6A1, from the housefly *Musca domestica*). However, since minor

changes in amino acids can alter substrate specificity, a CYP substrate can not be assumed based on its name.

CYPs bind molecular oxygen, introduce one oxygen atom into a substrate, and reduce the other atom to water using two electrons provided by NADPH according to the reaction:

Substrate (S) + (NADPH + H⁺) + $O_2 \rightarrow S(O) + NADP^+ + H_2O$

The electrons required for this reaction are transferred from NADPH by an NADPH cytochrome P450 reductase, or by cytochrome b_5 (Bergé *et al.*, 1998; Meunier *et al.*, 2004). A variety of organic substrates, both small and large molecules, can be used by CYP enzymes, and this high diversity of substrates suggests that large numbers of CYPs may occur in any one individual (Bergé *et al.*, 1998).

There are five CYP families that are specific to insects, and one other family that is found in insects as well as other organisms. Many CYPs are necessary for the synthesis and degradation of moulting hormones and juvenile hormone, as well as pheromones. They are also involved in adaptive mechanisms that allow insects to tolerate toxic chemicals produced by plants, where biosynthesis of these enzymes can be triggered by toxins in host plants on which they feed. Because CYPs can metabolize a wide range of compounds, they often contribute to an insect's ability to detoxify insecticides, and consequently, many instances of insecticide resistance are attributed to increased CYP activity (reviewed in Bergé *et al.*, 1998). Since there is such diversity in the function of CYPs, the distribution of these enzymes within tissues is also very diverse, seemingly having no specific pattern. This leads to the realization that CYPs can be found in all types of tissues within an organism (Werck-Reichhart and Feyereisen, 2000). Metabolic resistance of insecticides in insects is often due to enhanced CYP activity. Studies using CYP inhibitors such as piperonyl butoxide have shown reductions, or even complete loss of resistance (Bergé *et al.*, 1998). For example, in a pyrethroid-resistant strain of house fly, piperonyl butoxide reduced the resistance factor from 6000 to 32 (Scott and Georghiou, 1986). This same strain of fly shows overproduction of a specific CYP which accounts for 68% of the total P450s, and is 44 times more abundant in the resistant strain relative to a susceptible strain (Wheelock and Scott, 1990). Other studies have also shown that over-expression of specific CYPs in the housefly (Cariño *et al.*, 1992; Cariño *et al.*, 1994; Liu and Scott, 1998), and in *D. melanogaster* (Amichot *et al.*, 2004; Joussen *et al.*, 2008) lead to increased metabolism of insecticides. Along with an increase in the CYPs themselves, there is usually an increase in cytochrome P450 reductase or cytochrome b_5 (Bergé *et al.*, 1998).

One CYP (CYP6L1) has been found to be sex-specific in the male reproductive system of the German cockroach, *Blattella germanica* (Wen and Scott, 2001). While sexspecific CYPs are common in mammals, none had previously been shown to be sexspecific in any insects, even though it was believed that CYPs could play a role in insect reproduction. CYP6L1 mRNA was only detected in adult male cockroaches, where it was localized to the testes and accessory glands, as it could not be detected in the abdomen when testes and accessory glands had been removed. Wen and Scott (2001) suggested several possible roles for this CYP, including regulation of juvenile hormone in accessory glands and ecdysteroids in testes, as some CYPs have a role in the metabolism of those insect hormones. As mentioned above, the MAGs of insects have the ability to produce numerous proteins involved in altering female physiology and behaviour after mating, and Wen and Scott (2001) have suggested that this CYP may also have a role in modifying female receptivity or fecundity.

More recently, a sex-specific CYP was characterized in the head of male *D*. *melanogaster*. This *cyp* gene (*cyp4d21* or *sxe-1*) is regulated by DSX, and significantly reduces mating success when knocked down using RNAi, possibly by affecting circadian rhythms and courting behaviours in males (Fujii *et al.*, 2008).

With these exciting discoveries, it opens the door for other sex-specific CYPs to be found in several important insect species. As will be discussed in Chapter 2, a novel CYP with male-biased expression in the mosquito *A. aegypti* is described, and its potential roles in development and reproduction are explored. To assess the functional role of this mosquito CYP, I attempted to use RNAi to create loss-of-function mutants. As RNAi has not been widely used as a research tool in mosquito molecular biology studies, a review of the technology is described below.

1.5 RNA interference

In 1990, Carolyn Napoli and colleagues (Napoli *et al.*, 1990) attempted to enhance *chalcone synthase* gene expression in petunia flowers by the introduction of homologous transgenes into the plants. Instead of enhancing gene expression with extra copies of the transgene, they observed an unexplained post-transcriptional gene silencing (PTGS) phenomenon that resulted in a decrease of the gene's mRNA transcripts. In 2006, Andrew Fire and Craig Mello received the Nobel Prize in Physiology or Medicine for their description in 1998 (Fire *et al.*, 1998) of a similar PTGS mechanism in the nematode *Caenorhabditis elegans*, which they discovered was mediated by doublestranded RNA (dsRNA). They called the mechanism RNA interference (RNAi), and RNAi is now used for many applications, ranging from a molecular biology tool for examining gene function in many organisms to suppressing disease-causing genes in humans.

1.6 Mechanism of RNAi

When long dsRNA enters a cell, it is recognized by the enzyme Dicer, which initiates RNAi by cleaving the dsRNA into smaller (~21nt) fragments called short interfering RNAs (siRNAs). These siRNAs are then incorporated into an enzyme complex called the RNA-induced silencing complex (RISC), where the siRNA guides RISC to complementary mRNA sequences that are subsequently degraded by an endonuclease associated with RISC (Fig. 2; reviewed in Hannon, 2002).



A) Long dsRNA is introduced into a

B) Dicer binds to dsRNA and cleaves it into siRNAs.

D) mRNA complementary to the dsRNA gets cleaved and cannot be used for protein translation.

Figure 2. RNAi mechanism in eukaryotes.

C) RISC binds siRNAs, unwinds them, and binds one strand to complementary mRNA

Dicer enzymes are one of three classes of RNAse III enzymes that exhibit specific binding and cleavage of dsRNAs, and can therefore use linear dsRNA or RNA hairpins as substrates (Carmell and Hannon, 2004). Dicer itself contains two RNAse III domains, plus a PAZ motif that interacts with 3' ends of single stranded RNA. A helicase domain is also present in some Dicers, particularly in mammals, which may facilitate dsRNA cleavage using energy from ATP hydrolysis (Ketting *et al.*, 2001). The two RNAse III domains of Dicer are connected to the PAZ domain by a large α -helix, and it is suggested that the length of the α -helix will determine the length of siRNAs produced (MacRae *et al.*, 2006).

The siRNAs produced by Dicer possess 2-nucleotide 3' overhangs and 5'phosphate termini. These properties are significant for incorporation and proper functioning of the RISC complex. The siRNAs are incorporated into a latent form of RISC, which is then activated by unwinding of the siRNAs, and it is the unwound siRNAs that use Watson-Crick base pairing to find complementary mRNAs for degradation (Hannon, 2002). The antisense strand of the siRNA is used as the guide strand to target specific mRNA sequences, whereas the sense strand is simply a "passenger" strand which is later destroyed during RISC assembly (Rana, 2007).

Every RISC must have, at minimum, a small regulatory RNA (i.e. siRNA) and an Argonaute protein (Pratt and MacRae, 2009). Members of the Argonaute protein family are present in virtually all species, but are dependent on their guide RNA in order to function correctly. The largest class of these proteins, the Ago proteins, require a guide RNA generated from dsRNA in the cytoplasm that has been cleaved by Dicer. Most information on Argonaute proteins is based on studies using prokaryotes whose Argonaute proteins bind to small DNAs as guides. The proteins possess two lobes, one of which contains a PAZ domain to bind the 3' end of the guide strand, while the other lobe binds to the 5'-phosphate. The majority of a DNA guide strand is then in contact with the protein through the phosphodiester backbone, which explains how Argonaute proteins have the ability to bind guide strands regardless of their nucleotide sequences. Perhaps the most important structure of the protein is the PIWI domain, also called the "slicer", which hydrolyzes target RNAs in a manner similar to the enzyme RNase H by generating products with 5'-phosphate and 3'-OH groups (Song *et al.*, 2004). However, not all Argonaute proteins are catalytically active; of the four Ago proteins in humans for example, only one is catalytically active (Liu *et al.*, 2004).

These core components involved in RNAi may be adapted to meet specific biological needs of each organism, suggested by the differences in silencing among different species. For example, RNAi in *C. elegans* is both systemic (capable of inducing RNAi throughout the body) and heritable, whereas in *Drosophila* and mammals RNAi gene silencing appears to be cell-autonomous, meaning the RNAi response will only be seen in those cells possessing dsRNAs (Hannon, 2002). These differences may be either a consequence of differences in the nature of the siRNAs that are produced by Dicer and RISC and/or a consequence of the siRNA transport mechanisms present within different species.

1.7 RNAi in plants

When Napoli *et al.* (1990) attempted to enhance the colour of petunia flowers by overexpressing *chalcone synthase*, the gene encoding the enzyme necessary for the

synthesis of an anthocyanin pigment, they introduced a *chalcone synthase* transgene into the plants, and surprisingly discovered that 42% of the flowers showed completely white petals or petals with white or pale sections. They also found a 50-fold knockdown of *chalcone synthase* mRNA transcripts. At the time, the mechanism of this PTGS was unknown, and because both transgenes and the homologous endogenous genes were silenced they called it "cosuppression" (Vaucheret *et al.*, 2001). It is now believed that dsRNA was produced due to juxtaposed sense-antisense transgenes caused by imperfect integration at the transgene loci, thereby causing an RNAi response in these plants (Broderson and Voinnet, 2006).

Later studies showed that when plants were exposed to RNA viruses, viral mRNA levels were reduced shortly after the initial infection period, but the rate of transcription was not (Jones *et al.*, 2001). This suggested that plants could respond to the presence of viral RNAs by targeting them for destruction (Hannon, 2002). RNA silencing is now considered to be an important part of a plant's defence system, not only against viruses, but against transposable elements as well, and may even be essential for gene expression regulation (Voinnet, 2002).

It is known that plants use RNA-dependant RNA polymerases (RdRPs), similar to those best-characterized in the tomato (Scheibel *et al.*, 1998), in order to enhance gene silencing within the organism. RdRPs use siRNAs as primers to produce secondary siRNAs which can continue to act as guides to silence targeted genes (Ahlquist, 2002; Gordon and Waterhouse, 2007; Vance and Vaucheret, 2001). Other experiments suggest that the spread of silencing in plants could also occur if siRNAs and/or dsRNAs are transmitted cell to cell over a long distance through the phloem of a plant in the same way systemic viruses move (Mlotshwa *et al.*, 2002; Voinnet *et al.*, 1998).

1.8 RNAi in animals

Guo and Kemphues (1995) observed that sense and antisense RNA could be effective in reducing gene expression in nematodes, but they could not explain precisely how the PTGS occurred. Fire *et al.* (1998) made the discovery that dsRNA was the key molecule that induced the gene silencing, as dsRNA was more than 10 times as effective at gene silencing in *C. elegans* than antisense RNAs alone.

Like plants, *C. elegans* showed the ability to systemically silence targeted genes using small amounts of dsRNA, and it was discovered that they too possess RdRPs which can produce secondary siRNAs for continued gene silencing. Similar RdRP genes have been found in the bread mold *Neurospora crassa* and yeast *Schizosaccaromyces pombe* and it has been suggested that many other eukaryotes possess RdRP-like genes, but their functions have not been validated (Ahlquist, 2002).

In contrast to plants, nematodes also possess a transmembrane protein called SID-1 that is located at the periphery of cells and is sensitive to RNAi. SID-1 is suggested to act as a channel to transport siRNAs or dsRNAs between cells (Winston *et al.*, 2002). The presence of SID-1 in the nematode helped explain how injection of dsRNA into the worm could spread from cell to cell. Interestingly, neuronal cells in nematodes are refractory to injected dsRNA, and they lack SID-1 (Tavernarakis *et al.*, 2000; Winston *et al.*, 2002). The function of this putative RNA transporter at the periphery of cells is still unknown, but it has been speculated that it could assist in the detection of microbial and viral pathogens (Winston *et al.*, 2002). Based on a limited survey of animal species, it appears that SID-1 genes are present in most animal genomes, with the curious exception of dipteran insects (Gordon and Waterhouse, 2007).

While invertebrate species can induce RNAi following exposure to dsRNAs of any length greater than or equal to 21 nt, dsRNAs longer than 30 nt within vertebrate cells will induce the protein kinase R (PKR) pathway, which is an interferon-inducible pathway that can protect vertebrate cells from possible viral infections (Feng *et al.*, 1992). The PKR pathway, activated by long dsRNAs, first inhibits the cell's translational machinery, and can ultimately induce apoptosis. In vertebrates therefore, RNAi can be induced only if dsRNAs less than 30 bp in length are present or introduced into the cells (Gil and Esteban, 2000).

Since RNAi responses can be elicited in virtually all eukaryotic species, its use as a tool to examine the function of newly discovered genes has dramatically increased, and with the continued sequencing of many species' genomes, higher throughput RNAi screening tools are being developed (Hannon, 2002; Kuttenkeuler and Boutros, 2004).

1.9 RNAi in insects

Insects affect humans in many ways, particularly as vectors of disease and as pests of agricultural crops. Billions of dollars are spent annually around the world to produce and distribute pesticides to control insect pests, but with increasing concerns about insecticide resistance and the negative impact of current pesticides on non-target species (reviewed in Nicholson, 2007; Paoletti and Pimental, 2000), it is important that we continue to search for new, and hopefully more selective, pesticides to control pest insects. As more pest insects' genomes are sequenced, it is becoming easier to identify new insect genes and gene products that could be targeted by a new generation of pesticides. RNAi can be used as a tool for both identifying genes and analyzing various gene functions, as well as silencing target genes to aid in the development of speciesspecific insecticides to control pest species.

Many insect species have already been studied using RNAi techniques. Knockdown of target mRNA sequences have been demonstrated in several insect orders including Lepidoptera, Hymenoptera, Coleoptera, Hemiptera and some Diptera, as well as other related pest arthropods such as ticks (reviewed in Gordon and Waterhouse, 2007). However, studies on various species have revealed that RNAi responses are not equal in all insects.

While all species studied appear to have the basic components of RNAi such as Dicer and RISC, not all species respond equally to dsRNA treatments (reviewed in Gordon and Waterhouse, 2007). It is clear from various studies that the delivery methods of dsRNA to insects can affect the RNAi response and it is also evident that the uptake mechanisms in different species may also differ. Within the order Lepidoptera (moths and butterflies) for example, similar methods of dsRNA delivery can have very different effects in different species (Terenius *et al.*, 2010).

Most insects are known to possess SID-1-like proteins to passively transport dsRNAs, preferentially those ~500 bp long, and allow for systemic gene silencing within the organism (Weiner, 2003). Curiously, dipteran insects (flies) are the only animal species apparently lacking these transport proteins, which is consistent with reports confirming an absence of systemic silencing in the model fly species *Drosophila* *melanogaster*. However, the fact that dsRNA can enter cells of this species suggests there may be a different method for dsRNA uptake such as receptor-mediated endocytosis (Saleh *et al.*, 2006; Ulvila *et al.*, 2006).

1.10 DsRNA delivery methods

Numerous studies have shown that insects can elicit an RNAi response caused by the presence of dsRNA. There are several methods of delivering dsRNA to an insect, all with their advantages and disadvantages. Traditionally, the method to deliver dsRNA to most organisms has been by direct injection of a dsRNA solution. This method has been used to deliver dsRNA to most stages of insects, from embryos to adults. One of the earliest studies of injections of dsRNA to an insect was in *D. melanogaster* embryos. Misquitta and Paterson (1999) showed that both full length and partial dsRNA sequences specific to *nautilus*, a gene involved in embryonic muscle formation, could cause severe disruption of muscle patterns, and suggested RNAi as an easy alternative to traditional mutation methods involving a combination of genetic selection, P-element insertion and deficiency analyses after gamma-irradiation.

Several other species have shown susceptibility to dsRNA injections as well. The honeybee *Apis mellifera* produces relatively large insect eggs (1.6 mm long), making injection of these embryos easier than in other species, but only partial silencing has been observed, possibly because there was limited diffusion of the dsRNA through the embryos (Beye *et al.*, 2002). Adult honeybees can be injected intra-abdominally to disrupt gene expression, even in organs distant from the injection site. However, differences in the persistence of dsRNA have been noted, with some researchers finding

that the dsRNA could be detected in the hemolymph for only three days after injection (Gatehouse *et al.*, 2004), while others found that the dsRNA persisted 15 days after injection (Amdam *et al.*, 2003). The reasons for these differences are unknown, but it is possible that some dsRNAs may be sequestered into cells faster than others. The RNAi response may also be affected by several factors including the nature of the target gene, the site of dsRNA accumulation, the tissue where RNAi activity occurs, the delivery method, and the stage of the insect (Gatehouse *et al.*, 2004).

Tribolium castaneum (flour beetle) larvae and pupae dsRNA injections have also proven effective in silencing the insect's genes (Bucher *et al.*, 2002; Tomoyasu and Denell, 2004), and in these insects, it was first shown that RNAi responses in female pupae can be passed on to their offspring, but the mechanism for how dsRNA might enter oocytes has not yet been demonstrated (Bucher *et al.*, 2002).

Lepidopterans have also been injected with various dsRNAs and displayed RNAi responses. Larvae have shown nearly 80% reductions in target gene transcripts (Rajagopal *et al.*, 2002), and even pupae in diapause injected with full-length dsRNAs have shown gene silencing continuing to the adult stage (Bettencourt *et al.*, 2002).

Injection of dsRNA is probably one of the most widely used methods for inducing transient gene silencing in insects, however it is possible to create transgenic insects that consistently express dsRNA. Two large research consortiums have developed transgenic *D. melanogaster* strains that express hairpin-dsRNAs that are under the control of the upstream activating sequence (*UAS*) of the yeast transcriptional activator GAL4 (Piccin *et al.*, 2001), and it is now possible to acquire transgenic fruit flies that express hairpin

dsRNA transgenes under the control of tissue-specific, inducible promoters (available at the Japanese National Institute of Genetics and The Vienna Drosophila RNAi Center).

Another method that may be used to deliver dsRNA is the biolistic approach, where microscopic, dsRNA-coated beads can be blasted at high-pressure using a gene gun into dechorionated embryos of some species (Yuen *et al.*, 2008). In this study, silencing was observed from embryos up to the 3rd instar stage, indicating that the RNAi effect can persist through larval development using this method.

The methods stated above are effective, but can also be difficult and time consuming. A simpler method of delivery involves feeding, or even soaking, an organism in a solution of dsRNA to cause an RNAi response. The soaking method has been successfully used in *C. elegans* (Tabara *et al.*, 1998) and planarians (Orii *et al.*, 2003). A few insect species have been subjected to dsRNA soaking with varying results: *D. melanogaster* embryos can be dechorionated and successfully soaked in a dsRNA solution (Eaton *et al.*, 2002), and neonate larvae also showed a high degree of gene silencing when soaked in dsRNA (Whyard *et al.*, 2009). In contrast, Rajagopal *et al.* (2002) found that soaking of the moth *Spodoptera litura* larvae was unsuccessful at knocking down gut-specific genes.

Feeding artificial diets of dsRNA to organisms has been successful in knocking down specific gene expression in a number of species. In the light brown apple moth *Epiphyas postvittana*, 3rd instar larvae that were droplet fed dsRNA showed reduced gene expression in the larval midgut, but more amazingly showed that larvae fed dsRNA had reduced expression of genes in adult antennae, which indicated that the dsRNA persisted across life stages for approximately 18 days (Turner *et al.*, 2006). Diamondback moth larvae (*Plutella xylostella*) can also be droplet fed dsRNA to cause gene knockdown (Bautista *et al.*, 2009).

In the hemipteran *Rhodnius prolixus*, feeding 2nd instar nymphs resulted in a 42% reduction of a salivary protein gene (Araujo *et al.*, 2006). Zhou *et al.* (2008) showed that feeding termites (*Reticulitermes flavipes*) high doses of dsRNA targeting genes required for moulting can result in death of those insects. Walshe *et al.* (2009) showed that dsRNA can be delivered in a bloodmeal to the tse tse fly *Glossina morsitans morsitans* to knockdown midgut specific genes; however, feeding dsRNA was unable to induce knockdown of genes specific to the fat body. Whyard *et al.* (2009) showed that species-specific gene silencing of a gut specific vATPase gene was induced by feeding species-specific dsRNAs to first instar pea aphids (*Acyrthosiphon pisum*), larval *Tribolium castaneum* and tobacco hornworm (*Manduca sexta*) larval neonates.

Although it is not an insect, the pest tick species *Ixodes scapularis*, which transmits Lyme disease to humans, showed systemic gene silencing when nymphs were capillary fed a dsRNA solution specific to the *isac* gene, which is required for processing bloodmeals (Soares *et al.*, 2005).

Feeding dsRNA in a solution is clearly effective at silencing genes in many arthropod species, however the current costs to produce such solutions is quite high. A cheaper alternative to producing synthetic dsRNAs is to induce bacteria or other rapidly dividing microorganisms to generate dsRNAs that can be cheaply extracted from them, or can be fed directly to the insect. Feeding bacteria that express dsRNAs to organisms has already been achieved in *C. elegans* (Timmons *et al.*, 2001) and planarians (Newmark *et al.*, 2003; Reddien *et al.*, 2005). So far, this method has not been attempted in insects, but it may be particularly useful for delivering dsRNAs to some insect larvae that naturally feed on bacteria or other microorganisms.

Recently, transgenic plants have been created to express hairpin-dsRNAs that will silence endogenous plant genes or the genes of insect species that may feed on them (Baum *et al.*, 2007; Mao *et al.*, 2007). Given that insects will eventually develop resistance to the current pesticides used to protect crop plants, dsRNA-based pesticides may offer plant technologists a new set of alternative pesticides that could be designed to selectively target specific insect species.

If dsRNA soaking and/or feeding delivery methods can be developed for other insect species, it would allow for higher throughput screening of the increasing collection of genes being discovered from various genome sequencing projects, and possibly aid in the development of insecticides targeting specific pest species.

1.11 RNAi in mosquitoes

Although RNAi has been widely used in a variety of species, including insects, its use in dipteran insects has been dominated by the vinegar fly *D. melanogaster*. Very few RNAi studies have been done using mosquitoes, and most of those involve transfection of mosquito cell lines with dsRNAs, rather than the intact organism. Studies using live mosquitoes have focused primarily on silencing genes that are endogenous to the pathogens transmitted by these vectors, rather than genes expressed by the mosquitoes themselves.

The *Aedes albopictus* cell line, C6/36, a commonly used, immortalized cell line that was originally derived from larval homogenates, has been used in several studies to

determine if various Dengue virus-specific genes could be silenced in infected cells by the addition of siRNAs (Adelman *et al.*, 2002; Caplen *et al.*, 2002; Scott *et al.*, 2010; Wu *et al.*, 2010). These studies have been quite successful, showing that viral replication is reduced in dsRNA treated cells. Recently, however, it has been shown that C6/36 cells may possess a Dicer protein that cleaves dsRNAs irregularly (Brackney *et al.*, 2010). Cells infected with one of West Nile, Sindbis or La Crosse viruses were screened for the presence of small viral RNA molecules, under the notion that viral RNAs will be processed by the RNAi pathway. However, the majority of small viral RNAs were not the expected average of 21 nt lengths, but were an average of 25.2 nt long. In contrast, *Drosophila* S2 cells used as a control produced the typical 21 nt siRNAs. It is unclear whether this phenomenon really affects the efficiency of RNAi induced silencing in this cell line as Brackney *et al.* (2010) suggest that only siRNAs will induce gene silencing in C6/36 cells despite that fact that other experiments have shown differently.

Other mosquito cell lines that have shown typical RNAi responses have been the *A. aegypti* cell line Aag2, derived from embryos (Scott *et al.*, 2010), as well as a larval cell line called Ag55 (Smith and Linser, 2009) and a hemocyte cell line, both from *Anopheles gambiae* (Hoa *et al.*, 2003).

In embryonic and adult mosquitoes, experiments using RNAi have been done to test the function of genes by looking for phenotypic changes after silencing. Many of these experiments have used microinjections of dsRNAs on various species, including *A. aegypti* (Attardo *et al.*, 2003; Clemons *et al.*, 2010; Roy *et al.* 2007; Zhu *et al.*, 2003), *An. gambiae* (Boisson *et al.*, 2006), and *Culex pipiens* (Kim *et al.*, 2010).

Some groups have also made transgenic mosquitoes that express hairpin RNA molecules to induce gene silencing. Brown *et al.* (2003) created transgenic *Anopheles stephensi* to determine if this species would be a good model for using RNAi as a method to test parasite transmission, and Travanty *et al.* (2004) have created transgenic *A. aegypti* that express hairpin RNAs specific to silence Dengue virus genes and reduce transmission of the disease.

1.12 Thesis objectives

The initial main objective of this project was to examine sex-specific proteins produced by MAGs in the mosquito *A. aegypti*, particularly those involved in reducing mating receptivity and increasing egg production in females when transferred during mating. However, with the recent publication of this information (Sirot *et al.*, 2008; Yapici *et al.*, 2008), I decided to focus on a novel, sex-biased gene, using the relatively new tool, RNAi, to analyze its function.

As RNAi has rarely been used in mosquitoes, and is usually performed using traditional methods (i.e. injections), it was worth considering whether oral delivery could be a viable method for delivering dsRNA to mosquitoes, as it had been shown successful in other insects, particularly lepidopterans. Therefore, the objectives for my M.Sc. were:

1. Functional characterization of a novel cytochrome P450 gene using RNAi

CYP proteins have typically been associated with metabolizing exogenous compounds within a wide range of insects, and most studies have focused on their role in insecticide resistance. In this study, a putative, male-biased, *cyp* gene was identified in

the mosquito *A. aegypti* and RNAi was used to analyze its possible role in ecdysis and male reproductive success.

2. Determine the effectiveness of oral delivery of dsRNA to induce an RNAi response

In addition to validating the function of newly discovered genes, there is the possibility to use RNAi as a biological pesticide. During my thesis, I examined the potential for delivering dsRNA in oral formulations to *A. aegypti* larvae, and assessed its toxicity on developing larvae by attempting to silence a small number of genes considered either essential for normal cell functioning or mosquito growth and development.
Chapter 2: A novel, sex-biased cytochrome P450 gene in A. aegypti

2.1 Introduction

Insects express numerous sex-specific genes during development, but also throughout adulthood, usually with the intention of enhancing reproductive success. For example, females express genes for egg development, sperm storage and ovipositing, while males typically express genes for sperm production, mate-finding, and courtship behaviour.

Sixty-three genes have been found to be sex-specifically expressed in various tissues within *D. melanogaster*. Fifty-two of these genes are sex-specifically expressed in various tissues of the body, and although the functions of these genes have not been fully elucidated, they presumably regulate the differential growth, development and/or function of tissues and organs in the two different sexes. Eleven genes are sex-specifically expressed in internal reproductive organs, and three of those are found solely in the MAGs (Arbeitman *et al.*, 2004).

The MAGs produce many uniquely male genes in many insects, but have been most thoroughly studied in *D. melanogaster*. Many of the proteins examined have no specifically defined function, yet most are considered to play a role in improving the reproductive success of the male. One of the original goals of this research project had been to identify MAG genes in the pest mosquito *Aedes aegypti* using a low stringency PCR method with degenerate primers that were based on a number of previously identified MAG genes from *Drosophila* species. However, during the initial phase of this project, another research group published a paper describing the MAG proteins in *A. aegypti* (Sirot *et al.*, 2008) and another group described the MAG sex peptide and its receptor in *D. melanogaster* and *A. aegypti* (Yapici *et al.*, 2008). Given that two competing research groups had achieved some of the initial project's goals, attention was directed to another MAG protein, Acp26Aa (also called ovulin), which in *D. melanogaster*, is associated with increased egg laying behaviour in females following mating (Herndon and Wolfner, 1995). While attempting to amplify the *A. aegypti* homologue of the *Acp26Aa* gene, a PCR fragment with similarity to the *D. melanogaster* cytochrome P450 gene *cyp4g15* was identified. In *D. melanogaster*, this gene has a potential role in ecdysteroid synthesis (Maïbèche-Coisne *et al.*, 2000), and as a portion of this gene was fortuitously isolated from *A. aegypti*, the focus of this research changed to examine the expression and explore the possible functions of this gene in the mosquito.

2.2 Methods

2.2.1 Mosquito Rearing

McAllen strain *Aedes aegypti* were reared at 25°C, 50% humidity, on a 16h light: 8h dark photoperiod. Eggs were placed in small tubs of dechlorinated tap water with ground desiccated liver tablets to induce hatching. Larvae were maintained in these tubs until pupation. Pupae were then collected and placed in large cages to eclose, and adults were maintained on a 10% sucrose solution. Females were blood fed once a week by creating a "blood bag" from stretched Nescofilm (Karlan Research Products) containing ~2 ml of blood obtained from cows maintained at the Gleanlea Research Station, Manitoba, or from rats maintained in the Animal Holding Facilities of the University of Manitoba, Fort Garry Campus. Blood was warmed to 42°C prior to feeding, and females were allowed to lay eggs on dampened paper towels. Laid eggs were dried and stored in humid containers prior to hatching.

2.2.2 Isolation of the CYP gene fragment from cDNA

RNA was extracted from 40 dissected MAGs and from 10 adult male and 10 adult female *A. aegypti* using a Qiagen RNeasy RNA extraction kit according to the manufacturer's instructions. Firstly, mosquitoes or the dissected tissues were placed in 1.5 ml microfuge tubes and crushed using a plastic pestle in 600 μ l of RLT lysis buffer containing 1% β-mercaptoethanol. The mixture was then placed in a Qiagen QiaShredder column for tissue homogenization and the resulting lysate was used with the RNeasy extraction kit. Extracted RNA was eluted in 60 μ l of RNase-free water and concentrations were determined using either an Ultrospec 3100 pro (GE Healthcare), or a NanoVue (GE Healthcare) spectrophotometer.

RNA was then treated with amplification-grade DNase I (Invitrogen) for subsequent use as a template for cDNA synthesis. cDNA was synthesized using an Invitrogen First Strand cDNA synthesis kit with oligo dT primers and 0.3-1 µg of RNA as template. Samples were incubated with Superscript II reverse transcriptase (Invitrogen) for 50 min and then the reaction was terminated by incubating at 70°C for 15 min. Finally, RNAse H (Invitrogen) was added to remove RNA duplexed to the cDNA.

Degenerate primers were originally designed to target possible homologues of the *Drosophila* male accessory gland (MAG) gene *ovulin* (*Acp26Aa*) for a study on male reproductive genes in *A. aegypti*. These primers (DegOvF 5'

CKGCKGYTKWYRCARWGGYW, DegOvR 5' RGCAKGTGSKGYGMTAKCCTT) amplified a PCR product (using the following cycles: 94°C for 3 min, followed by 30 cycles of 94°C for 30 sec, 53°C for 30 sec, 72°C for 1 min, followed by a final extension at 72°C for 10 min) from cDNA derived from MAG tissue that was then sequenced (as below) and used to design new primers specific to the *A. aegypti* sequence. The newly designed primers (AedesUnknownF 5' CGGCGGTTGGTCGCAGTGG, AedesUnknownR 5' GGCAGGTGGGGGCGATATCTT) were used in a standard 25 µl PCR reaction that was programmed as follows: 94°C for 3 min, followed by 35 cycles of 94°C for 30 sec, 60°C for 30 sec, 72°C for 30 sec, followed by a final extension at 72°C for 10 min.

The PCR reactions were resolved on a 1% agarose gel, and the band was excised from the gel and purified with Qiagen's QIAquick Gel Extraction Kit. Gel purified samples were ligated to Qiagen's cloning vector pDrive (Fig. 3) that possesses U overhangs (rather than T overhangs) to allow for more efficient insertion of PCR fragments generated by *Taq* DNA polymerase.



Figure 3. Plasmid map of Qiagen's Cloning Vector pDrive. Note the U overhangs, multiple cloning site, and T7 and Sp6 promoter sites. (From Qiagen's PCR Cloning Handbook, April 2001).

Subcloning EfficiencyTM DH5 α Chemically Competent *E. coli* cells (Invitrogen) were transformed with the ligated plasmids using a heat-shock method as described by the manufacturer. The cells were then plated on LB agar (1% bacto-tryptone, 0.5% bacto-yeast extract, 1% NaCl, 1.5% bacto-agar) plates with ampicillin (50 mg/ml).

Transformed bacterial colonies were checked for the presence of PCR fragment inserts using a PCR colony screening method where bacterial colonies are picked and dotted into PCR tubes, then microwaved for 2 min to lyse cells. The lysed cells are then used as template in a PCR reaction similar to that used above, but scaled down to 15μ l. For these reactions, T7 (5' TAATACGACTCACTAGGG) and Sp6 (5'

GATTTAGGTGACACTATAG) primers were used to determine if plasmids within the bacteria contained the desired insert, and an annealing temperature of 40°C was used during the PCR cycles. PCR reactions were resolved on a 1% agarose gel to identify any colonies containing plasmids with appropriate-sized inserts. The bacterial colonies were then grown in 4 ml of LB broth with ampicillin (50 mg/ml) overnight at 37°C with shaking at 225 rpm to give adequate aeration to the cells. The plasmid DNA was purified from the bacteria using Qiagen's QIASpin Miniprep kit.

Plasmids were sequenced using the BigDye® Terminator v3.1 Cycle Sequencing Kit (Applied Biosystems). The cycle sequencing reaction was prepared by adding the following components to 1 µl of plasmid DNA: 3.5µl of 5x BigDye® Sequencing Buffer, 1µl BigDye® Terminator Ready Reaction Mix, 1.6 µl T7 or Sp6 primer (2 µM) and 11.9µl Nanopure H₂O. Sequencing products were then amplified as follows: denaturation at 96°C for 1 minute, followed by 25 cycles of 96°C for 10 seconds, 50°C for 5 seconds and 60°C for 4 minutes. Amplified products were then precipitated by adding 5 µl of 125 mM EDTA and 60 µl of 100% ethanol, and incubated at room temperature for 15 minutes. Tubes were then centrifuged at 13,000 rpm for 15 minutes at 4°C, and the pellet was washed with 70% ethanol. The pellets were then dried for 10 minutes in a DNA 120 SpeedVac Concentrator (Savant) and resuspended in 20 µl of Hi-DiTM formamide (Applied Biosystems). DNA was denatured at 94°C for 5 minutes in a heating block then immediately placed on ice to prevent re-annealing. Samples were then loaded onto a 96well plate and sequenced using a Genetic Analyzer 3130 sequencer (Applied Biosystems).

The identity of the sequence was analyzed by comparing it to the genome databases available at the National Center for Biotechnology Information (NCBI) website (http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/) using the basic local alignment search tool (BLAST), as well as the *Aedes aegypti* genome database at the Vectorbase website (http://www.vectorbase.org/). Alignments of sequences were performed using the European Molecular Biology Laboratory-European Bioinformatics Institute (EMBL-EBI) online alignment program ClustalW2 (http://www.ebi.ac.uk/Tools/clustalw2/). As the gene fragment showed a high degree of sequence identity to that of a cytochrome-P450 gene (see Results), the gene hereafter will be referred to as *Aacyp*.

2.2.3 Expression profile of the novel CYP gene in A. aegypti

2.2.3.1 General expression within different life stages of A. aegypti

Quantitative reverse-transcriptase PCR (qRT-PCR) was used to determine when the *Aacyp* gene was being expressed during development of the mosquitoes. First, all life stages of the mosquito were collected, including eggs, 1st instar larvae, 2nd instar larvae, 3rd instar larvae, male 4th instar larvae, female 4th instar larvae, male pupae, female pupae, male adults and female adults. Male 4th instar larvae were identified using a compound microscope and observing the ventral side of the anal segment for the developing ejaculatory ducts (Chambers, 2005). Larvae with an absence of these structures were considered as females. For male and female pupae, 4th instar larvae were sexed and then allowed to pupate before collection. RNA extractions and cDNA syntheses were performed as described in section 2.2.2.

For each cDNA sample, qRT-PCR was performed in triplicate using a BioRad iQ5 Real-Time PCR Detection System using 96-well plates with 20 μ l reactions containing ~10 ng of cDNA, 10 μ l of SYBR Green Supermix (BioRad), 1 μ l each of forward and reverse primers (10 μ M), and Nanopure water, using the following program: 95°C for 3 min, followed by 40 cycles of 95°C for 10 sec, then 55°C for 30 sec, followed by a melt curve analysis to confirm that only a single PCR product was amplified.

qRT-PCR primer sets were designed using the Beacon Designer[™] program (Premier Biosoft), which generates ideal primer sequences from a given gene sequence. In general, sets of good qRT-PCR primers should have annealing temperatures within 1°C of each other and produce relatively small amplicons of fewer than 200 bp long. When specifically designing qRT-PCR primers to measure expression of a gene that was potentially knocked down using dsRNA, it is also ideal to design primers that will amplify a portion of the gene outside of the region to which the dsRNA specifically targets. For this experiment, one set of primers was designed to target the ribosomal protein S7RP (S7RPqPCRFwd: 5' AAATAAATTCGCTATGGTTTTCGG and S7RPqPCRRev: 5' CCTTCTTGCTGTTGAACTCG, 182 bp) as an internal reference gene for comparing quantities of *Aacyp* among the different life stages. The following primers were used to determine expression of the unknown *A. aegypti* CYP: AeCYPqPCRFwd: 5' GAAAGGAGGTGGGGAAGG and AeCYPqPCRRev: 5' CACAGCCATCGCATAGTC, amplifying 134 bp. Cycling conditions and dissociation curve analysis were performed on the iQ5 Thermal Cycler (BioRad) according to the manufacturer's instructions. The relative amount of *Aacyp* transcripts in the mosquito samples was determined using the $2^{-\Delta\Delta CT}$ method (Livak and Schmittgen, 2001) where *Aacyp* transcript levels are normalized to the internal standard (*S7rp*) using the following equation:

Fold change in *Aacyp* expression = $2^{-\Delta\Delta CT}$, where

 $\Delta\Delta CT = (CT,_{Aacyp}-CT,_{S7rp})_{Time x} - (CT,_{Aacyp}-CT,_{S7rp})_{Time 0}$

In this case, "Time 0" is equivalent to the egg samples, and "Time x" refers to any other samples being compared to the egg samples.

2.2.3.2 Aacyp expression in specific tissues

Virgin mosquitoes were collected at days 0, 3 and 7 post-eclosion and dissected to collect heads, reproductive systems and the remaining carcass. In males, the reproductive systems were separated into the MAGs and remaining reproductive system. Heads were collected in an attempt to isolate nervous tissue that could be involved in the control of mating behaviours, and were removed from the thorax using ultra fine forceps. The remaining carcass, after removal of reproductive systems and heads, was stored separately, as were the other tissues, in appropriate volumes of the RNAse inhibitor solution *RNAlater* (Ambion) until RNA extraction.

To collect mated mosquitoes, virgin adults were collected at 3 and 7 days posteclosion, mated to adults of the same age, then left overnight before dissection, which was performed similar to the virgin mosquito dissections. Freshly eclosed (0 days posteclosion) adults were not mated because they are unable to copulate at that time. Males must undergo a 180° rotation of their genitalia, which takes 15-24 hr and females are refractory to insemination for the first 48 hrs after eclosion (Hartberg, 1971). Matings occurred by placing a single pair of virgin mosquitoes in a small mosquito cage (approx. 30 cm x 30 cm x 30 cm), then tapping the sides to get the mosquitoes flying, as this species of mosquito must initiate mating while in flight. Usually within a few minutes the mosquitoes could be observed in a brief coupling, which is typical of a mating bout for this species, and then the pair was placed in small plastic vials until dissection the following day.

RNA extractions, cDNA synthesis, and qRT-PCR were performed as above (section 2.2.2) using the same qRT-PCR primers listed in section 2.2.3.1.

2.2.4 Cloning A. aegypti cytochrome P450 for dsRNA delivery

The *Aacyp* gene fragment was excised from the pDrive plasmid using two restriction enzymes, *ApaI* and *PstI*, and then ligated to the dual T7 vector pL4440 (Fig. 4), which was kindly provided by Andrew Fire, using T4 ligase (Invitrogen). The convergent T7 promoters possessed by pL4440 allows for *in vitro* transcription of dsRNA. The ligated DNA was used to transform DH5α cells as described above (section 2.2.2), and putative transformed bacterial colonies were PCR screened (using pL4440 specific primers: pL4440Fwd: 5'ACCTGGCTTATCGAA and pL4440Rev: 5' TAAAACGACGGCCAGT, and an annealing temperature of 57°C in the PCR cycles) for the appropriate-sized inserts. DNA sequencing was performed to confirm that the genes of interest were in the pL4440 plasmid using a Genetic Analyzer 3130 Sequencer

(Applied Biosystems), as described above (section 2.2.2), and sequence identities were confirmed using NCBI and Vectorbase's BLAST programs.



Figure 4. Plasmid map of the dual-T7 vector, pL4440. Note the opposing T7 promoters and multiple cloning site.

2.2.5 In vitro transcription of dsRNA

To obtain sufficient DNA template for *in vitro* transcription from each of the pL4440 plasmids, the gene fragment cloned into pL4440 (*Aacyp*) was PCR-amplified along with the flanking convergent T7 promoter sequences from the dsRNA expression plasmid, using the specially designed pL4440 primers listed above in section 2.2.4. To obtain *gus*-dsRNA, pL4440 containing a 1.8 kb *gus* gene fragment was provided by Dr. Steven Whyard. Five standard 25 μ l PCR reactions (using the following program: 94°C for 3 min, followed by 30 cycles of 94°C for 30sec, 57°C for 30 sec, 72°C for 1.5 min, followed by a final extension of 72°C for 10 min) for each gene were tested for proper

amplification by resolving 5 μ l of each PCR reaction on a 1% agarose gel. The remaining ~100 μ l of PCR reaction for each gene was then pooled together and purified using Qiagen's QIAquick PCR Purification kit to remove unused PCR reagents such as excess primers and dNTPs.

The purified PCR template (1 μ g) was used in 20 μ l *in vitro* transcription reactions with the MEGAscript® RNAi kit (Ambion) according to the manufacturer's specifications to produce concentrated dsRNA complementary to each gene of interest (*Aacyp* and *gus*). Briefly, this kit synthesizes complementary single-stranded RNA (ssRNA) by incubating the template, along with NTPs, buffer, water and T7 RNA polymerase at 37°C for 2-4 hr, depending on the size of the gene of interest. Four hour incubations were used for *gus* dsRNA synthesis, whereas *Aacyp* was incubated only two hours.

The complementary strands were then annealed by first denaturing the strands at 75°C for 5 min, then allowing the reactions to gradually cool to room temperature. The dsRNA reactions were then treated with DNAse to remove the template, and RNAse to remove any ssRNA, and then finally purified using a filtered column.

A 10-fold diluted sample of purified dsRNA was resolved on a 1% agarose gel to check for size and purity of the sample. Concentrations of dsRNA were measured using an Ultrospec 3100 spectrophotometer (GE Healthcare) or a NanoVue Spectrophotometer (GE Healthcare).

2.2.6 Cytochrome P450 injections and bioassay

Cytochrome P450 dsRNA was diluted to $0.5 \ \mu g/\mu l$ for injection into 4th instar *A*. *aegypti* larvae and pupae. Injections were performed using a mouth pipette and glass needles. Needles were pulled on a P-97 Flaming/Brown Micropipette Puller (Sutter Instruments) using 50 μl glass capillary tubes and a program of: one cycle of heat = ramp + 5, pressure = 500, pull = 30, velocity = 120, time = 125.

Approximately 250-500 η l of either *gus*- or *Aacyp*-dsRNA were injected into the side of 4th instar larvae, usually between the 5th and 8th abdominal segment. Pupae were injected into the ventral side, usually in the 5th or 6th segment. After injection, mosquitoes were placed in Petri plates or plastic vials containing dechlorinated tap water plus ampicillin (final volume, approx. 0.25 µg/ml). The insects were then observed for further development into adulthood, and for the survivors, their ability to reproduce was assessed by allowing the insects to mate with untreated insects, followed by blood-feeding of the females and then allowing them to lay their eggs and observe the hatch rates.

Subsets of injected larvae and individual pupae and developed adults were collected 2 days after injection (or the day of mating for adults) for testing of RNAi efficiency. Samples were placed in *RNAlater* until RNA extraction and cDNA synthesis. Knockdown of the CYP gene was determined using qRT-PCR as described in section 2.2.3.1. *S7rp* primers were again used to amplify the reference gene, however a new set of CYP primers were designed that correspond to sequences found outside of the dsRNA target region as follows: AeCYPqRToutF: 5' CCTCGGGCTGATAAGATGTC and AeCYPqRToutR: 5' GACCTGGCAATCGGGAAC, amplifying 127 bp.

2.2.7 Phylogenetic analysis of A. aegypti cytochrome P450

To determine how similar this novel CYP from *A. aegypti* is to CYPs of other species, a multiple sequence alignment was performed using ClustalX and *cyp* sequences from various insect species (see Results, Table 4), most being from the CYP4 family. ClustalX uses the neighbour-joining method to calculate a phylogenetic tree, and bootstrap analysis (1000 bootstraps) was performed. A phylogram was created from this data using TreeView (see Results, Fig.16).

2.3 Results

2.3.1 A novel CYP gene in the A. aegypti genome

Degenerate primers were originally used to amplify a putative homolog of D. *melanogaster*'s MAG gene *ovulin*, but the amplified gene fragment, once sequenced, showed no identity to ovulin from any other insect. Instead, a BLAST search of the A. *aegypti* genome (Vectorbase) showed that the PCR product was an exact match to an uncharacterized gene (Gene: AAEL006824) found in supercontig 1.222 that showed high identity to a cytochrome P450 gene, and hence was tentatively named Aacyp. Interestingly, the translated protein sequence of *Aacyp* is a near perfect match to a putative CYP gene named cyp4g35 (Gene: AAEL008345), found in supercontig 1.318 (Fig. 5). Although the predicted protein sequences are virtually the same, differing in only one amino acid, the nucleotide sequences of the two genes differ at 55 nucleotide sites (Fig. 6). Both genes have three exons, all of the same predicted lengths, but cyp4g35has a first intron that is nearly 2000 bp longer than that observed in *Aacyp* (Table 1). A global, pairwise alignment of these two intron sequences showed only 44.2% overall similarity between them (alignment not shown). The only interesting aspect about these first introns in the two genes is that they appear to contain remnants of different transposable elements. A nucleotide BLAST search of the Aacyp first intron against the NCBI database identified a ~ 300 bp sequence with high identity (94%) to a MosquI-Aa5 retrotransposon (NCBI accession: AF134903). Likewise, a BLAST of *cyp4g35*'s 8561 bp long intron identified three partial sequences with high identities (ranging from 79 to 91%) to the transposon AeTRC1 (NCBI accession: BN000947). Approximately the first 600 bp of both the 5' and 3' sequences flanking the start and stop codons of each gene are nearly 100% identical, and then the sequences differ considerably beyond those limits. In all likelihood, these two genes are paralogs, and although it is unknown whether both are transcribed, if translated, they would generate virtually identical proteins.

4g35 Аасур	MSAEIVAERGSSLVSLAVPMVIFMTLVLVASALFHFWMISRRYVQLGNKIPGP VSGVIYK MSAEIVAERGSSLVSLAVPMVIFMTLVLVASALFHFWMISRRYVQLGNKIPGP ***********************************	53 60
4g35 Аасур	RAYPFIGNANMLLGMNHNEIMERAMQLSYIYGSVARGWLGYHLVVFLTEPADIEIILNSY RAYPFIGNANMLLGMNHNEIMERAMQLSYIYGSVARGWLGYHLVVFLTEPADIEIILNSY ************************************	113 120
4g35 Аасур	VHLTKSSEYRFFKPWLGDGLLISSGEKWRSHRKLIAPAFHMNVLKTFVDVFNDNSLAVVE VHLTKSSEYRFFKPWLGDGLLISSGEKWRSHRKLIAPAFHMNVLKTFVDVFNDNSLAVVE ***********************************	173 180
4g35 Аасур	RMRKEVGKEFDVHDYMSEVTVDILLETAMGSQRTSESKEGFDYAMAVMKMCDILHSRQLK RMRKEVGKEFDVHDYMSEVTVDILLETAMGSQRTSESKEGFDYAMAVMKMCDILHSRQLK ************************************	233 240
4g35 Аасур	FHLRMDSVFNFTKIKQEQERLLGIIHGLTRKVVKQKKELFEKNFADGKLPSPSLSEIIAK FHLRMDSVFNFTKIKQEQERLLGIIHGLTRKVVKQKKELFEKNFADGKLPSPSLSEIIAK ***********************************	293 300
4g35 Аасур	EESESKE <mark>P</mark> LPVISQGSLLRDDLDFNDENDIGEKRRLAFLDLMIETAKSGADLTDEEIKEE EESESKE <mark>S</mark> LPVISQGSLLRDDLDFNDENDIGEKRRLAFLDLMIETAKSGADLTDEEIKEE ******* <mark>.</mark> *****************************	353 360
4g35 Аасур	VDTIMFEGHDTTAAGSSFVLCLLGIHQDVQDRVYKEIYQIFGNSKRKATFNDTLEMKYLE VDTIMFEGHDTTAAGSSFVLCLLGIHQDVQDRVYKEIYQIFGNSKRKATFNDTLEMKYLE ************************************	413 420
4g35 Аасур	RVIFETLRMYPPVPVIARKVTQDVRLASHDYVVPAGTTVVIGTYKVHRRADIYPNPDVFN RVIFETLRMYPPVPVIARKVTQDVRLASHDYVVPAGTTVVIGTYKVHRRADIYPNPDVFN ************************************	473 480
4g35 Аасур	PDNFLPERTQNRHYYSYIPFSAGPRSCVGRKYAMLKLKVLLSTILRNYRVVSNLKESDFK PDNFLPERTQNRHYYSYIPFSAGPRSCVGRKYAMLKLKVLLSTILRNYRVVSNLKESDFK ************************************	533 540
4g35 Аасур	LQGDIILKRTDGFRIQLEPRV 554 LQGDIILKRTDGFRIQLEPRV 561	

Figure 5. Clustal alignment of CYP4G35 and Aacyp protein sequences. Blue highlights indicate differences between the amino acid sequences.

4g35 Aacyp	GTGCACCTGACAAAGTCCAGGAGTACAGGTTTTTCAAGCC <mark>ATG</mark> GCTTGG <mark>C</mark> GATGGGCTG GTGCACCTGACAAAGTCCAGGAGTACAGGTTTTTCAAGCCATGGCTTGG <mark>C</mark> GATGGGCTG GTGCACCTGACAAAGTCCAGGGAGTACAGGTTTTTCAAGCCATGGCTTGG <mark>C</mark> GATGGGCTG	399 420	4g35 Аасур	GTCGACACCATCATGTTTGAAGGACACGACACCACTGCGGCTGGATCCAGCTTTGTGCTG GTCGACACCTATCATGTTTGAAGGACACGACAC	1119 1140
4g35	TTGATCAGCAGTGGCGAAAAGTGGCGATCACATCGGAAGCTAATCGCTCCGGCGTTCCAT	459	4g35	TGCCTTCTCGGCATTCA <mark>C</mark> CAGGACGTTCA <mark>A</mark> GATCGAGT <mark>T</mark> TACAAAGAAATCTACCAGATC	1179
Aacyp	TTGATCAGCAGTGGCGAGAAGTGGCGATCGCATCGGAA <mark>A</mark> CTGATCGCTCCGGCGTT <mark>T</mark> CAC	480	Аасур	TGCCTTCTCGGCATTCA <mark>T</mark> CAGGACGTTCA <mark>G</mark> GATCGAGT <mark>A</mark> TACAAAGAAATCTACCAGATC	1200
4g35	ATSAATGTCCTGAAGACGTTCGTGGATGTGTTCAACGATAACAGTTTGGCGGTGGTGGAA	519	4g35	TT <mark>T</mark> GGCAACTCCAAGCGGAAMGCTACATTCAACGA <mark>C</mark> ACCTTGGAGATGAA <mark>G</mark> TACCTGGAA	1239
Аасур	ATGAACGTCTTGAAGACGTTCGTGGATGTGTTCAACGATAACAGTTTGGCCGTAGTGGAA	540	Aacyp	TT <mark>C</mark> GGCAACTCCAAGCGGAAMGCTACATTCAACGA <mark>T</mark> ACCTTGGMGATGAA <mark>T</mark> ACCTGGAA	1260
4g35	CGGATGCGAAAGGAGGTGGGGAAGGAGTTCGACGACGACTATATGAGTGAAGTTACG	579	4g35	COSCIGATETT GAAGET GAGAATGTATECACEGGTTEEGGTGATTGECCOT AAAGT	1299
Аасур	CGGATGCGAAAGGAGGTGGGGAAGGAGTTCGACGACGACTATATGAGTGAAGTTACG	600	Аасур	CCACTGATETTTGAAACETTGAGAATGTATECACEGGTTEEGGTGATTGECCOCAAAGTG	1320
4g35 Aacyp	GTGGATATTCTGCTGGAGACCGCCATGGGATC5CAGAGGACCGAGCGAGCGAGGAGGGA GTGGATATTCTGCTGGAGACCGCCATGGG <mark>C</mark> TC5CAGAGGACCGAGGAGCAAGGAGGAG	639 660	4g35 Аасур	ACACAMBATGTCC3GCTGGCATCCCACGACTACGTGGTTCCAGGCGGAACCACGGTCGTC ACCCAMBATGTCC3GCTGGCATCCCACGACTACGTGGTTCCAGGCGGAACCACGGTCGTC	1359 1380
4g35	TTEGATTATGCGATGGCTGTGATGAAAATGTGTGACATCCTACACTCCGTCAGTTAAAA	699	4g35	ATCGGAACTTATAAAGTGCACCGACG <mark>A</mark> GCGGACATTTACCCTAATCCAGATGTGTTCAAC	1419
Аасур	TTEGACTATGCGATGGCTGTGATGAAAATGTGTGACATCCTGCACTCCGCCAGTTGAAA	720	Аасур	ATCGGAACTTA <mark>C</mark> AAAGTGCACCGACGGCGGGGCAT <mark>T</mark> TACCCTAATCCAGATGTGTTCAAC	1440
4g35	TTCCACCTTCSGATGGACTCCGTCTTCAACTTCACCAAAATCAASCAGGAACAGGAACGT	759	4g35	COSGACAATTTCCTACOGGAACGCACACAGAATCGOCACTACTACAGCTACATCOCATTC	1479
Аасур	TTCCACCTCCGGATGGACTCCGTCTTCAACTTCACCAAAATCAASCAGGAACAGGAACGC	780	Аасур	COSGACAATTTCCTACOGGAACGCACACAGAATCGOCACTACTACAGCTACATCOCATTC	1500
4g35	CTGCTG5G <mark>C</mark> ATCATCCAC5GGCTCACCCGAAAAGTG5TCAAACA5AAGAAGGAACTCTTC	819	4g35	AGCGCC5GACCGCGAAGTTGC5TCCGTAGAAAATATGCCATGCTGAAACT <mark>A</mark> AAGGTCCTT	1539
Аасур	CTGCTG5G <mark>T</mark> ATCATCCAC5GGCTCACCCG <mark>5AAG</mark> 5TG5TCAA <mark>G</mark> CA6AAGAAGGAACTCTTC	840	Аасур	AGCGCC5GACCGCGAAGTTGC5TCGGTAGAAAATATGCCATGCTGAAACT <mark>G</mark> AAGGTCCTT	1560
4g35	GAGAAGAATTITGCCGACGGAAAGCTGCCTTGCCGTCCCTTGGAAATTATGCCAAG	879	4g35	CTGTCAACCATCCTGCGCAACTACAGGGTCGTGTCTAAATCTCAAGGAATCGGACTTTAAG	1599
Аасур	GAGAAGAACTITGCCGACGGAAAGCTGCCTTGSCCGTCCCTCAGAAATCAITGCCAAG	900	Аасур	CTGTCAACCAT <mark>T</mark> CTGCGCAACTACAGGGTCGTGTCCAATCTCAAGGAATCGGACTTTAAG	1620
4g35	GAAGAGTCCGAATCCAA <mark>A</mark> GAA <mark>C</mark> CGCTTCCGGTCATCTCGCAGGGTTCCTCCAGGGAC	939	4g35	CTACAAGGCGACATTATCCTGAAACGGACCGATGGCTTCAGAATACAGCTGGAACCGAGA	1659
Аасур	GAAGAGTCCGAATCCAA <mark>G</mark> GAA <mark>T</mark> CGCTTCCGGTCATCTCGCAGGGTTCCCTCAGGGAC	960	Aacyp	CTACAAGGCGACATTATCCTGAAACGGACCGATGGCTTCAGAATACAGCTGGAACCGAGA	1680
4g35	GATCTGGACTTCAACGATGACAATGACATCGGCGAGAAGGGAAGGCTTGCCTTGGAC	999	4g35	GTCTAA	1665
Аасур	GATCTGGATTTCAACGATGAAAACGACATCGGCGAGAAGGGAAGGCTTGCGTTCCTGGAC	1020	Aacyp		1686
4g35 Аасур	CTGATGATCGAAACGGCCAAGAGCGGTGCCGATCTGACCGATGAAGAGATCAAAGAAAG	1059 1080			

Figure 6. Clustal alignment of Aacyp and cyp4g35 nucleotide sequences. Blue highlights indicate differences in nucleotides (55 differences), and pink indicates the start

codon for *cyp4g35*.

	Size (nt)				
Gene segment	Aacyp	<i>Cyp4g35</i>			
Exon 1	665	665			
Intron 1	6725	8651			
Exon 2	839	839			
Intron 2	73	73			
Exon 3	161	161			

Table 1. Comparison of intron and exon sizes in Aacyp and cyp4g35.

The Vectorbase website also provides information on the expression of many of the *A. aegypti* genes based on microarray analyses. Curiously, there are two different microarray analyses performed by Harker *et al.* (2007, unpublished) that report conflicting gene expression levels of cyp4g35; one microarray experiment suggests that there is nearly a 4-fold reduction in expression of cyp4g35 in females compared to males, while the other microarray experiment showed no significant difference in expression between the sexes. At this time, it is unclear whether this discrepancy reflects a weakness in the microarray experiment or may reflect different expression levels of the two closely-related CYP genes.

A BLAST analysis of the *Aacyp* sequence revealed that it is most similar to *D*. *melanogaster*'s *cyp4g15* gene, sharing 60.5% identity of the nucleotide sequence and 55.6% identity of the predicted protein sequence (Fig. 7 and 8).

Aacypfrag Cyp4g15	TGGGCTGTTGATCAGCAGTGGCGAAGTGGCGATCGCATCGG AAGCCCTGGCTGGGCGACGGACTGCTGATCAGCACAGGTCAAAAATGGCGATCGCACCGC ** *** ******** ** * * * * **********	43 420
Aacypfrag Cyp4g15	AAACTGATCGCTCCGGCGTTTCACATGAACGTCTTGAAGACGTTCGTGGATGTGTTCAAC AAACTGATTGCACCCACATTCCATCTGAATGTCTTGAAGAGCTTCATCGAGTTGTTCAAC ******** ** ** ** ** *** **********	103 480
Aacypfrag Cyp4g15	GATAACAGTTTGGCCGTAGTGGAACGGATGCGAAAGGAGGTGGGGAAGGAGTTCGACGTG GAGAACTCGCGTAATGTGGTGAGGAGAACTGCGTGCGGAGGATGGTCGCACTTTGATTGC ** *** ** *** *** *** *** ** ** **	163 540
Aacypfrag Cyp4g15	CACGACTATATGAGTGAAGTTACGGTGGATATTCTGCTGGAGACGGCCATGGGCTCGCAG CATGATTACATGAGCGAGGCAACCGTGGAGATTCTATTGGAGACTGCGATGGGTGTGTCG ** ** ** ****** ** ** ** ***** ***** ****	223 600
Aacypfrag Cyp4g15	AGGACGAGGGAGGAGCAAGGAGGGATTCGACTATGCGATGGCTGTGATGAAAATGTGTGAC AAGAAAACGCAGGACAAATCGGGATTCGAGTATGCGATGGCCGTGATGCGGATGTGCGAC * ** * * ** *** *** *****************	283 660
Aacypfrag Cyp4g15	ATCCTGCACTCCCGCCAGTTGAAATTCCACCTCCGGATGGACTCCGTCTTCAACTTCACC ATCCTTCACGCCCGCCATCGGAGCATCTTTCTGCGCAACGAGTTCGTGTTCACCCTGACG ***** *** ******* ** ** ** ** ** ** *** ****	343 720
Aacypfrag Cyp4g15	AAAATCAAGGAAGGAACAGGAACGCCTGGTCGGTATCATCCACGGCCTCACCCGGAAGGTC CGCTACTACAAGGAGCAGGGTCGCCTGCTGAACATCATCCACGGCCTGACCACCAAGGTG * * **** **** ***** ***************	403 780
Aacypfrag Cyp4g15	GTCAAGCAGAAGAAGGAACTCTTCGAGAAGAACTTTGCCGAATCCGCAGCAAGAAGGCGGCCTTTGAGCAGGGCACCCGTGGATCCCTTGCCCAGTGCGAG	444 840
Aacypfrag Cyp4g15	CGGAAAGCTGCCTTCGCCGTCCCTC CTGAAGGCAGCCGCCTTAGAGCGGGAACGGGAACAGAATGGTGGTGTTGACCAGACCCCA * *** *** **** * * ****	469 900
Aacypfrag Cyp4g15	TCAGAAATCATTGCCAAGGAAGAGTCCGAATCCAAGGAATCGCTTCCGGTCATCTCGCAG TCAACAGCTGGCAGCGATGAGAAGGATCGGGAGAAGGATAAGGAGAAGGCCAGTCCGTGG *** * * * ** ** ** ** ** ** ** ** ** **	529 960
Aacypfrag Cyp4g15	-GGTTCGCTCCTCAGGGACGATCTGGATTTCAACGATGAAAAC CGGGACCTGTCCTATGGACAGTCGGCTGGTCTCAAGGATGACCTGAATGTGGAGGACAAT ** * * * **** ** * * * **** **** ***	571 1020
Aacypfrag Cyp4g15	GACATCGGCGAGAAGCGAAGGCTTGCGTTCCTGGACCTGATGATCGAAACGGCCAAGAGC GATATTGGTAAGAAGAAGCGGCTGGCCTTCCTTGATTTGATGCTCGAAAGTGCACAGAAT ** ** ** ***** ***** ** ***** ** ***** ** ****	631 1080
Aacypfrag Cyp4g15	GGTGCCGATCTGACCGATGAAGAGAGTCAAGGAAGAAGTCGACACTATCATGTTTGAAGGA GGAGCACTCATTACGGACACGGAAATTAAGGAGCAGGTGGACACGATCATGTTCGAGGGA ** ** * ** ** ** ** ** ***** * ** ***** ****	691 1140
Aacypfrag Cyp4g15	CACGACACCACTGCGGCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCC	709 1200

Figure 7. Clustal alignment of the novel *Aacyp* fragment, labelled Aacypfrag, from *A. aegypti* and the coding sequence of *cyp4g15* (NCBI accession: AF159624) from *D. melanogaster*. *indicate exact matches between the sequences.

Cyp4g15 Aacypfrag	KPWLGDGLLISTGQKWRSHRKLIAPTFHLNVLKSFIELFNENSRNVVRKLRAEDGRTFDC GLLISSGEKWRSHRKLIAPAFHMNVLKTFVDVFNDNSLAVVERMRKEVGKEFDV *****:*:*****************************	180 54
Cyp4g15 Aacypfrag	HDYMSEATVEILLETAMGVSKKTQDKSGFEYAMAVMRMCDILHARHRSIFLRNEFVFTLT HDYMSEVTVDILLETAMGSQRTSESKEGFDYAMAVMKMCDILHSRQLKFHLRMDSVFNFT ******.**:********:**:************	240 114
Cyp4g15 Aacypfrag	RYYKEQGRLLNIIHGLTTKVIRSKKAAFEQGTRGSLAQCELKAAALEREREQNGGVDQTP KIKQEQERLLGIIHGLTRKVVKQKKELFEKNFADGKLP : :** ***.***** **:: *: *	300 152
Cyp4g15 Aacypfrag	STAGSDEKDREKDKEKASPWRDLSYGQSAGLKDDLNVED-NDIGKKKRLAFLDLMLESAQ SPSLSEIIAKEESESKESLPVISQGSLLRDDLDFNDENDIGEKRRLAFLDLMIETAK *.: *: ::::: * .::: *:::: *::::::::::::	359 209
Cyp4g15 Aacypfrag	NGALITDTEIKEQVDTIMFEGHDTTAAGSSFFLSLMGIHQDIQDRVLAELDSIFGDSQRP SGADLTDEEIKEEVDTIMFEGHDTTAA	419 236

Figure 8. Clustal alignment of the protein sequences of the novel Aacyp fragment labelled Aacypfrag, and CYP4G15 (NCBI accession: AF159624) from *D. melanogaster*. * indicate an exact match in sequence, colons indicate conserved substitutions and periods indicate semi-conserved substitutions.

Cyp4g15 is expressed in the nervous tissue of 3rd instar *D. melanogaster* larvae, however its function is unknown (Maïbèche-Coisne *et al.*, 2000). A similar gene is also expressed in the steroidogenic glands of the crayfish *Orconectes limosus*, and is believed to be involved in ecdysteroid synthesis (Dauphin-Villemant *et al.*, 1999). Given the high similarity to cyp4g15, expression of this novel CYP (*Aacyp*) in *A. aegypti* was examined further.

2.3.2 Aacyp is sex-biased in A. aegypti males

The developmental expression profile of *Aacyp* was examined using qRT-PCR with cDNA derived from various life stages of *A. aegypti* mosquitoes. Expression in juvenile stages (*i.e.* eggs, 1st, 2nd, 3rd and 4th instar larvae) was fairly low compared to pupal and adult stages, which were nearly 250-fold higher than in eggs (Fig. 9). Expression in males was approximately 2-fold higher than in females, suggesting that this

CYP is indeed sex-biased, and perhaps has a role in male reproductive function(s). It is worth noting that for this and all subsequent qRT-PCR analyses, the primers used to measure gene expression would not discriminate between *Aacyp* and *cyp4g35* gene transcripts.



Figure 9. *Aacyp* expression in different life stages of *A. aegypti*. Changes in gene expression are relative to expression in eggs, and calculations were performed using the $2^{-\Delta\Delta CT}$ method (Livak and Schmittgen, 2001). Values represent the means and standard errors from 3 different replicate experiments. Expression in males is significantly different from expression in females (ANOVA, p<0.05).

Aacyp was also highly expressed in pupae, but it is worth noting that the cDNAs used in the qRT-PCR analyses of Figure 9 were derived from pools of male and female pupae mixed together. Therefore, further experiments were performed to determine if expression was male-biased in 4th instar larvae and pupae by sex-sorting larvae according to a method developed by Chambers (2005). *Aacyp* expression was then examined in male and female larval and pupal samples (Fig. 10), and although the male pupae

appeared to have approximately 2.5-fold higher expression than female pupae, the differences between the sexes was not statistically significant (ANOVA, p > 0.05). While male 4th instar larvae also showed slightly higher expression than females (Fig. 10), the difference was not statistically significant and was not as pronounced as the differences observed in adult males and females.



Figure 10. *Aacyp* expression in male and female larvae and pupae. Calculations were performed using the $2^{-\Delta\Delta CT}$ method (Livak and Schmittgen, 2001). Values represent the means and standard errors from 3 replicate experiments.

2.3.3 Aacyp expression in specific tissues of A. aegypti adults

In an attempt to establish *Aacyp*'s possible role in male reproduction, expression was measured in various tissues of virgin and mated adult *A. aegypti* at different ages. At 0, 3 and 7 days post-eclosion, tissues from virgin males and females were collected and used for qRT-PCR experiments. Mosquitoes were separated into heads (to isolate the

majority of nervous tissue), reproductive tracts (to isolate reproductive tissues), and the remaining carcass. Male reproductive tracts were further dissected to isolate MAGs to determine if *Aacyp* could be a MAG-specific gene. The same tissues were isolated in three and seven day-old mated mosquitoes, then qRT-PCR was performed to determine the expression of *Aacyp* in each of those tissues.

There was no significant difference in the expression of *Aacyp* in heads of male and female virgin and mated mosquitoes, however expression was slightly higher (approximately 3-fold) in 3 day old virgin mosquitoes compared to other ages (Fig. 11).



Figure 11. *Aacyp* expression in male and female head tissues at various ages. Values are not significantly different between males and females. Changes in gene expression are relative to expression in 0 day old females, and calculations were performed using the $2^{-\Delta\Delta CT}$ method (Livak and Schmittgen, 2001). Relative expression was not significantly different between males and females of the same age (Student's t-test, p>0.05). Values represent the means and standard errors from 3 replicate experiments.

In the carcass of mosquitoes (bodies, minus the head and reproductive tracts) *Aacyp* expression was significantly higher (about 4 to 5-fold higher) in males than females in both virgin and mated mosquitoes at 3 and 7 days old (Fig. 12). Newly eclosed males had nearly 15-fold higher expression than newly eclosed females (not shown).



Figure 12. *Aacyp* expression in male and female bodies (minus reproductive tissues) at various ages. Values are significantly higher in males than females. Changes in gene expression are relative to expression in 3 day old virgin males, and calculations were performed using the $2^{-\Delta\Delta CT}$ method (Livak and Schmittgen, 2001). Stars indicate significant differences between male and female expression (Student's t-tests, p<0.05). Expression in males was not significantly different from one another, and neither was expression in females (ANOVA, p<0.05).

When reproductive tissues were examined for *Aacyp* expression, varying results were observed. Expression in male reproductive tracts and MAG tissues were not significantly different from each other at any age (Fig. 13), suggesting there may be equal expression of *Aacyp* throughout the male reproductive tract. Expression in female

reproductive tracts were a bit more varied, being relatively high in 0 day old virgins and mated 7 day old mosquitoes, and low in all other females tested.



Figure 13. *Aacyp* expression in male and female reproductive tissues at various ages. Changes in gene expression are relative to expression in 0 day old virgin males, and calculations were performed using the $2^{-\Delta\Delta CT}$ method (Livak and Schmittgen, 2001).

However, when *Aacyp* expression is compared across all tissues, it is clear that there is very little expression of *Aacyp* in heads and reproductive tracts of *A. aegypti* relative to the expression in male mosquito bodies (abdomens and thoraxes; Fig. 14).



Figure 14. Comparison of *Aacyp* expression in all tissues tested. Note the expression in most tissues is minimal when compared to expression in male bodies of *A. aegypti*. (H = heads, B = bodies, R = reproductive system, M = MAGs).

2.3.4 *Aacyp* dsRNA injections and mating bioassays

To test if the ability to moult was affected by *Aacyp*, mosquitoes were injected at both the larval and pupae stages with dsRNA targeting the *Aacyp* gene in *A. aegypti*. It appears that 4th instar larvae were much more likely to suffer from the injection process compared to pupae, as ~40% of the larvae died within a day of the injections, regardless of which dsRNA was injected; in contrast, only 9% of the pupae died from the injection process (Table 2).

The numbers of males and females that developed from injected larvae and pupae were very similar in both *gus*- and *Aacyp*-dsRNA treatments (Table 2). Injections of *gus*dsRNA served as a negative control, as the *gus*-dsRNA shows no homology to an insect gene and has been used in previous studies of RNAi in other insects (Whyard *et al.*, 2009; Yuen *et al.*, 2008) and mosquitoes (see Chapter 3). The fact that the *Aacyp*-dsRNA had no effect on survival in either sex suggests that either the gene's expression was not sufficiently silenced in these treatments or that the gene is not essential for survival at the stages of development examined.

					Developed to adulthood		
Life stage injected	dsRNA injected	Total injected	% mortality 1 day after injection*	Surviving injectants	Males	Females	Total
4 th instar	gus	324	43.6%	171	34	66	100 (58.5%)
larvae	Aacyp	323	41.4%	177	38	51	89 (50.3%)
Pupae	gus	160	9.6%	142	59	46	105 (73.9%)
	Aacyp	160	7.7%	146	65	52	117 (80.1%)

Table 2. Mortality and moulting success of individual A. aegypti injected with dsRNA.

* no significant difference in mortality between *gus*- and *Aacyp*-dsRNA injected mosquitoes (chi-square test, p>0.05)

Injected pupae were allowed to develop to adulthood and single pair matings were set up in small plastic vials for 2 days. Females were then blood-fed and allowed to lay eggs. Eggs were laid approximately two to three weeks after the initial injection, and due to this long duration, more mosquitoes died before their fecundity could be assessed, and hence, the data set was unfortunately rather small (Table 3). Similar numbers of eggs were laid and hatched in the *gus*- and *Aacyp*-dsRNA treatment groups.

Table 3. Fertility data obtained from mated individuals injected with dsRNA at the pupal stage.

Treatment	# male pupae injected	# bloodfed females*	# females that laid eggs	Total eggs laid	Total eggs hatched ^a
gus-dsRNA	32	16	10	301	217 (72.1%)
Aacyp-dsRNA	44	18	7	209	161 (77.0%)

* uninjected females that were mated to dsRNA injected males.

^a no significant difference in percent eggs hatched between treatments (chi-square test, p>0.05).



Figure 15. Box plot showing the range of *Aacyp* expression in dsRNA-injected individuals. Changes in *Aacyp* expression in individual pupae or males (injected at the pupal stage) injected with *Aacyp*-dsRNA are compared to individuals injected with *gus*-dsRNA. * indicates a significant difference between the medians of gus-dsRNA treated individuals and *Aacyp*-dsRNA treated individuals (Mann-Whitney test, p<0.05).

There was a high degree of variation in *Aacyp* expression of dsRNA-injected individuals, with a few showing no significant level of RNAi, but nevertheless, most pupae injected with *Aacyp*-dsRNA showed a readily detectable level of RNAi. The median values of *Aacyp* expression revealed a significant knockdown of the gene's expression relative to the negative controls in both the injected pupae (*gus*-dsRNA injected median = 0.14, *Aacyp*-dsRNA injected median = 0.07) and the adults that developed from them (*gus*-dsRNA injected median = 0.20, *Aacyp*-dsRNA injected median = 0.095).

Based on this small sampling, it appears that RNAi is more potent soon (48 hr) after dsRNA injections, and as the insects age and develop into adults, a greater number of them showed less pronounced RNAi of the target gene.

2.3.5 Phylogenetic analysis of Aacyp

A more comprehensive BLAST search identified a number of insect CYP proteins (Table 4), three of which appear to have a male-biased expression. A phylogenetic analysis (Fig. 16) was created using ClustalX, and as expected, the *Aedes Aacyp* (*cyp4g35*) was most closely related to *cyp4g15* of *D. melanogaster*, however it is unexpectedly closely related to *cyp4g19*, a gene associated with permethrin resistance in the cockroach *B. germanica*.



Figure 16. Phylogenetic tree comparing *Aacyp* with *cyp* genes from various insects (see Table 4). Bootstrap values (percentage out of 1000 replicates) are shown at each node. Species names have been abbreviated as two letters followed by *cyp* gene names, and *Aacyp* is shown in red. The scale bar represents the number of nucleotide substitutions per site.

Species name	Abbreviation in Figure 16	Gene	NCBI accession	Specific tissue expression	Possible function	Reference
D. melanogaster	Dm	cyp4g15	AF159624	Third instar, neural tissue	Ecdysteroid synthesis	Maïbèche-Coisne <i>et al.</i> , 2000
		cyp4d21 (sxe-1)	NM_135285	Male head, sensory structures	Male courtship and mating	Fujii et al., 2008
		cyp4d2*	AF017018	DDT-resistant strain	Detoxification	Dunkov et al., 1996
		cyp312a1	NM_140773	Male abdomen	Ecdysteroid degradation	Kasai and Tomita, 2003
		cyp302a1 (dib)	NM_080071	Embryos, female follicle cells	Ecdysone synthesis	Warren <i>et al.</i> , 2002 Kasai and Tomita, 2003
		cyp315a1 (sad)	NM_141866	Embryos, female follicle cells	Ecdysone synthesis	Warren <i>et al.</i> , 2002 Kasai and Tomita, 2003
D. simulans	Ds	cyp4g15	XM_002106649	-	-	NCBI
		cyp4d2*	AF017019	-	-	NCBI
B. germanica	Bg	cyp611	AF227531	Male reproductive tissue	Regulation of juvenile hormone and ecdysteroids	Wen and Scott, 2001
		cyp4g19	AY176056	Permethrin resistant strain	Insecticide resistance	Pridgeon et al., 2003
H. armigera	На	cyp4g9*	U86003	Pyrethroid-resistant strain	Pyrethroid metabolism	Pittendrigh <i>et al.</i> , 1997
		cyp4g10*	U86004	Pyrethroid resistant strain	Pyrethroid metabolism	Pittendrigh <i>et al.</i> , 1997
D. virgifera virgifera	Dv	cyp4g18	AF243506	Adults	Insecticide resistance	Scharf et al., 2001
A. mellifera	Am	cyp4g11*	AF207948	Adults	unknown	Tares et al., 2000
B. mori	Bm	cyp315a1	NM_001112750	larvae	Ecdysteroid synthesis	Niwa et al., 2004
O. limosus	Ol	cyp4c15	AF091117	Steroidogenic gland (Y-organ)	Steroid hormone biosynthesis	Dauphin-Villemant <i>et al.</i> , 1999
M. sexta	Ms	cyp4m2	L38671	Larval fat body	Xenobiotic response	Snyder et al., 1995

Table 4. Cytochrome P450 genes used for comparison with Aacyp. See phylogenetic tree above (Fig. 16).

* indicates only partial gene sequences available for comparison.

2.4 Discussion

Cytochrome P450 enzymes (CYPs or P450s) are present in all phyla and play a major role in the metabolism of various compounds. They are used to catalyze highly specific oxidative attacks of non-activated hydrocarbons at physiological temperatures, reactions that would be unspecific and require high temperatures if uncatalyzed (Werck-Reichhart and Feyereisen, 2000). With a high degree of variability in the sequence and structure of P450s, even a single amino acid substitution can drastically alter the substrate specificity of the enzyme. This has made the determination of function of most CYPs unpredictable (Feyereisen, 1999).

In insects, there are six families of CYP genes - five are insect specific (CYP6, 9, 12, 18 and 28) while the sixth family (CYP4) is also found in vertebrate species (Feyereisen, 1999). The majority of CYPs that have been analyzed in insects are considered to have a role in the metabolism of important endogenous compounds, but many have also been associated with the detoxification of insecticides (reviewed in Feyereisen, 1999; Scott, 1999). Therefore, the discovery of a sex-biased CYP, particularly male-biased, is somewhat unusual.

Only a few male-specific CYPs have been found in insects. The first was discovered in the cockroach *Blattella germanica* (CYP6L1), and was speculated to have a role in regulating juvenile hormone (JH) or ecdysteroids in male reproductive tissues (Wen and Scott, 2001), although no experimental evidence for this possible function was provided. The first report of a male-specific CYP in *D. melanogaster* was that of *cyp312a1*. This gene was found to be expressed predominantly in the abdomen of male flies, and based on this distribution the authors suggested that its encoded protein could

have a role in male reproduction (Kasai and Tomita, 2003). These two CYPs share little similarity in their sequences and their actual functions have yet to be established. More recently, cyp4d21 (also known as sxe-1) was identified in *D. melanogaster* and is highly expressed in the head and thorax of males, but not in the abdomen (Fujii *et al.*, 2008). Specifically, it is found in cells associated with mechanosensory bristles, as well as maxillary and labial palps. It has been shown to have characteristics similar to a fatty-acid ω -hydroxylase, and knockdown of this gene affects courtship behaviour and causes significant reduction in the mating success of male flies, suggesting that courtship and mating may be regulated by small compounds generated from this enzyme.

According to my results, the CYP gene isolated from *A. aegypti* has a strong male-biased expression, particularly in the adults. The obvious differences between male and female insects are differences in sexual development, particularly differences in reproductive structures and their associated requirements (e.g. many female mosquitoes require a blood-meal to produce eggs). The fact that a CYP has a sex-biased expression suggests that it has a role in that gender's sexual function, and in the case of this male-specific CYP in *A. aegypti*, it may have a role in the development and functioning of reproductive structures or in male-specific processes such as courtship or mate-seeking behaviours.

A BLAST search of the *A. aegypti* genome database (Vectorbase) for sequences similar to *Aacyp* identified a *cyp* gene (cyp4g35) that is nearly identical to *Aacyp* in protein sequence, but has several nucleotide substitutions. The microarray analysis reported on Vectorbase, while being somewhat ambiguous, suggests that the expression of one or both of these genes is male-biased, but a specific function of these two related genes is unknown.

Since many of *D. melanogaster*'s genes have been annotated, *Aacyp* was first compared to CYPs found in the *D. melanogaster* genome database. The most similar CYP to *Aacyp* in *D. melanogaster*, is *cyp4g15*, which in the flies, is present in the brains of third instar larvae, but is also found in pupae and adults. Maïbèche-Coisne *et al.* (2000) speculated that this CYP may have a role in ecdysteroid synthesis, given its similarity to another CYP involved in ecdysteroid biosynthesis, *cyp4c15*, found in crayfish, but the function for the *D. melanogaster* CYP4G15 enzyme has not yet been confirmed. In my study, I attempted to knock down the expression of *Aacyp* using RNAi and examined the ability of the *Aacyp*-dsRNA injected larvae and pupae to moult, anticipating that if the Aacyp protein had a role in metamorphosis, I would observe that the injectants would fail to moult.

Injections of *A. aegypti* larvae were technically challenging, with many simply dying from the stress of the injection process. Nevertheless, enough larvae and considerably more pupae were successfully injected and survived the dsRNA injections to assess the effects of the *Aacyp*-dsRNA on moulting. No significant difference in moulting success or adult survival was observed between the *gus*-dsRNA controls and the *Aacyp*-dsRNA injectants, which suggests that this CYP does not have an important role in metamorphosis, and is not likely directly involved in the metabolism of moulting hormones such as ecdysone, as has been suggested for some male-specific CYPs found in other insects.

The qRT-PCR analyses revealed that *Aacyp* was predominantly expressed in adult males, but not in their reproductive tissues. Instead, the bulk of the expression was found in the male's body (i.e. the thorax and abdomen), excluding the head. While the *Aacyp* was similarly mostly localized to the bodies of the females, the female's expression level was less than 10% that of males. From this, it appears that *Aacyp* is not like that of the other insect male-biased CYPs, in that it is neither head- nor reproductive tract-specific.

Despite a lack of expression in reproductive tissues, the sex-biased expression of this gene may still reflect a role in male reproduction. It is possible that Aacyp could affect a male's ability to transfer sperm to the female during mating, if for example, Aacyp is a component of the male copulatory structures that were not isolated along with the testes and MAGs, or perhaps *Aacyp* affects courtship behaviour. To test this, pupae injected with Aacyp-dsRNA were allowed to develop to adulthood, mated, and the females were then allowed to lay eggs, which were counted and hatched to check for evidence of fertilization. Unfortunately, despite injecting over 100 pupae with gus- or Aacyp-dsRNA, less than 20 individuals from either dsRNA injection survived to test their fertility. No significant impact of the Aacyp-RNAi on male fertility or ability to mate was observed. Similarly, injections of females with *Aacyp* dsRNA did not affect their ability to mate or produce viable eggs. Given the small sample size however, it is difficult to make any definitive conclusions as to whether *Aacyp* influences any male-specific mating capability or fertility. Some changes to the experimental design to assess particular aspects of the male's reproductive capacities will be considered later in this discussion.

qRT-PCR was used to measure *Aacyp* transcript levels in injected larvae, pupae and adults to determine if knockdown of the *Aacyp* transcripts could be detected in individual insects. For the majority of tested mosquitoes, there was significantly lower expression of *Aacyp* in *Aacyp*-dsRNA injected individuals compared to *gus*-dsRNA injected individuals. However, there were some individuals that showed no evidence of RNAi after dsRNA treatment. This could be due to several factors. For instance, injections were performed by mouth pipetting using glass needles, and some variation in the volume of dsRNA may have occurred. The needles used for injections were relatively large compared to the body size of injected individuals. Injected larvae and pupae were therefore usually left with considerably large holes in their bodies, which may have caused some leakage of injected dsRNAs, decreasing the efficacy of the treatment. There is also the possibility that some *Aacyp*-dsRNA-injected individuals may have experienced an initial knockdown of the gene's expression, but this could have been followed by a subsequent increase in expression if the affected cells tried to compensate for the initial loss in expression.

Interestingly, the RNAi effect could still be detected in adults that were up to 7 days post-injection, albeit the RNAi level was not as strong as in pupae, 2 days post-injection. This suggests that for most of the insects used in these bioassays, some degree of transcript reduction persisted over the bioassay period. As the half-life of Aacyp protein is unknown, and I did not quantify its levels, the lack of an observable phenotype in the bioassays still makes it difficult to make any conclusions about this protein's function.

As stated earlier, there are some additional experiments that could be performed to clarify if *Aacyp* really does play a role in male reproductive success. Even though *Aacyp* was not expressed in the testes or MAGs, it may be involved in regulating the
function of the copulatory apparatus. It would therefore have been informative to determine if there was definite copulation and transfer of sperm to females from *Aacyp*-dsRNA injected males. One way to determine this is by dissecting spermathecae from recently mated females and looking for stored sperm. Sperm within a female's spermathecae could also be stained to make visualization easier, possibly allowing estimates of the number of sperm transferred (Clements, 1992).

To determine if *Aacyp* was affecting regulation of spermatogenesis, qRT-PCR could be performed on samples derived from *Aacyp*-dsRNA-injected pupae and adults to test for changes in expression levels of genes involved in the spermatogenesis pathway. Also, 4th instar larvae could be sexed prior to injection so that equal numbers of males and females could be tested for changes in expression levels using qRT-PCR.

As noted, results from qRT-PCR analyses suggest that the male body has the highest expression of *Aacyp*, but which tissues in the body specifically expressing this CYP are still unknown. In order to more accurately determine which tissues are expressing *Aacyp*, *in situ* hybridization could be used to show which cells are expressing *Aacyp*. Knowing that the body of male mosquitoes highly express this P450 gene, it is worth focusing on which tissues within the thorax or abdomen are more likely to express genes in a sex-specific manner. Tissues of particular interest are the digestive organs, fat body, neural tissue, and muscle.

It is reasonable to suspect that the gut tissue could differ between the sexes, as the females require a blood-meal and males do not. Clements (1999) suggests that plant fluids, including sugars and water, are essential to male survival, whereas females acquire more nutrients from their blood meals. Male *A. aegypti* will naturally feed on nectar from

plants, primarily at night (Clements, 1999). It is possible that *Aacyp* may be necessary for proper digestion or detoxification of compounds in plant nectar, and given that males may feed more on plant nectar than females, there is a greater need for this enzyme in male gut cells. In our lab-bred mosquitoes, the insects were fed 10% sucrose, and it is unlikely that the Aacyp would be needed to deal with such a simple diet. Hence, if Aacyp's role is one of metabolizing a plant-derived compound in the diet, no differential survival following RNAi would be detected in my experiments.

The fat body of the two sexes may also differ, although at first glance, sexspecific differences may not be obvious, as the fat body is essential for energy use and storage in both sexes (reviewed in Arrese and Soulages, 2010). Cells of the fat body control the synthesis and utilization of fat and glycogen, which are used as energy reserves in insects, and they also synthesize the majority of hemolymph proteins and circulating metabolites. While both sexes would require the fat body to serve a number of common functions, it is essential for many other processes, as it co-ordinately stores or releases compounds during metamorphosis and reproduction, acting as an endocrine organ, as well as a detoxification organ (Arrese and Soulages, 2010). Female insects, for instance, use the fat body to produce many nutrients for egg production, including synthesis of the yolk proteins (Raikhel *et al.*, 2002). While little is known of malespecific fat body functions, it is possible that a variety of males-specific proteins involved in male reproductive physiologies or male-specific activities could be produced in this highly versatile organ. If Aacyp is expressed differentially in the fat body of the two sexes, it may be playing a sex-specific role in the synthesis or breakdown of a malespecific metabolite.

Another possible function for *Aacyp* could be in controlling the mosquito's flight. Mosquitoes possess two types of muscles for flight, direct and indirect, both of which are mainly found in the thorax. Direct muscles are responsible for extending and flexing the wings, and controlling their angle of attack, while indirect muscles are responsible for powering flight itself (Clements, 1999). The main fuel to power flight is proline, which is abundantly found in the mosquito. Proline is synthesized in the fat body from acetyl-CoA and alanine, then released into the hemolymph. The mitochondria of flight muscles possess enzymes that are able to oxidize the proline (Arrese and Soulages, 2010). As both sexes must fly to find food and mates, it may at first seem unlikely that *Aacyp* could be required for the basic mechanics of flight, as both sexes undoubtedly have similar requirements for this process. However, it is very possible that sex-specific differences in flight are essential, particularly in mating courtship behaviour.

Flight in males is essential for mating and courtship behaviour. Hartberg (1971) observed *A. aegypti* in the wild, and observed that females and males would surround a blood meal host, and the majority of males would copulate quickly with females in flight, usually only one metre above the ground. Occasionally, copulations would continue briefly on the ground. Although it is unknown whether specific flight patterns are involved in the courtship of these mosquitoes, it is possible that males have subtle differences in their flight muscles or how they use these muscles to seek or display to their mates, and Aacyp could potentially mediate some of those differences.

Virgin male and female mosquitoes will respond to each other's wing beat frequencies (Cator *et al.*, 2009). The fundamental frequency of a female's wing beat is 400-Hz, whereas a male's is 600-Hz, and it was found that couples will shift their flight tones to match a frequency of 1200-Hz, a frequency originally thought to exceed the upper hearing limits of *A. aegypti* (Cator *et al.*, 2009). If pairs are unable to match this frequency, it is less likely that they will mate, since it was observed that mated females were not willing to shift their flight tones to match male wing beat frequencies (Cator *et al.*, 2009).

During my mating and fertility bioassay experiments, males and females were either placed in small mating cages or even smaller plastic vials in order to mate. Even if *Aacyp* is used to regulate flight or wing beat frequencies, the space limitations of our mating cages may have compromised the mosquitoes' abilities to perform normal courtship and mating behaviours. As a consequence, our attempts to use RNAi to decrease *Aacyp* transcripts would fail to detect any role that this protein may have in regulating male-specific courtship activities.

A labour intensive, yet much more informative method for determining the true function for *Aacyp* would be to create a transgenic strain of mosquitoes that either does not express the gene, or overexpresses the gene in specific tissues such as reproductive tissue, wing muscles, digestive tissues, or fat body tissues, to establish its exact role in the mosquito.

Several CYP gene sequences from different species were aligned using ClustalX, and a phylogenetic tree was created (Fig. 16). A list of the species and their genes can be found in Table 4. The majority of sequences used for comparison belong to the CYP4 family of P450 genes because the most similar *Drosophila* gene to *Aacyp* (*cyp4g15*) also belongs to the CYP4 family. This protein's function is unknown, but given that it is a neurally-expressed CYP in larvae, it is unlikely that it shares a similar function to that of

Aacyp. Interestingly, the one other protein with the highest sequence similarity was one in the cockroach that conferred increased resistance to the pesticide permethrin. It will be of interest to determine whether the mosquito Aacyp has any affinity for this pesticide. Of course, permethrin is unlikely to be its primary substrate in the insects, but identifying natural substrates of CYPs is particularly challenging as many are capable of interacting with a range of compounds. From this preliminary phylogenetic analysis, it is quite evident that the sequence of a CYP gene is very little help in determining its function. However, with tools like RNAi, particularly high-throughput RNAi methods, establishing definite roles for the vast numbers of CYPs could be made far easier.

<u>Chapter 3: Ingested double-stranded RNA can act as an insecticide in A. aegypti</u> larvae

3.1 Introduction

RNAi has been used to silence genes in a growing number of invertebrates, including numerous insect species. Most double-stranded RNA (dsRNA) delivery methods for invertebrates involve injection directly into the body cavity of the organism, but other methods have shown promise as well. In the roundworm *Caenorhabditis elegans* and the planarian *Schmidtea mediterranea*, soaking the worms in dsRNA solutions can effectively elicit an RNAi response (Orii et al., 2003; Tabara et al., 1998). Oral delivery (i.e. feeding) of dsRNA has also been successful in many species. In some arthropods, such as apple moths (Turner et al., 2006), aphids, fruit flies (Whyard et al., 2009), and ticks (Soares et al., 2005), dsRNA can be fed in a liquid solution. In some terrestrial insects, such as beetles and moth larvae, dsRNA can also be orally delivered simply by adding it to a semi-dry diet (Whyard et al., 2009). Given these early successes in delivering dsRNA simultaneously to moderately large numbers of invertebrates, it may also be possible to deliver dsRNA by similar methods to aquatic insect larvae, such as mosquitoes, to induce an RNAi response. The gene silencing abilities of dsRNA has the potential for many applications including high-throughput screening of gene functions and the development of species-specific pesticides (Huvenne and Smagghe, 2010; Whyard *et al.*, 2009).

Currently, chemical pesticides are the main method to control insects that are detrimental to both agriculture and human health. The majority of the chemicals used, however, have off-target affects, killing organisms other than the pest, as well as beneficial species. This is usually because the chemicals act on particular proteins required for essential processes in a broad range of species, including vertebrates. A well cited example is the excessive use of the insecticide DDT, which was used to eradicate different insect disease vectors in many countries world-wide, but was later directly linked to the decline of many endangered birds species (reviewed in Bernanke and Köhler, 2009). More recently, it has been suggested that off-target effects of insecticides may be a contributing factor to colony collapse disorder (CCD) in honeybees by making them more susceptible to pathogens (Ratnieks and Carreck, 2010).

The reason that these chemical pesticides have such a dramatic impact on numerous species is because many of them work by targeting the nervous system, acting on either neurotransmitters or the enzymes involved in the breakdown of neurotransmitters. High doses of these chemicals can cause serious health problems in humans, especially in the workers applying the chemicals, and it is estimated that in developing nations, approximately 3 million workers suffer from severe pesticide poisoning each year (World Health Organization).

With the relatively recent incursion of West Nile virus to North America in 1999 (Komar *et al.*, 2003), there has been an even greater use of insecticides to control the mosquito vectors in order to reduce the risk of transmission of this serious disease. Of particular relevance to Canada, and specifically Manitoba, mosquito populations are routinely being controlled with the organophosphate malathion. Like most organophosphates, malathion inhibits acetylcholinesterase, an enzyme necessary for the breakdown of the neurotransmitter acetylcholine. In insects, excess acetylcholine affects the central nervous system, causing paralysis and death. Acetylcholinesterase, however,

is a highly conserved enzyme found in many organisms, including mammals. There are growing concerns that excess exposure to chemicals like malathion may cause serious health problems in humans (Gilden *et al.*, 2010). In addition, the routine use of these pesticides will inevitably lead to the development of resistant populations of insects, for which the typical response is to increase the use of the pesticides further (Rivero *et al.*, 2010).

The development of species-specific pesticides that kill only the pest insect is one possible solution to decrease the negative affects that chemical insecticides have on humans and other non-target organisms. Given that RNAi can be designed to selectively silence a single gene within a species, it may also be possible to develop insecticidal dsRNAs that are species-specific and have little or no effect on other non-target organisms. In this project, oral delivery of dsRNA specific to three genes was tested in first instar *A. aegypti* larvae to determine the efficiency of soaking aquatic insects to induce an RNAi response, and its possible use as a species-specific insecticide.

3.2 Methods

3.2.1 Cloning *A. aegypti β-tubulin* for dsRNA delivery

RNA was extracted from 10 adult *A. aegypti* using a Qiagen RNeasy RNA extraction kit and cDNA was produced as in Chapter 2, section 2.2.2.

A long (785 bp; β -tubL) and a short (328 bp; β -tubS) fragment of the β -tubulin (β -tub) gene (Fig. 17) from A. aegypti (NCBI accession: XM_001655975) were independently PCR-amplified from adult A. aegypti cDNA, using 1 µl each, of the following primers (20µM): Aedes β -tubLFor: 5'GGAAATCATCTCCGACGAAC and Aedes β -tubLRev: 5'CACGGTACTGTTGCGATCC or Aedes β -tubSFor:

5'GGAAATCATCTCCGACGAA and Aedesβ-tubSRev:

5'CAGGCAGTCGCACGATTC in a standard 25 μ l PCR reaction containing 1 μ l cDNA template, 17.3 μ l H₂O, and the following reagents from Invitrogen: 1 μ l 10 mM dNTPs, 1 μ l 50 mM MgCl₂, 2.5 μ l 10x PCR reaction buffer, and 0.2 μ l recombinant *Taq* DNA polymerase. The following program was used to amplify the DNA sequences: 94°C for 3 min, followed by 30 cycles of 94°C for 30 sec, 55°C for 30 sec, 72°C for 1 min, followed by a final extension of 72°C for 10 min.

ACTAGTCCCCTTCAGAGCAGCTCATTTAGTGTGTGATCGTCAAGGAGTACAGTCTCGGCGTTCTTTGATT GTTGCCCGTTTGTGTCTTCTTTCTGTGCTTTGAGGAGAAAAGCAGCAGAAGAACAGAAAAAAAGGAGT GAAGTGTGAAAAACAGACAAGTTTTAAAACTCGAATTTAAGAGCAGCCCTCGCCAAAGGCTACGCCGAAG TTTCTCTGTTAATTTGTTAAGAAACAAAAAAAAACCTTTCACCATGAGAGAAATCGTCCACATCCAAGCC GGTCAGTGCGGAAACCAAATTGGAGCTAAGTTTTGGGAAATCATCTCCGACGAACATGGAATCGACGCCA CCGGAGCCTACCATGGTGACTCAGACCTGCAGCTGGAACGCATCAACGTGTACTACAATGAAGCCTCCGG CCATTCGGACAGATCTTCCGCCCGGACAACTTCGTCTTCGGACAGTCCGGTGCCGGTAACAACTGGGCCA AGGGACACTACACCGAGGGTGCCGAACTGGTCGATTCAGTGTTGGACGTTGTCCGCAAAGAAGCCGAATC **GTGCGACTGCCTG**CAAGGATTCCAGCTGACCCACTCGCTCGGAGGTGGTACCGGCTCCGGTATGGGCACA CTGTTGATCTCGAAAAATCCGCGAAGAATATCCCGACAGAATCATGAACACATACTCAGTTGTCCCCTCGC CAAAAGTATCAGACACCGTCGTAGAACCGTACAACGCCACCCTCTCAGTGCACCAGCTGGTCGAAAACAC CGACGAGACGTACTGTATCGACAATGAAGCCCTGTATGATATCTGCTTCCGCACCCTGAAGCTCACAACC CTGGTCAATTGAATGCTGATCTCCGAAAACTGGCTGTCAACATGGTTCCAATTCCCACGTCTGCACTTCTT CATGCCTGGATTTGCCCCACTCACCTCCCGCGGATCGCAACAGTACCGTGCCCTCACCGTCCCAGAACTG ACCCAACAGATGTTCGATGCCAAGAACATGATGGCCGCCTGCGACCCACGACATGGACGTTACCTGACAG TTGCCGCCGTTTTCCGAGGACGCATGTCGATGAAGGAAGTCGATGAACAGATGCTGAACATCCAAAACAA GAACAGCAGCTACTTCGTTGAATGGATCCCCAACAACGTTAAGACCGCCGTCTGTGATATTCCTCCACGA GGACTGAAGATGTCTGCCACCTTCATCGGTAACTCGACCGCCATCCAGGAACTGTTCAAGCGTATCTCCG AACAATTCACTGCTATGTTCCGTCGTAAGGCTTTCTTGCATTGGTACACTGGCGAGGGTATGGATGAGAT GGAATTCACTGAAGCCGAAAGCAACATGAACGATCTGGTGTCCGAATATCAGCAATACCAGGAAGCCACC GCCGACGAGGATGCTGAATTCGACGAAGAACAGGAAGCTGAAGTTGACGAAAACTAAACTAATTGAGCTC TCACTCACACACGAACCTGCCTCCCCTTCTATACAAATCTCCCCATCCCCCTCAAAGGGAAACTCTAC TCTCTCATTCCAAAAAAAAAAAAAACTTTCCTCTATCTGCGCCACTTCTACTACTAATCTCAAAAAGTACC ACATCATCAAGCGAAAACCACAAAACAACAGCAGAAAATGTGAAGAAAAAAACGCAGCAGCAGTAACACCA ACAAAACAGCCAGCGCAGCAAAAAAAAATCCTACAAAACAACTAAAAAAGAGTCGAAAAATAGCAAGAGA AAAGTCGCAAAATTAGTAACCACTGCCAGCTCAGCAAAAAAGAAAAGAATAAAAGTGAAGTAATTTAAAA AAAAACGGAAAACAAACTAAAATCAATTTCCTCTTGTTTGATTTTATTCTTTAGTGCACTTTTTTGCTTC AAAAACCCCCCAACAAGAGAAACTGCCATTTCGTTCGTTAGGTTTGTTCGGAGATCCCATCATTCCACAC CGCCTATCCAAGCGAACTCTCTTCTCTGATTTGTGTTGATTTCGTGTTTTGCATATTTCTTCCCACTTCT CTCTTCCCACACTTTCGTATTCGTCTCTCTCTCACAGGCACGTGTGCAAAAGAGATGTAAAATCGTTATAT CGTAGCAGAAAGTACATTACTTTTCTCTTATAATTATTGATCAGCTAATTTTCTTCATTACTAATT

Figure 17. A. aegypti partial β -tubulin mRNA sequence from NCBI's gene database (Accession:

XM_001655975). Red sequence represents β -tubS. Red and blue sequences combined represent β -tubL.

Underlined and italicized sequences represent primer sequences used to amplify gene fragments.

The PCR products were resolved on a 1.2% low melt agarose gel, visualized

using SYBR Gold (Invitrogen) stain and gel-purified using a QIAQuick Gel Extraction

kit (Qiagen). Gel purified samples were ligated to Qiagen's cloning vector pDrive and

plasmids were purified as in Chapter 2, section 2.2.2.

To confirm that the plasmids contained the correct inserts, they were sequenced using the BigDye® Terminator v3.1 Cycle Sequencing Kit (Applied Biosystems) as in Chapter 2, section 2.2.2.

The identity of the sequences was confirmed by comparing them to the genome databases available at the National Center for Biotechnology Information (NCBI) website (http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/) using the basic local alignment search tool (BLAST).

3.2.2 Preparation of double-stranded RNA

 β -tubulin gene fragments were excised from pDrive (Qiagen) using the restriction enzymes *Apa*I and *Pst*I (Invitrogen) for β -tubS, and *Not*I (Invitrogen) and *Mlu*I (New England Biolabs) for β -tubL. Excised fragments were then ligated into the dual-T7 vector pL4440 and sequenced, then dsRNA was prepared as in Chapter 2, section 2.2 5. Using the MEGAscript RNAi kit, four hour incubations were used for *gus* (as obtained in Chapter 2, section 2.2.5) and β -tubL dsRNA synthesis, whereas β -tubS was incubated longer (~8 hr).

3.2.3 Bioassays

3.2.3.1 Survival bioassays

A. aegypti eggs were allowed to embryonate for a minimum of one week, and stored for up to two months in humidified plastic containers. Eggs were then submerged in dechlorinated tap water with a liver powder solution to induce hatching of larvae. First instar larvae were collected in groups of 50 and treated with 75 µl of dsRNA at various

concentrations. To produce the dsRNA dilutions, the dsRNA was mixed with appropriate amounts of either dechlorinated tap water that had been filter sterilized using a $0.2 \,\mu m$ syringe filter or molecular-grade water from Sigma.

Liposomes have been shown to aid in the delivery of dsRNA to *D. melanogaster* larvae (Whyard *et al.*, 2009), most likely by fusing with an organism's cell membrane and depositing its contents into the cell. Therefore, some preliminary survival bioassays were performed to test the efficiency of liposomes with *A. aegypti* larvae. For these bioassays, 1 μ l of Lipofectamine 2000 (Invitrogen) was added to 75 μ l of dsRNA at concentrations of 0.2 μ g/ μ l, 0.1 μ g/ μ l and 0.05 μ g/ μ l for each gene of interest. Larvae were soaked in the dsRNA solutions in 2 ml microfuge tubes for 2 hours then transferred to 100 mm Petri-dishes with ~30 ml of dechlorinated tap water and 1 ml of liver powder solution (approx. 1 g liver powder per 25 ml of water) as a food source. The next day, larvae were transferred to individual wells of 48-well plates for easier scoring of survival. Each well contained ~1.5 ml of dechlorinated tap water and 30 μ l of liver powder solution was added to the wells every few days. Survival of the larvae was observed over a 1 week period.

Results from the liposome experiments suggested there was no advantage to adding liposomes to dsRNA, and therefore further survival bioassays were performed without the addition of Lipofectamine 2000, using slightly different concentrations of dsRNA ($0.5 \ \mu g/\mu l$, $0.2 \ \mu g/\mu l$, and $0.02 \ \mu g/\mu l$) for each gene of interest. As with the liposome bioassays, larvae were soaked in 75 μl of dsRNA for 2 hr, and then transferred to 48-well plates for observation. However, these larvae were observed for 2 weeks, and liver powder solution was added as a food source on a more regular basis (every 2 days).

3.2.3.2 Gene expression

As described above (section 3.2.3.1), first instar *A. aegypti* larvae were soaked for 2 hours in dsRNA treatments then transferred to Petri-dishes. However, only 0.5 μ g/ μ l of dsRNA was used to treat the larvae, and rather than transferring to 48-well plates, larvae remained in Petri-dishes until collection for RNA extractions and determination of gene expression by qRT-PCR. Since the addition of liposomes did not appear to increase the effectiveness of dsRNA delivery (see results), they were not used in any further treatments.

Treated larvae were collected at 3, 5 and 7 days after the single 2 hour dsRNA treatment. All larvae still alive from each treatment were placed in a single 1.5 ml tube in *RNAlater* (Qiagen) and kept at -20°C until use. RNA was extracted from larvae using the Qiagen RNeasy kit and Qiagen QiaShedders to homogenize tissue samples (as done in Chapter 2, section 2.2.2). RNA concentrations were determined using a spectrophotometer, and cDNA was produced (as in Chapter 2, section 2.2.2) using random hexamers rather than oligo-dT primers.

The cDNA was then used to assess the extent of RNAi by measuring levels of β tubulin present in the samples using qRT-PCR. These reactions were performed in triplicate on a BioRad iQ5 Real-Time PCR Detection System using 96-well plates with 20 µl as in Chapter 2, section 2.2.3. For this experiment, *S7rp* primers (see Chapter 2, section 2.2.3.1) were used to amplify an internal reference gene for comparing β -tubulin expression in gus- and β -tubulin-dsRNA treated larvae. Another set of primers were designed to target the β -tubulin gene itself (β -tubqPCRFwd: 5' CGTCGTAGAACCGTACAAC, β -tubqPCRRev: 5' CAGGCAGGTGGTAATCC, 187 bp). Analysis of gene expression was performed using the $2^{-\Delta\Delta CT}$ method (Livak and Schmittgen, 2001) as in Chapter 2, section 2.2.3.1.

3.2.3.3 Tissue specific gene expression

Larvae were hatched as above (section 3.2.3.1), then collected in groups of 25 and soaked in 75 μ l of either *gus-*, β *-tubL-*, or β *-tubS*-dsRNA at various concentrations (0.5 μ g/ μ l, 0.25 μ g/ μ l and 0.1 μ g/ μ l) for 2 hours. Larvae were then transferred to small (60 mm) Petri-dishes with dechlorinated tap water and given some liver powder solution as a food source. After 3 days, live larvae were dissected to collect heads, guts, and the remaining carcass. Each tissue type was stored in 100 μ l of *RNAlater* (Ambion) at -20°C until use. RNA extractions and cDNA synthesis were performed only on gut and carcass samples, not on collected head samples. RNA, cDNA, and qRT-PCR procedures were performed as in Chapter 2, section 2.2.2.

3.2.4 Delivery of Aedes aegypti β-tubulin-dsRNA to Drosophila melanogaster

3.2.4.1 Preparation and delivery of D. melanogaster β-tubulin dsRNA

To test the species-specificity of the *A. aegypti* β -tubulin-dsRNA, the mosquitospecific β tubS-dsRNA was delivered to another dipteran insect, the fruit fly *D. melanogaster*, to see if it would cross-silence the fruit fly's homologous β -tubulin gene. The 328 bp β -tubS fragment of the *A. aegypti* β -tubulin gene shares 85% identity with the homologous *D. melanogaster* β Tub56D gene (FlyBase accession: FBgn0003887). However, within this region of the gene, no 19 to 21 nt length of identity can be found between the two species' sequences, which suggests that no siRNA could be produced from either sequence that would effectively silence the other gene's expression.

RNA was extracted from 50 *D. melanogaster* first instar larvae and cDNA was prepared as previously described (Chapter 2, section 2.2.2). A 128 bp fragment of the *D. melanogaster* β *Tub56D* gene, within the 328 bp sequence presumed to have no RNAi cross-silencing potential, was amplified from the *D. melanogaster* cDNA using the primers Dmel β tubF: 5'AGGCGTCCGGTGGCAAGTACG and Dmel β tubR: 5'CGACTGGCCGAACACAAAGTTG. This PCR product was first cloned into the PCR cloning vector pDrive (Qiagen), sequenced to confirm its identity, and subsequently subcloned into the dsRNA expression plasmid pL4440, as previously described (Chapter, section 2.2). DsRNA specific for this *D. melanogaster* β -tubulin gene fragment was synthesized as described previously (Chapter 2, section 2.2.5)

To deliver the dsRNAs to *D. melanogaster* larvae, adult *D. melanogaster* females were isolated and allowed to lay eggs on small Petri plates containing 1.5% agar and 50% grape juice. The eggs were allowed to hatch and the first instar larvae were collected and soaked in 0.5 μ g/ μ l solutions of dsRNA for 2 hr. All dsRNA solutions used to treat *D. melanogaster* larvae were encapsulated in Lipofectamine 2000 (Invitrogen), since it was previously shown that liposomes increase the effectiveness of dsRNAs delivered to *D. melanogaster* larvae (Whyard *et al.*, 2009). The larvae were exposed to the β -tubulin dsRNA specific to either *D. melanogaster* or *A. aegypti*, or to dsRNA specific to the *gus* gene from *E. coli*.

After treatment, larvae were placed in Petri dishes containing an agar-yeastcommeal medium for further development. Larvae were monitored for mortality, and a subset was collected for determining knockdown levels of β -tubulin transcripts with qRT-PCR (as described in Chapter 2, section 2.2.3. Primer sets used to measure *D*. *melanogaster* β -tubulin expression are as follows: Dmel β tubqPCRF: 5'AAGCTCACAACCCCAACCTA and Dmel β tubqPCRR:

5'CAGGCATGAAGAAGTGCAGA, amplifying a 160 bp product.

3.2.5 Chitin synthase and heat shock protein 83 dsRNA delivery

3.2.5.1 Preparation of chs and hsp83 dsRNA

Chitin synthase (*chs*, NCBI accession: AF223577), a gene necessary for proper moulting in insects, and heat shock protein 83 (*hsp83*, NCBI accession: AAEL011704), necessary for proper folding of proteins under stress, was PCR amplified from *A. aegypti* adults in the same manner as β -tubulin in section 3.2.1 using the following primers: ChsF: 5'CTGACGACGATGACGAAGAA, ChsR: 5'GATAATGATGGCCCACATCC, 344 bp and Hsp83F: 5'CTGCGTGAGTTGATCTCCAA, Hsp83R: 5'GGACGTGACGACGACCTTAT, 324 bp). The gene fragments were then cloned, sequenced and used for *in vitro* transcription of dsRNA as described in Chapter 2, sections 2.2.4 and 2.2.5.

3.2.5.2 Chs and hsp83 bioassays

First instar larvae were collected for bioassays and soaked in 0.5 μ g/ μ l dsRNA solutions (with and without Lipofectamine 2000) as in section 3.2.3. Groups of larvae were then transferred to wells of 6-well tissue culture plates and monitored for survival.

For *chs*-dsRNA-treated larvae, mortality and length of larvae was recorded. For larvae treated with *hsp83*-dsRNA, half of the larvae were pre-treated by incubating at 32°C for 1 hr, allowed a 2 hr recovery at 25°C, and then treated to a 2 hr heat shock at 37°C. Larval mortality was recorded over time.

Subsets of treated larvae were collected 4 days after treatment to determine levels of gene knockdown. Larvae were stored in *RNAlater* until RNA extractions, cDNA synthesis and qRT-PCR (as done in Chapter 2, sections 2.2.2 and 2.2.3). qRT-PCR primer sets used to amplify *chs* and *hsp83* are as follows: ChsqPCRF:

5'TCCATCTACCATTGCCAACA

and ChsqPCRR: 5'CGTACCGAACATCAACATGC, 118 bp; Hsp83qPCRF: 5'GTGTCGTCGATTCGGAAGAT and Hsp83qPCRR: 5'CCTTGTCTTCAGCGAGTTCC, 135 bp.

3.3 Results

3.3.1 Oral delivery of β -tubulin dsRNA to A. aegypti larvae affects survival

 β -tubulin (β -tub) is considered a housekeeping gene in eukaryotic organisms, as it encodes one of the subunit proteins of microtubules, which are vital components of a cell's cytoskeleton and are also involved in formation of spindle fibres during mitosis and meiosis. Disruption of this gene's expression would likely interfere with cell division and normal cellular functions, and would ultimately lead to cell death. Delivery of sufficient quantities of β -tub dsRNA to gut cells of *A. aegypti* larvae would be expected to result in death of the insects due to an inability of the gut cells to maintain their structure and function, and thereby failing to provide sufficient nutrients to sustain the insect during this growth phase of its life cycle.

First instar larvae were exposed to long and short fragments of β -tub dsRNA (β tubL-dsRNA, 785 bp and β -tubS-dsRNA, 328 bp) in solution. The larvae were soaked once, for a 2 h period, in a range of concentrations of dsRNAs, and their survival after a two week period was recorded. After this single exposure to the dsRNA, it was observed that all larvae treated with three concentrations of the negative control *gus*-dsRNA (0.5 µg/µl, 0.2 µg/µl, and 0.02 µg/µl), and those treated with the lowest concentration of β tubS- and β -tubL-dsRNAs (0.02 µg/µl) had similar survival rates between 84% and 97% (Table 5). However, when larvae were soaked in the second highest concentration of β tub dsRNAs, survival decreased to around 50%, and then further decreased to around 12% when treated with the highest concentrations of β -tub-dsRNAs (Table 5).

	Concentration (µg/µl)	dsRNA treatment	Survival (Mean % ± SEM)
	0.5	gus-dsRNA	97.9 ± 2.1 $^{\mathrm{a}}$
		B-tubL-dsRNA	$13.7 \pm 3.9^{\circ}$
		B-tubS-dsRNA	$11.1 \pm 5.9^{ m c}$
	0.2	gus-dsRNA	84.7 ± 9.0^{a}
		B-tubL-dsRNA	52.1 ± 8.3 ^b
		B-tubS-dsRNA	45.8 ± 4.2 ^b
	0.02	gus-dsRNA	90.6 ± 2.5 $^{\mathrm{a}}$
		B-tubL-dsRNA	81.3 ± 0.0 $^{\mathrm{a}}$
		B-tubS-dsRNA	87.6 ± 5.3^{a}
9 ~		11 11 00	

Table 5. Survival of *A. aegypti* larvae two weeks after dsRNA treatment. Values represent the means and standard errors of 3 replicates.

^a Survival of *gus*-dsRNA treated larvae were not statistically different from β -tub-dsRNA treatments at 0.02µg/µl after 14 days (ANOVA, p>0.05).

^{b, c} Treatments of larvae with the same concentrations of either the S or L fragment of β -tub-dsRNA showed no significant differences in survival rates (ANOVA, p>0.05). Survival of β -tub-dsRNA treated larvae at 0.2 and 0.5 µg/µl were significantly different from one another, as well as all gus-dsRNA treated larvae, and β -tub-dsRNA treated larvae at 0.02µg/µl (ANOVA, p<0.05).

The same experiment was repeated with the addition of liposomes to the dsRNA. It is known that liposomes can increase the uptake of dsRNA and increase RNAi responses in *D. melanogaster* larvae (Whyard *et al.*, 2009). However, liposome encapsulation of the dsRNA did not appear to give consistent results with *A. aegypti* larvae treated with β -tub-dsRNA (Fig. 18). The percent survival of larvae was observed 7 days after treatment with *gus*-, β -tubL-, and β -tubS-dsRNA with and without Lipofectamine 2000 (Invitrogen). For most doses tested, there was no observable difference in the survival rate of larvae treated with or without liposomes. Only two treatments showed significant differences in survival between liposome and nonliposome-encapsulated dsRNAs. Larvae treated with 0.05 µg/µl of β -tubS-dsRNA showed nearly 30% lower survival when treated with liposomes. In contrast, larvae treated with 0.2 µg/µl of β -tubS-dsRNA showed around 30% lower survival without the addition of liposomes. Aside from these two exceptions, which showed conflicting responses to the presence or absence of liposomes, the majority of the treatments suggest that liposomes do not improve the efficiency of dsRNA in *A. aegypti* larvae.



Figure 18. Comparison of liposome-encapsulated and non-encapsulated dsRNA on larval survival after 7 days. The values represent the means and standard errors for 3 replicate experiments.

* represent a significant difference in the survival of larvae treated with the liposome- and non-liposomeencapsulated dsRNAs (Student's t-test, p<0.05).

3.3.2 Oral delivery of β -tubulin-dsRNA can cause knockdown of β -tubulin expression

It is worth noting that the larval survival rate following exposure to the β -tubdsRNAs in Figure 18 was not as low as in Table 5. This difference in survival between the two experiments is most likely due to the difference in the duration of each experiment; in the first experiment, survival was assessed after 14 days, whereas in the second experiment, survival was assessed after only 7 days. Presumably, the higher mortality rate over time is due to the latent effects of the dsRNA after the single treatment. To examine this latency of RNAi, the time course of dsRNA-induced mortality and its correlation with β -tubulin gene expression was examined.

By examining survival of dsRNA-treated larvae (Fig. 19) over the two week posttreatment period, two substantial drops in survival rates, around days six and nine, were observed in larvae treated with β -tub-dsRNA. While untreated and gus-dsRNA-treated larvae showed no significant decrease in survival during the two week period, larvae treated with 0.2 and 0.5 µg/µl β -tub-dsRNA showed significantly increased mortalities over the two week period. Interestingly, the single exposure to the dsRNA did not result in immediate mortality, but resulted in many of the larvae dying several days later before they could develop into pupae and adults.

In order to test whether the orally-delivered dsRNA could decrease expression of β -tubulin, larvae were soaked for 2 hr in 0.5 µg/µl of β -tubL-dsRNA. At days 3, 5 and 7 post-treatment, RNA was isolated from pooled groups of larvae and qRT-PCR was used to determine if decreases in β -tubulin expression were associated with the decreases in survival. At day 3, the level of β -tub expression following β -tub-dsRNA treatment

appeared to decrease slightly relative to the *gus*-dsRNA-treated controls, but the change was not statistically significant (Student's t-test, p = 0.15; Fig 20). Curiously, β -tubulin expression increased 3.5-fold by day 5, and then returned back down to control levels by day 7. Based on these results, it would appear that RNAi had not been adequately induced, and even more curiously, by day 5 post-treatment, β -tubulin expression had actually been up-regulated in response to the dsRNA treatment. It is worth noting however, that the β -tubulin gene expression measurements in this experiment were based on only the living larvae, and not on the larvae that had already died. It had been presumed that dead larvae would likely yield poor RNA recoveries as they would be undergoing necrosis, and therefore they should not be used in the gene expression measurements. It is possible therefore, that the live larvae had acquired a sublethal dose of dsRNA, and were able to increase β -tubulin expression to compensate for the initial knockdown of β -tubulin expression following the dsRNA treatment.



Figure 19. Survival of *A. aegypti* larvae over a two week period after dsRNA treatment. Three concentrations of dsRNA were used: $0.5 \ \mu g/\mu l$, $0.2 \ \mu g/\mu l$ and $0.02 \ \mu g/\mu l$.

a) Survival of *gus*-dsRNA treated larvae were not statistically different from β -tub-dsRNA treatments at

0.02 µg/µl after 14 days (ANOVA, p>0.05).

b and c) Survival of β -tub-dsRNA treated larvae at the same concentrations were not significantly different from one another (ANOVA, p>0.05). Survival of β -tub-dsRNA treated larvae at 0.2 and 0.5 µg/µl were significantly different from one another, as well as all gus-dsRNA treated larvae, and β -tub-dsRNA treated larvae at 0.02µg/µl (ANOVA, p<0.05).



Figure 20. Gene expression of β -tubulin 3, 5 and 7 days after treatment with 0.5µg/µl gus-dsRNA or β tubL-dsRNA. Changes in gene expression of β -tub-dsRNA treated larvae are relative to gus-dsRNA treated larvae at the same time period. Calculations were performed using the 2^{- $\Delta\Delta$ CT} method (Livak and Schmittgen, 2001). Only relative expression between gus-dsRNA treated and β -tub-dsRNA treated larvae at day 5 is considered significantly different (Student's t-test, p<0.05).

3.3.3 Oral delivery of β -tubulin-dsRNA can cause knockdown of β -tubulin expression in the gut and other tissues

Previously, mosquito larvae had been soaked in food colouring solutions for 2 hr and it had been noted that only the midgut had contained the food dye (results not shown), suggesting that the gut is the main point of entry for the dsRNA when the larvae are soaking in a solution. By measuring changes in β -tub expression in the entire body of the treated larvae, the RNAi effect at the level of the gut tissue, where the dsRNA is entering the body, may have been obscured. It is unknown whether dsRNA can travel beyond the gut, and since the gut itself represents only a small proportion of tissues present in a mosquito larvae, using whole bodies of larvae to measure the level of RNAi may have diluted any effect that dsRNA would have had on gut tissues.

To test if orally delivered β -tub-dsRNA could cause knockdown in *A. aegypti* guts, in addition to the possible induction of an RNAi response in other tissues, larvae were treated as before with different concentrations of β -tubL- and β -tubS-dsRNA (0.5 µg/µl, 0.25 µg/µl, and 0.1 µg/µl). However, three days after treatment with dsRNA, guts were dissected out of live larvae and pooled together for qRT-PCR. The remaining carcass (minus heads) was also collected and pooled for qRT-PCR.

Larvae treated with the highest concentration of β -tubL-dsRNA (0.5 µg/µl) showed around 50% decrease in β -tubulin expression in the gut compared to gus-dsRNA treated larvae. In addition, there was also, approximately, a 40% decrease in β -tubulin expression in the remaining carcass tissues (Fig. 21). β -tubS-dsRNA gave varying results, which will be discussed further in the Discussion.



Figure 21. Gene expression of β -tubulin in guts and carcasses 3 days after dsRNA treatment with 0.5µg/µl concentrations. Larvae were separated into gut tissues and remaining carcass for qRT-PCR. Changes in gene expression are relative to β -tubulin expression in gus-treated carcass samples. Comparisons were made using the 2^{- $\Delta\Delta$ CT} method (Livak and Schmittgen, 2001).

* β -tubulin expression is significantly lower in carcasses of β -tub-dsRNA treated larvae compared to gusdsRNA treated larvae (ANOVA, p<0.05). Guts of gus-dsRNA and β -tubS-treated larvae did not have significantly different levels of β -tubulin expression, however, expression in β -tubL-dsRNA treated larvae was significantly lower (ANOVA).

Larvae treated with lower concentrations of dsRNA did not show significantly lower expression of β -tubulin (Table 6).

Concentration (µg/µl)	dsRNA treatment	% decrease in β -tubulin expression (Mean \pm SEM)		
		Guts	Carcass	
0.5	gus	0.00 ± 9.10	0.00 ± 7.53	
	β -tubL	$50.1 \pm 5.21^{a,c}$	$40.3 \pm 6.00^{a,c}$	
	β-tubS	$18.2 \pm 14.5^{\mathrm{b,c}}$	$49.3 \pm 16.1^{a,c}$	
0.25	gus	0.00 ± 7.00	0.00 ± 6.85	
	β -tubL	$24.7 \pm 13.0^{b,d}$	$-20.4 \pm 13.7^{b,c}$	
	β-tubS	$-53.4 \pm 28.0^{ m b,d}$	$-42.8 \pm 27.2^{\mathrm{b,c}}$	
0.1	gus	0.00 ± 21.4	0.00 ± 19.2	
	β -tubL	$-37.3 \pm 19.4^{ m b,c}$	$-50.3 \pm 20.8^{ m b,c}$	
	β-tubS	$-34.7 \pm 17.4^{b,c}$	$-15.1 \pm 11.7^{b,c}$	

Table 6. Decrease in β -tubulin expression in guts and remaining carcass of A. aegypti larvae 3 days after treatment with dsRNA. The values represent the means and standard errors of three replicate experiments.

^a Values are significantly different from gus-dsRNA treatments of the same tissues and concentration (ANOVA, p<0.05).

^b Values are not significantly different from *gus*-dsRNA treatments of the same tissues and concentration (ANOVA, p>0.05). ^c Values are significantly different from corresponding β -tub-dsRNA treatments of the same tissues and concentration (ANOVA, p<0.05). p<0.05).

^d Values are not significantly different from corresponding β -tub-dsRNA treatments of the same tissues and concentration (ANOVA, p>0.05).

3.3.4 Oral delivery of *chitin synthase* **and** *heat shock protein 83* dsRNAs to *A. aegypti* larvae

First instar larvae were soaked for 2 hr in 100 µl of 0.5 µg/µl dsRNA specific to either the chitin synthase (*chs*) or the heat shock protein 83 (*hsp83*) genes with or without the addition of Lipofectamine 2000. Chitin synthase is an enzyme required for the synthesis of chitin, the main component of an insect's exoskeleton and the gut's peritrophic membrane (reviewed in Merzendorfer, 2006), while heat shock proteins are a family of chaperone proteins that aid in folding and stabilizing other proteins under different conditions. Heat shock protein 83 is specifically involved in folding and unfolding of proteins under heat stress. In some insect species, including the African migratory locust, *Locusta migratoria* (Whyard *et al.*, 1986), the light brown applemoth, *Epiphyas postvittana* (Lester and Greenwood, 1997), the flesh fly, *Sarcophaga* *crassipalpis* (Chen *et al.*, 1991), and the model insect, *D. melanogaster* (Krebs and Feder, 1998), pretreatment at a sublethal heat shock temperature can induce production of heat shock proteins, which can subsequently confer protection to the insects if later subjected to a brief lethal temperature.

All mosquito larvae were observed for 1 week after treatment and mortality was

recorded. qRT-PCR was performed to determine knockdown levels of target genes.

Additionally, for chs-dsRNA treated larvae, visible differences in larval lengths were

observed and measured (Table 7).

Table 7. Knockdown, mortality and length of larvae after treatment with dsRNAs. *A. aegypti* larvae were treated with (+L) and without the addition of liposomes for *chs* and *hsp83* dsRNAs. The values represent the means and standard errors for three replicate experiments.

Spacing Trantad	dsRNA	Target	% knockdown	0/ mortality	Mean length of
species freated	treatment	gene	of target gene	% monanty	larvae (mm)
A. aegypti	gus	chs	0.0 ± 9.0	14.4 ± 1.1	5.28 ± 0.04
	gus+L	chs	0.0 ± 13.4	13.3 ± 1.9	5.27 ± 0.04
	chs	chs	31.5 ± 4.7 ^a	45.6 ± 2.9^{a}	3.61 ± 0.09^{a}
	chs+L	chs	35.4 ± 3.6^{a}	46.7 ± 5.8^{a}	3.43 ± 0.09^{a}
No host shool	gus	hsp83	0.0 ± 12.7	10 ± 1.9	-
no neat shock	gus+L	hsp83	0.0 ± 10.6	11.1 ± 1.1	-
prior to uskinA	hsp83	hsp83	30.2 ± 9.6 *	30 ± 1.9^{a}	-
treatment	hsp83+L	hsp83	23.6 ± 13.3 **	$27.8\pm2.9^{\rm \ a}$	-
22°C hast shock	gus	hsp83	-	13.3 ± 1.9	-
52 C field Shock	gus +L	hsp83	-	15.6 ± 1.1	-
	hsp83	hsp83	-	$58.9 \pm 1.1^{\ a}$	-
treatment	<i>hsp83</i> +L	hsp83	-	60 ± 1.9^{a}	-

^aGene specific dsRNA treatments were statistically different from corresponding *gus*-dsRNA treatments (ANOVA, p<0.05). *Gus*-dsRNA treatments of the same experiment with and without liposomes were not statistically different from one another (ANOVA, p>0.05).

Gene specific dsRNA treatments of the same experiment with and without liposomes were not statistically different (ANOVA, p>0.05).

*gus vs hsp83 - Student's t-test, p = 0.1032

**gus+L vs hsp83+L - Student's t-test, p = 0.2693

Larvae treated with dsRNA specific to chs (chs-dsRNA) showed both decreased

growth and increased mortality after 1 week compared to larvae treated with gus-dsRNA

(Table 7). Mortality was approximately 30% higher in larvae treated with *chs*-dsRNA, both with and without the addition of liposomes, compared to larvae treated with control *gus*-dsRNA with and without liposomes (Table 7), suggesting that, like the experiments with β -*tub*-dsRNA, liposomes had no effect on efficacy of RNAi. qRT-PCR performed on whole bodies of larvae revealed 31-35% knockdown of *chs* expression a week after dsRNA exposure, compared to *gus*-dsRNA treated larvae (Table 7). In addition to mortality and gene knockdown, larvae treated with *chs*-dsRNA appeared to have significantly slower and/or stunted growth, being nearly one-third shorter than the control larvae (Table 7).

Larvae that were treated with dsRNA specific to *hsp83* (*hsp83*-dsRNA) also showed higher mortality than control larvae. Those that were treated with dsRNA then pretreated at 32°C for 1 hr prior to being heat shocked at 37°C for 2 hr showed approximately 45% higher levels of mortality, compared to only 20% higher mortality in larvae that were not pretreated (Table 7). qRT-PCR performed on whole larvae showed some knockdown of *hsp83* in *hsp83*-dsRNA treated larvae, however, the differences in gene expression were not found to be statistically significant from *gus*-dsRNA treated larvae.

Similar to the β -tub- and chs-dsRNA experiments, mortality of larvae in the *hsp83*-dsRNA experiments was not significantly different between larvae treated with and without liposomes of the same dsRNA treatments, again suggesting that liposomes do not enhance the ability of dsRNAs to cause gene silencing.

3.3.5 Effect of *A. aegypti β-tubulin-*dsRNA on *D. melanogaster* larvae

To test the species-specificity of *A. aegypti* β -tubulin-dsRNA, first instar *D. melanogaster* larvae were also soaked in *gus*-dsRNA, β -tubulin-dsRNA specific for *A. aegypti* (*Ae-tub*, 328 bp), or dsRNA specific for the β -tubulin gene of *D. melanogaster* (*Dm-tub*, 170 bp). Since it is known that liposomes can enhance the gene knockdown effects of dsRNA in *D. melanogaster* (Whyard *et al.*, 2009), larvae for this experiment were soaked for 2 hr in dsRNAs combined with Lipofectamine 2000 (Invitrogen). After treatment, larvae were placed in standard *Drosophila* medium, observed for mortality, and a subset were collected for qRT-PCR to determine the levels of β -tubulin knockdown.

Mortality between *D. melanogaster* larvae treated with *gus-* and *Ae-tub-*dsRNAs was not significantly different, however there was around 25% higher mortality in *D. melanogaster* larvae treated with dsRNA specific to their own species (Table 8).

Table 8. Mortality and qRT-PCR data for <i>D. melanogaster</i> larvae treated with β -
<i>tubulin</i> dsRNAs. The values represent the means and standard errors for three
replicate experiments.

Spacias Trastad	DsRNA	Target	% mortality	% knockdown
species mealed	treatment	gene	70 mortanty	of target gene
D. melanogaster	gus	Dm-tub	4 ± 1.6	0 ± 1.3
	Ae-tub	Dm-tub	6 ± 2.6	4.2 ± 1.5
	Dm-tub	Dm-tub	$31.0\pm4.1~^a$	$50.6\pm3.7~^{a}$

^aMortality and *Dm-tub* expression in *Dm-tub*-dsRNA treated larvae is significantly different from that in *gus*-dsRNA and *Ae-tub*-dsRNA treated larvae (ANOVA, p<0.05).

3.4 Discussion

Delivery of dsRNA to aquatic insects by a simple soaking or feeding method has many applications, including rapid functional screening of newly identified genes, and potential use in the development of species-specific insecticides. Previously, feeding of dsRNA has been shown to effectively induce gene silencing in many terrestrial pest insects, particularly Lepidoptera larvae (Bautista *et al.*, 2009; Mao *et al.*, 2007; Turner *et al.*, 2006), but also Coleoptera (Baum *et al.*, 2007; Whyard *et al.*, 2009), Hymenoptera (Maori *et al.*, 2009), Diptera (Walshe *et al.*, 2009; Whyard *et al.*, 2009), Hemiptera (Araujo *et al.*, 2006; Chen *et al.*, 2010; Shakesby *et al.*, 2009; Whyard *et al.*, 2009), crickets (Meyering-Vos and Müller, 2007) termites (Zhou *et al.*, 2008) and ticks (Soares *et al.*, 2005), but not in any insects with an aquatic life stage. I have shown that an RNAi response can be induced by soaking first instar *A. aegypti* larvae in moderate concentrations of dsRNA as a method for oral delivery.

Although direct soaking is probably the easiest method of orally delivering dsRNA to an organism, it is not the only way. Several studies have shown that droplet feeding (Bautista *et al.*, 2009; Turner *et al.*, 2006; Whyard *et al.*, 2009), adding dsRNA to dry diets (Shakesby *et al.*, 2009; Whyard *et al.*, 2009) and also feeding bacteria that express the dsRNA (Gurley *et al.*, 2008; Newmark *et al.*, 2003; Reddien *et al.*, 2005; Timmons *et al.*, 2001) can effectively induce gene silencing in several organisms. Adding dsRNA to diets, whether liquid or dry, usually requires that the organisms be starved prior to treatment to ensure that they can find and receive a considerable dose of the dsRNA. With bacterial feeding, strains of *E. coli* that lack RNAse III are transformed with plasmids containing genes of interest between convergent T7 promoters. DsRNA

synthesis is induced by the addition of isopropyl- β -D-thiogalactopyranoside (IPTG) which induces the production of a T7 RNA polymerase enzyme, a gene also transformed within the cell, to express either a hairpin RNA structure, or both sense and anti-sense RNA strands. The first study to demonstrate bacterial oral delivery of dsRNA was done by Timmons et al. (2001) using C. elegans. The worms were added to plates containing the dsRNA-producing bacteria as their sole source of food. RNAi phenotypes were usually observed within one to five days, depending on the target gene. This method has also worked in the planarian Schmidtea mediterranea, where the bacteria were mixed with the normal diet of homogenized liver, and made into solidified chunks using agarose. This feeding method has been used for wide-scale screening of regeneration and other uncharacterized genes in that species (Gurley et al., 2008; Newmark et al., 2003; Reddien et al., 2005). More recently, bacterial feeding of dsRNA has been successful in some insect species like honeybees (Maori et al., 2009) and Spodoptera exigua (Tian et al., 2009), and even in the protozoan Entamoeba histolytica (Solis et al., 2009) which causes amoebic dysentery in humans.

Soaking organisms in dsRNA has also successfully delivered dsRNA to nematodes like *C. elegans* (Tabara *et al.*, 2008), *Meloidogyne incognita* and *Globodera pallida* (Dalzell *et al.*, 2009), platyhelminthes *Dugesia japonica* (Orii *et al.*, 2003), *Schistosoma mansoni* (Ndegwa *et al.*, 2007), and *S. mediterranea* (Whyard, unpublished), but not in any insect species besides *D. melanogaster* (Whyard *et al.*, 2009). It was shown that the addition of liposomes to dsRNA solutions used to soak *D. melanogaster* larvae, particularly Lipofectamine 2000 (Invitrogen), can increase RNAi responses by nearly 50% (Whyard *et al.*, 2009). This, however, was not the case in *A. aegypti* larvae. Liposomes are vesicles composed of lipid bilayers which can more readily fuse with cell membranes within an organism to deliver dsRNAs, or other substances encapsulated by them, to cells. All dsRNA treatments in this study (dsRNA specific to β *tubulin, chitin synthase* and *hsp83*) using Lipofectamine 2000 to encapsulate the dsRNA showed either no significant difference in the transcript levels compared to larvae treated with naked dsRNA, or conflicting results, as with β -*tub*-dsRNA experiments, suggesting that liposomes do not increase the uptake of dsRNA into cells of *A. aegypti* larvae to allow higher levels of gene silencing.

It is beneficial to know that liposomes are not required to treat mosquito larvae with dsRNA, as it appears that different species react differently to the addition of liposomes, and to dsRNAs themselves. Rajagopal *et al.* (2002) found that feeding dsRNA to larvae of the lepidopteran, *Spodoptera litura*, did not reduce transcript levels of targeted genes, whereas direct injection of the dsRNAs did. It is possible that, as in *D. melanogaster* larvae, dsRNA delivery to *S. litura* larvae could be enhanced by the addition of liposomes. However, species that do not require liposomes to induce significant RNAi responses could be more easily and cheaply treated with dsRNAs on their own.

This study has shown that gene transcripts can be reduced in *A. aegypti* by soaking first instar larvae in dsRNA solutions for 2 hours. Depending on the gene being targeted, the RNAi induced by dsRNA can cause mortality over time, as was shown with β -tub-dsRNA treatments, where larval mortality was observed over two weeks. Also, it is known that dsRNA may persist within an organism for several days. For example, in adult honeybees (*Apis mellifera*) dsRNA template to target *vitellogenin* in females was

observed in the abdomen as many as 15 days after intra-abdominal injection, and it was also suggested that RNAi could be activated as many as 21 days after dsRNA injection (Amdam *et al.*, 2003). In addition, Turner *et al.* (2006) droplet fed third instar larvae of the light brown apple moth, *Epiphyas postvittana*, dsRNA to target a gene expressed in antennae (*EposPBP1*). Knockdown of the gene was observed in adults, suggesting that the dsRNA persisted throughout the molting process, an average of 18 days.

It is interesting to note that a one-time soaking of larvae in dsRNA was enough to cause gene knockdown, and mortality, whereas with many experiments done on worms, soaking in dsRNA was done on a continual basis (Orii *et al.*, 2003; Tabara *et al.*, 1998). In my experiments, larvae were collected three days after treatment with β -tub-dsRNA, and four days after treatment with *chs*- and *hsp83*-dsRNA, and most showed significant knockdown of the respective gene transcripts compared to larvae treated with *gus*-dsRNA.

Although *hsp83*-dsRNA treated larvae showed lower transcript levels than *gus*treated larvae, the values were not statistically significant. However, significant mortality was observed in *hsp83*-dsRNA treated larvae. Heat shock proteins are normally required to aid in folding and unfolding of proteins under stress. One of the most well known heat shock proteins is *hsp70*. This protein is know to be expressed at low levels in *D*. *melanogaster*, and then rapidly increases by at least two orders of magnitude if the organism is subjected to heat shock. *Hsp83*, however, is expressed at high levels during normal development, and increases only a few-fold when subjected to heat shock (Xiao and Lis, 1989). Naturally high levels of *hsp83* transcript in developing larvae could have masked the significance of gene knockdown levels, yet this reduction in expression may have been enough to affect development and cause mortality.

Larvae treated with *chs*-dsRNA showed significant transcript knockdown levels, around 30%. Chitin synthase is an enzyme that catalyzes the synthesis of chitin, which is produced by fungi, nematodes and arthropods. It is one of the most abundant amino polysaccharides found in nature, formed by linear polymers of β -(1-4)-linked N-acetyl glucosamines, and makes up the exoskeleton of insects. It is also found in tracheal cuticles and the peritrophic matrix (reviewed in Merzendorfer, 2006). Chitin synthase is known to be encoded by two genes, chs-A and chs-B. Chs-A is expressed in the epidermis and other ectodermal cells like tracheal cells, while *chs-B* is expressed in gut cells that produce the peritrophic matrix (Merzendorfer, 2006). The chitin synthase fragment used for our experiment is homologous to *chs-A* from *D. melanogaster* (NCBI Accession: NM_001144525). As *chs* is required for exoskeleton development, and is critical for proper moulting, and it has been suggested that insect development is dependent on the precisely tuned expression pattern of chs genes. According to Merzendorfer (2006), fifth instar tobacco hornworms (*M. sexta*) injected with *chs*-dsRNA showed severe head deformities and subsequent death during pupal stages. However, ingestion of chs-dsRNA by first instar mosquito larvae may not have provided a high enough dose to trigger RNAi throughout all chitin synthesizing tissues and cause high mortality rates, but was potent enough to stunt growth by affecting the synthesis of a new exoskeleton.

 β -tubL-dsRNA treated larvae yielded the highest levels of knockdown in whole bodies, as well as separated guts and carcasses, ranging from 40 to 50%. Together, α and β -tubulin subunit proteins form heterodimers which make up microtubules. Microtubules are essential for normal functioning of cells, and are involved in the composition of mitotic and meiotic spindles, elongated neural processes, cilia, flagella, and cell shape. In *D. melanogaster*, there are different forms of β -tubulin genes, some of which are generally expressed, while others are expressed specifically during embryogenesis (Bialojan *et al.*, 1984). The targeted β -tubulin gene from *A. aegypti* is homologous to β tub56D in *D. melanogaster*, which is expressed in all cells and is suggested to be responsible for microtubule structure and cell division (Bialojan *et al.*, 1984).

There are a few reasons why higher knockdown levels of this important β -tubulin gene were not observed in A. aegypti larvae after dsRNA soaking. First, whole bodies of larvae samples were collected at three, five and seven days after the one-time treatments in dsRNA. Had samples been collected sooner than three days after treatment, higher knockdown levels may have been observed if gene transcripts were initially knocked down without having the opportunity to re-synthesize depleted transcripts. At five days after treatment, the tubulin transcripts appear to increase, which could be explained by the cells' attempts to rapidly replenish lost β -tubulin transcripts necessary for development, which resulted in overcompensation within the organism. Then, by seven days after treatment, the larvae were able to return β -tubulin levels to normal. In 2004, Gatehouse *et al.* showed reductions of hypopharyngeal amylase enzyme activity from 80% one day after injection with dsRNA specific to that gene, compared to only 27% three days after injection in A. mellifera. They suggested that the relatively rapid decrease in enzyme activity after three days implies a high turnover rate for that enzyme. This could also be the case for β -tubulin, which is an important gene for growth, development, and structural upkeep of cells, particularly in gut cells which are constantly being
regenerated. This is especially true in growing larvae, where gut cells are growing and dividing rapidly. For example, in *M. sexta*, epithelial cells in the midgut increase in number by 200-fold by the end of their larval phase (Baldwin and Hakim, 1991). In *A. aegypti*, it is known that the midgut can grow at least 5-fold between first and third instar stages (Ray *et al.*, 2009). If cells are rapidly dividing, the demand for genes such as β -*tubulin*, and other genes critical for mitosis and composition of cell structure could be so great that they are constantly being expressed, and so RNAi knockdown levels for those genes wouldn't be as great as levels seen for genes that aren't as abundantly expressed.

Another item to note is that all larvae collected to determine changes in gene expression were all live larvae, while it is the larvae that died due to dsRNA treatment that, potentially, have the lowest gene expression levels. Sampling from only living larvae may have skewed results to represent individuals which may have received a smaller, less potent dose of dsRNA which was enough to somewhat reduce transcript levels, but not enough to cause mortality, or those individuals with reduced transcripts which were already replenished by the time they were collected for analysis.

When guts of treated larvae were dissected and gene expression was compared to that of the rest of the body, it seems that the effects of dsRNA was able to travel beyond the initial point of entry (i.e. gut cells), since there was approximately 50% knockdown of β -tubulin transcripts in the guts of β -tubL-dsRNA treated larvae, compared to gus-dsRNA treated larvae, while there was also around 40% knockdown of β -tubulin in the remaining carcass (Fig. 21, section 3.3.3). The fact that β -tubS-dsRNA did not induce as much knockdown in guts compared to carcasses could be explained by rapid turnover rates for β -tubulin in dividing gut cells (as mentioned earlier), as well as large variation in gene expression among individuals. However, the data still implies that there is a mechanism that enables dsRNA to travel beyond the tissues to which the dsRNA was first delivered.

Many organisms, including mammals, have putative transmembrane proteins that specifically transport dsRNAs across cell membranes (Gordon and Waterhouse, 2007). These SID proteins were first discovered in C. elegans by Winston et al. (2002), who named them for systemic RNA interference-deficient mutants that failed to show spreading of an RNAi response from the pharynx of the worm to the body wall, as would be seen in normal worms. The SID-1 protein in C. elegans is widely expressed and concentrated at cell membranes (Winston et al., 2002). It is suggested to have a long (> 400 amino acids), extracellular N-terminus, a cytosolic C-terminus, and 11 transmembrane domains, where five of the first six domains span the entire cell membrane (Feinberg and Hunter, 2003). The membrane spanning portions of the gene seem to be particularly important, as a change in one amino acid in the fourth transmembrane domain results in loss of function of the protein (Feinberg and Hunter, 2003). It has also been suggested that SID-1 acts as a channel to transport dsRNAs by passive diffusion, as opposed to active transport, phagocytosis or endocytosis. This was determined when Feinberg and Hunter (2003) used oligomycin to deplete cells of ATP (which is required for active transport, phagocytosis and endocytosis) for 30 minutes prior to adding dsRNA to the cells. They observed that 300-fold more dsRNA was taken up by *Drosophila* S2 cells that were transgenically modified to express functional SID-1 proteins, compared to cells expressing non-functional SID-1. This indicated that ATP is not required for dsRNA uptake in cells that possess SID-1.

As mentioned, putative homologs of SID proteins have been found in virtually all taxa, with the exception of plants, and curiously dipteran insects, whereas most other arthropod groups possess some gene similar to that of *sid-1* (Gordon and Waterhouse, 2007). Plants are able to transport dsRNA across intercellular bridges or plasmodesmata, and can also use phloem to transport RNAs long distances (Voinnet *et al.*, 1998). The mechanism in dipterans, however, is still being investigated. It is known that Drosophila S2 cells have the ability for cell-autonomous RNAi (where dsRNA enters a cell, and the RNAi machinery will cause gene silencing only within that cell), but they do not show systemic RNAi. However, when S2 cells ectopically express *sid-1*, they do show a systemic RNAi response (Feinberg and Hunter, 2003). A. aegypti is a dipteran species, and as such, no genes similar to *sid-1* have been found in its genome. Therefore, there must be some other mechanism to allow uptake of dsRNA within the organism, and movement of that dsRNA from cell to cell. Feinberg and Hunter (2003), in addition to finding that uptake by SID-1 can be a passive process, found that uptake of dsRNA in normal Drosophila S2 cells (which lack SID-1) uses some ATP-dependent process. This was determined when mock-ATP-depleted S2 cells expressing *sid-1* showed 30-fold more internalized dsRNA than S2 cells expressing a non-functional *sid-1*, as opposed to ATP-depleted cells expressing *sid-1* showing 300-fold more internalized dsRNA than cells with the non-functional *sid-1* (Feinberg and Hunter, 2003). This means that the natural dsRNA uptake mechanism may not be as efficient as SID-1, and it requires ATP.

Some have speculated that the uptake mechanism in *Drosophila* involves receptor-mediated endocytosis. Saleh *et al.* (2006) performed a genome-wide screen to identify genes required for dsRNA uptake and discovered that many components of the endocytic pathway were involved, such as clathrin heavy chain and its adapter protein AP-50. Clathrin proteins form a structural scaffold for newly forming vesicles in a cell, like those that would be formed during receptor-mediated endocytosis. Three heavy chains and three light chains compose the clathrin molecule, which form a three-legged structure called a triskelion. When the triskelions come together they create lattices that can change from flattened to curved, depending on the stage of the forming vesicle. Adaptor proteins are required to bind the clathrin scaffolding to the surface of the forming vesicle. These proteins are involved in early endocytic uptake.

Other genes found in *Drosophila* S2 cells that are required for dsRNA uptake included several genes involved in vesicle trafficking and protein sorting, members of the Golgi complex family, and genes involved in protein transport and cytoskeleton organization. Therefore, it was concluded that dsRNA must enter the RNAi pathway through the intracellular vesicle network, specifically receptor-mediated endocytosis (Saleh *et al.*, 2006).

Ulvila *et al.* (2006) did a similar screen of *Drosophila* S2 genes to identify components of the RNAi machinery and identified two endocytotic receptors that may be involved in dsRNA uptake, the scavenger receptors SC-R1 and EATER. Scavenger receptors are normally involved in phagocytocis of bacterial pathogens and display specificity for multiple ligands, and it is suggested that dsRNA may be a previously unrecognized ligand for these receptors. It was also found that expression of SC-R1 in mammalian cell lines allowed for higher rates of internalization of long dsRNA (Ulvila *et al.*, 2006), further supporting their role in receptor-mediated endocytosis of dsRNA uptake.

As Drosophila and A. aegypti are closely related insects, it is likely that they both utilize the same mechanism for dsRNA uptake, however, according to my results, it appears that A. aegypti may display some systemic RNAi response whereas D. melanogaster does not. Since dipterans do not express the dsRNA transport channel sid-*I*, there must be some other method for dsRNA to travel from cell to cell. Previously, Winston et al. (2002) had observed that neurons in C. elegans did not express sid-1, but were still able to export dsRNA from those cells. Jose et al. (2009) have found that, although sid-1 is required for importing dsRNA, it may not be required for export. To test this, they used C. *elegans* expressing green fluorescent protein (gfp) in the pharynx, gut and body wall muscle cells, and expressed hairpin RNA specific to gfp (gfp-hpRNA) only in the pharynx. These same worms also lacked expression of *sid-1* in all cells of the body, except for the gut. It was found that after expression of gfp-hpRNA in the pharynx, there was detectable silencing of *gfp* in the gut as well. This meant that the RNAi silencing trigger was able to be transported out of cells of the pharynx and reach gut cells without SID-1 proteins. They also did experiments using ingested gfp-dsRNA, which was given to worms expressing *sid-1* only in body wall muscle cells. It was observed that dsRNA that entered the gut was able to silence *gfp* expression in the body wall. Jose *et al.* (2009) suggest that transport of silencing triggers from the gut lumen may involve transcytosis, where vesicles carry dsRNA across the interior of the cell where they can then release their contents on the other side. This same method of transcytosis could occur in mosquito larvae to allow β -tub-dsRNA to reach other tissues within the organism, and not just gut cells that would be the initial point of entry for the dsRNA.

If dsRNA is to be a potential method of controlling pest insects, it is important to know that it can target a specific organism without harming other pests. Using *A. aegypti* and *D. melanogaster*, we have shown that it is possible to design species-specific dsRNAs to target one species without affecting the other. It appears that as long as dsRNA fragments for two species do not contain identical sequences of 19-21 nucleotides long (the same size as siRNAs), species-specific dsRNAs can easily be designed. Several studies have also shown species specificity of dsRNAs. For example, Baum *et al.* (2007) created transgenic plants expressing RNA hairpins to target β -tubulin, V-ATPase A and V-ATPase E in the western corn rootworm (*Diabrotica virgifera virgifera*), without affecting both the southern corn rootworm (*Diabrotica undecimpuncta howardii*) and the Colorado potato beetle (*Leptinotarsa decemlineata*). Similar dsRNA design was done by Whyard *et al.* (2009) who were able to create dsRNAs specific to eight insect species, including four closely related *Drosophila* species.

From this study, it appears that RNAi does have the potential to be used as an insecticide against aquatic stages of mosquito species. There is the possibility of delivering dsRNAs as a solution that can be ingested by developing larvae, perhaps by simply spraying into ponds, ditches, or other known habitats of these pest insects. For dsRNAs to be deployed as pesticides, it will be necessary to develop cost-effective production systems. Further research on delivery methods (discussed further in Chapter 4) and methods for mass production of dsRNAs is necessary if they are to be used as pesticides.

Of course, more research must be done to determine optimal dsRNA concentrations and sequence lengths for delivery to the desired species. More

importantly, appropriate gene targets must be investigated. Possible housekeeping genes could be targeted to affect a particular life stage where there are high rates of mortality, or perhaps there is a gene that, if knocked down, affects all life stages equally. Genes that affect reproduction of terrestrial adults, but can be targeted in the aquatic juvenile stages, are also good candidates for an RNAi pesticide. For example, there are several sex differentiation genes that have been identified in *D. melanogaster* that have homologues in mosquitoes. There are also genes that are involved in egg and sperm production which could be good candidates for dsRNA treatment. Targeting these genes could skew sex ratios or prevent fertility in specific sexes, which is not only an alternative to current chemical pesticides, but also an alternative to the widely used practice of irradiating males of a species for sterile insect technique.

Chapter 4: Conclusions and Future Directions

From the two studies conducted in Chapters 2 and 3, it is evident that RNAi can be used as a molecular biology tool to assess the functions of genes, and has potential applications as a species-specific pesticide in mosquitoes. Although the phenotypic data collected from knocking down the *Aacyp* gene in *A. aegypti* via dsRNA injections did not reveal a specific function for this gene, likely functions, such as facilitating moulting, have been ruled out. Due to the diverse functional nature of the CYP gene family, there are many more possible functions to test for *Aacyp*, whereas, if targeting a gene with a more specific predicted function, changes in phenotype would be more readily observed following RNAi knockdown. However, the relative ease and quickness of delivering dsRNA to mosquitoes enhances its use as a high-throughput screening tool. The same RNAi knockdown experiments for *Aacyp* could be repeated, but rather than assess changes in moulting or reproductive viability, changes to mating behaviours or even tolerance to chemical insecticides such as permethrin could be measured.

A. aegypti, in particular, may be soaked in dsRNA at young larval stages for high-throughput screening, or injected at any life stage in order to knock down a gene and assess its function. Although 100% knockdown of the genes tested was not readily observed, partial knockdown of a gene may still be enough to cause a phenotypic change, particularly for those genes that are not highly expressed or perhaps have low turnover rates. Genes with high turnover rates (such as housekeeping genes) may be more likely to out-compete the RNAi machinery and replenish their transcripts equally as fast as RISC can degrade them. Using RNAi, it is feasible to quickly screen mosquito genes that could be involved in specific processes that are detrimental to humans, such as blood-feeding and virus transmission. Information on genes involved in blood-feeding and blood-meal digestion, or even host-seeking behaviours, could be used to impede these processes, preventing females from finding hosts, blood feeding, or digesting a blood-meal properly, thereby rendering their offspring inviable. This could prevent the spread of several viruses transmitted by the mosquito, particularly Dengue, but also Yellow Fever and West Nile Virus, a disease that has recently begun to affect North America. RNAi screens of viral genes and their interactions within the mosquito could be tested by knocking down various viral genes and observing changes in viral replication and transmission within hosts.

The use for RNAi as a biological, species-specific pesticide is quite promising, as according to my data, significant knockdown of the housekeeping β -tubulin gene, and the *chitin synthase* gene were achieved simply by soaking first instar larvae in dsRNA solutions for short periods of time. According to a recent review paper by Huvenne and Smagghe (2010), there are several things to consider when optimizing dsRNA for oral delivery to an organism, and my study provides support to many of their conclusions. They suggest that the concentration, length and sequence of dsRNA can be critical for inducing significant RNAi responses in an organism. According to my study, there did appear to be a dose dependent response to β -tubulin-specific dsRNA, where higher concentrations of the dsRNA caused higher mortality in the larvae. It has been suggested that an optimal concentrations above that optimum no longer increases the amount of

observable gene silencing. This optimal dsRNA concentration, however, is specific to the organism, and most likely to the life stage that is being treated as well. For example, Meyering-Vos and Müller (2007) found that concentrations of 10 μ g/ μ l were no more effective at silencing the neuropeptide gene *sulfakinin* than concentrations of 2 μ g/ μ l in adult female Mediterranean field crickets (*Gryllus bimaculatus*). In the pea aphid (*Acyrthosiphon pisum*), dsRNA concentrations above 1 μ g/ μ l for a putative aquaporin gene did not increase gene silencing any further in 6-day-old aphids (Shakesby *et al.*, 2009). In my study, dose dependency seemed to affect mortality of *A. aegypti* larvae up to 0.5 μ g/ μ l. However, it is definitely possible that the optimal dsRNA concentration for first instar larvae is higher than what was used, and even more gene silencing could have been seen using concentrations above 0.5 μ g/ μ l. Knowing the optimum dsRNA concentration for an insect is important, especially in the production of dsRNA insecticides, to prevent waste of reagents and an unnecessary addition of chemicals to the environment.

The length of the dsRNA fragment being used is also important, according to Huvenne and Smagghe (2010), with longer dsRNAs typically being more effective than shorter dsRNAs. Shih *et al.* (2009) noted that while shorter (100 bp) dsRNAs appear to enter cells through transport channels such as SID-1 faster than longer (500 bp) dsRNAs, the longer fragments are better initiators of the gene silencing mechanism. The results from my β -*tub*-dsRNA experiments confirmed that the longer (728 bp) dsRNAs can cause a more potent RNAi effect than the shorter (385 bp) dsRNA (based on the qRT-PCR data), although both dsRNAs were equally effective at killing mosquito larvae, perhaps because the extent of RNAi from either treatment was sufficient to disrupt normal gut functioning.

Finally, Huvenne and Smagghe (2010) note that the actual sequence being used to target a specific gene with RNAi is critical to preventing off-target effects. Depending on the application, it is important to prevent other species from being affected, as well as other genes within the organism. In the case of RNAi screening to investigate gene function, dsRNAs should be specific enough to target one gene only. However, for the development of a species-specific insecticide, the nucleotide sequence used may be from a conserved gene to target many different insects. For example, genes involved in insect specific pathways such as those involved in moulting or feeding could be targeted with dsRNAs. In the case of highly conserved genes that may have homologues in a broad range of species, Whyard et al. (2009) found that the 3' untranslated region (3'UTR) of a gene could be used for dsRNA design. For example, in four Drosophila species (D. melanogaster, D. sechellia, D. yakuba and D. pseudoobscura) they were able to use the 3'UTR to design dsRNA sequences specific to each individual's γ -tubulin gene $(\gamma Tub23C)$. Among these four species, the sequence identity of this gene ranges from 79 to 96%, which makes it nearly impossible to find parts of the gene without overlapping sections of 19-21 nt long. Therefore, they used siRNAs specific to the 3'UTRs to induce species-specific gene knockdown and mortality.

The method of dsRNA delivery for RNAi is also very important, and may be dependent on the gene being targeted. Tissues beyond the gut may be more difficult to reach in a simple feeding or soaking method. Even though my results suggest that the RNAi effect spread beyond the gut in the feeding mosquito larvae, the extent of silencing beyond the gut may not be sufficient to silence genes effectively in distant tissues. Nevertheless, using RNAi to target gut genes required for nutrient uptake could cause enough damage to kill the insect as a chemical pesticide would, but still be speciesspecific. RNAi seems to be a good candidate for the development of novel insecticides, particularly in lepidopterans, and recently a review paper has been published on the viability of RNAi as a novel pesticide in this family of insects (Terenius *et al.*, 2010). However, these are terrestrial insects, and only terrestrial stages of insects have been tested for feeding and soaking as a method to deliver dsRNA. In my study, I have shown that it is possible to knock down a gene using RNAi in an insect with aquatic larval stages. The possibility to simply treat an aquatic habitat with a solution of dsRNA is fairly intriguing as a method to eliminate an aquatic pest-species.

Currently, our method of producing dsRNA involves only very small-scale *in vitro* synthesis reactions, and clearly, the scale of dsRNA production would have to be addressed if the dsRNA was to be developed as a pesticide. To make the process cost-effective, it might be possible to use genetically modified bacteria or yeast to mass produce dsRNAs, which can then be either extracted from the microorganisms and mixed into artificial diets or baited food, or perhaps the microorganisms can simply be killed and mixed into oral formulations that are attractive to the grazing insects in the environment. Certainly, another aspect of the research would have to assess the stability of the dsRNA in any of these novel formulations.

Naturally, there are limitations to using RNAi to examine gene functions or use it as a species-specific pesticide. As mentioned, the nature of the gene will greatly affect the RNAi response within an insect. In the case of pesticide development, genes should be screened for prominent phenotypic affects to determine which genes will do the greatest damage to the insect when silenced. With the rapid increase of genome sequencing data available for many more insect species, RNAi will undoubtedly play an important role in identifying the functions of newly sequenced genes and identify new candidate genes for RNAi pesticide applications.

References

- Abraham, E.G., Islam, S., Srinivasan, P., Ghosh, A.K., Valenzuela, J.G., Ribeiro, J.M., Kafatos, F.C., Dimopoulos, G., Jacobs-Lorena, M., 2004. Analysis of the *Plasmodium* and *Anopheles* transcriptional repertoire during ookinete development and midgut invasion. J. Biol. Chem. 279, 5573-5580.
- Adelman, Z.N., Sanchez-Vargas, I., Travanty, E.A., Carlson, J.O., Beaty, B.J., Blair, C.D., Olson, K.E., 2002. RNA silencing of dengue virus type 2 replication in transformed C6/36 mosquito cells transcribing an inverted-repeat RNA derived from the virus genome. J. Virol. 76, 12925-12933.
- Ahlquist, P., 2002. RNA-dependent RNA polymerases, viruses and RNA silencing. Science 296, 1270-1273.
- Amdam, G.V., Simões, Z.L., Guidugli, K.R., Norberg, K., Omholt, S.W., 2003. Disruption of vitellogenin gene function in adult honeybees by intra-abdominal injection of double-stranded RNA. BMC Biotechnol. 3, 1.
- Amichot, M., Tarès, S., Brun-Barale, A., Arthaud, L., Bride, J.M., Bergé, J.B., 2004.
 Point mutations associated with insecticide resistance in the Drosophila cytochrome P450 Cyp6a2 enable DDT metabolism. Eur. J. Biochem. 1, 1250-1257.
- Araujo, R.N., Santos, A., Pinto, F.S., Gontijo, N.F., Lehane, M.J., Pereira, M.H., 2006. RNA interference of the salivary gland nitrophorin 2 in the triatomine bug *Rhodnius prolixus* (Hemiptera, Reduviidae) by dsRNA ingestion or injection. Insect Biochem. Mol. Biol. 36, 683-693.
- Arbeitman, M.N., Fleming, A.A., Siegal, M.L., Null, B.H., Baker, B.S., 2004. A genomic analysis of Drosophila somatic sexual differentiation and its regulation. Development 131, 2007-2021.
- Arcà, B., Lombardo, F., Valenzuela, J.G., Francischetti, I.M., Marinotti, O., Coluzzi, M., Ribeiro, J.M., 2005. An updated catalogue of salivary gland transcripts in the adult female mosquito, *Anopheles gambiae*. J. Exp. Biol. 208, 3971-3986.
- Arrese, E.L., Soulages, J.L., 2010. Insect fat body: energy, metabolism, and regulation. Annu. Rev. Entomol. 55, 207-225.
- Attardo, G.M., Higgs, S., Klingler, K.A., Vanlandingham, D.L., Raikhel, A.S., 2003. RNA interference-mediated knockdown of a GATA factor reveals a link to anautogeny in the mosquito *Aedes aegypti*. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 100, 13374-13379.
- Baldwin, K.M., Hakim, R.S., 1991. Growth and differentiation of the larval midgut epithelium during molting in the moth, *Manduca sexta*. Tissue Cell 23, 411-422.

- Baum, J.A., Bogaert, T., Clinton, W., Heck, G.R., Feldmann, P., Ilagan, O., Johnson, S., Plaetinck, G., Munyikwa, T., Pleau, M., Vaughn, T., Roberts, J., 2007. Control of coleopteran insect pests through RNA interference. Nat. Biotechnol. 25, 1322-1326.
- Bautista, M.A.M., Miyata, T., Miura, K., Tanaka, T., 2009. RNA interference-mediated knockdown of a cytochrome P450, CYP6BG1, from the diamondback moth, *Plutella xylostella*, reduces larval resistance to permethrin. Insect Biochem. Mol. Bio. 39, 38-46.
- Bergé, J.B., Feyereisen, R., Amichot, M., 1998. Cytochrome P450 monooxygenases and insecticide resistance in insects. Philos. Trans. R Soc. Lond. B Biol. Sci. 353, 1701-1705.
- Bernanke, J., Köhler, H.R., 2009. The impact of environmental chemicals on wildlife vertebrates. Rev. Environ. Contam. Toxicol. 198, 1-47.
- Bettencourt, R., Terenius, O., Faye, I., 2002. *Hemolin* gene silencing by ds-RNA injected into Cecropia pupae is lethal to next generation embryos. Insect Mol. Biol. 11, 267-271.
- Beye, M., Härtel, S., Hagen, A., Hasselmann, M., Omholt, S.W., 2002. Specific developmental gene silencing in the honey bee using a homeobox motif. Insect Mol. Biol. 11, 527-532.
- Bialojan, S., Falkenburg, D., Renkawitz-Pohl, R., 1984. Characterization and developmental expression of beta tubulin genes in *Drosophila melanogaster*. EMBO J. 3, 2543-2548.
- Boisson, B., Jacques, J.C., Choumet, V., Martin, E., Xu, J., Vernick, K., Bourgouin, C., 2006. Gene silencing in mosquito salivary glands by RNAi. FEBS Lett. 580, 1988-1992.
- Brackney, D.E., Scott, J.C., Sagawa, F., Woodward, J.E., Miller, N.A., Schilkey, F.D., Mudge, J., Wilusz, J., Olson, K.E., Blair, C.D., Ebel, G.D., 2010. C6/36 Aedes albopictus cells have a dysfunctional antiviral RNA interference response. PLoS Negl. Trop. Dis. 4, e856.
- Broderson, P., Voinnet, O., 2006. The diversity of RNAi silencing pathways in plants. Trends Genet. 22, 268-280.
- Brown, A.E., Bugeon, L., Crisanti, A., Catteruccia, F., 2003. Stable and heritable gene silencing in the malaria vector *Anopheles stephensi*. Nucleic Acids Res. 31, e85.
- Bucher, G., Scholten, J., Klingler, M., 2002. Parental RNAi in *Tribolium* (Coleoptera). Curr. Biol. 12, R85-R86.

- Caplen, N.J., Zheng, Z., Falgout, B., Morgan, R.A., 2002. Inhibition of viral gene expression and replication in mosquito cells by dsRNA-triggered RNA interference. Mol. Ther. 6, 243-51.
- Cariño, F., Koener, J. F., Plapp, F.W. Jr., Feyereisen, R., 1992. Expression of the cytochrome P450 gene CYP6A 1 in the house fly, Musca domestica. A.C.S. Symp. Ser. 505, 31-40.
- Cariño, F.A., Koener, J.F., Plapp, F.W. Jr., Feyereisen, R., 1994. Constitutive overexpression of the cytochrome P450 gene CYP6A1 in a house fly strain with metabolic resistance to insecticides. Insect Biochem. Mol. Biol. 24, 411-418.
- Carmell, M.A., Hannon, G.J., 2004. RNase III enzymes and the initiation of gene silencing. Nat. Struct. Mol. Biol. 11, 214-218.
- Cator, L.J., Arthur, B.J., Harrington, L.C., Hoy, R.R., 2009. Harmonic convergence in the love songs of the dengue vector mosquito. Science 323, 1077-1079.
- Chambers, G.M., 2005. A method for determining the sex of larval *Aedes aegypti* mosquitoes. J. Vector Ecol. 30, 342-343.
- Chen, C-P., Lee, R.E., Delinger, D.L., 1991. Cold shock and heat shock: a comparison of the protection generated by brief pretreatment at less severe temperatures. Physiol. Entomol. 16, 19-26.
- Chen, J., Zhang, D., Yao, Q., Zhang, J., Dong, X., Tian, H., Chen, J., Zhang, W., 2010. Feeding-based RNA interference of a *trehalose phosphate synthase* gene in the brown planthopper, *Nilaparvata lugens*. Insect Mol. Biol. 19, 777-786.
- Chen, P.S., 1984. The functional morphology and biochemistry of insect male accessory glands and their secretions. Annu. Rev. Entomol. 29, 233-255.
- Chen, P.S., 1991. Biochemistry and molecular regulation of the male accessory gland secretions in *Drosophila* (Diptera). Annals Soc. Ent. Fr. 27, 231-144.
- Chen, P.S., Stumm-Zollinger, E., Aigaki, T., Balmer, J., Bienz, M., Böhlen, P., 1988. A male accessory gland peptide that regulates reproductive behavior of female *D. melanogaster*. Cell. 54:291-298.
- Clements, A.N., 1992. The Biology of Mosquitoes, Volume 1: Development, nutrition and reproduction. Chapman & Hall, London.
- Clements, A.N., 1999. The Biology of Mosquitoes, Volume 2: Sensory Reception and Behaviour. CABI Publishing, Wallingford.

- Clemons, A., Haugen, M., Severson, D., Duman-Scheel, M., 2010. Functional analysis of genes in *Aedes aegypti* embryos. Cold Spring Harb. Protoc. 10, doi: 10.1101/pdb.prot5511.
- Dalzell, J.J., McMaster, S., Johnston, M.J., Kerr, R., Fleming, C.C., Maule, A.G., 2009. Non-nematode-derived double-stranded RNAs induce profound phenotypic changes in *Meloidogyne incognita* and *Globodera pallida* infective juveniles. Int. J. Parasitol. 39, 1503-1516.
- Dauphin-Villemant, C., Böcking, D., Tom, M., Maïbèche, M., Lafont, R., 1999. Cloning of a novel cytochrome P450 (CYP4C15) differentially expressed in the steroidogenic glands of an arthropod. Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 264, 413-418.
- Dunkov, B.C., Rodriguez-Arnaiz, R., Pittendrigh, B., ffrench-Constant, R.H., Feyereisen, R., 1996. Cytochrome P450 gene clusters in *Drosophila melanogaster*. Mol. Gen. Genet. 251, 290-297.
- Eaton, B.A., Fetter, R.D., Davis, G.W., 2002. Dynactin is necessary for synapse stabilization. Neuron 34, 729-741.
- Feinberg, E.H., Hunter, C.P., 2003. Transport of dsRNA into cells by the transmembrane protein SID-1. Science 301, 1545-1547.
- Feng, G.S., Chong, K., Kumar, A., Williams, B.R., 1992. Identification of doublestranded RNA-binding domains in the interferon-induced double-stranded RNAactivated p68 kinase. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 89, 5447–5451.
- Feyereisen, R., 1999. Insect P450 enzymes. Annu. Rev. Entomol. 44, 507-533.
- Fire, A., Xu, S., Montgomery, M.K., Kostas, S.A., Driver, S.E., Mello, C.C., 1998. Potent and specific genetic interference by double-stranded RNA in *Caenorhabditis elegans*. Nature 391, 806-811.
- Fujii, S., Toyama, A., Amrein, H., 2008. A male-specific fatty acid omega-hydroxylase, SXE1, is necessary for efficient male mating in *Drosophila melanogaster*. Genetics 180, 179-190.
- Gatehouse, H.S., Gatehouse, L.N., Malone, L.A., Hodges, S., Tregidga, E., Todd, J., 2004. Amylase activity in honey bee hypopharyngeal glands reduced by RNA interference. J. Apicult. Res. 43, 9–13.
- Gil, J., Esteban, M., 2000. Induction of apoptosis by the dsRNA-dependent protein kinase (PKR): mechanism of action. Apoptosis 5, 107-114.

- Gilden, R.C., Huffling, K., Sattler, B., 2010. Pesticides and health risks. J. Obstet. Gynecol. Neonatal Nurs. 39, 103-110.
- Gjullin, C.M., Hegarty, C.P., Bollen, W.B., 1941. The necessity of a low oxygen concentration for the hatching of *Aedes* mosquito eggs. J.Cell Comp. Physiol. 17, 193-202.
- Gordon, K.H.J., Waterhouse, P.M., 2007. RNAi for insect-proof plants. Nat. Biotechnol. 25, 1231-1232.
- Guo, S., Kemphues, K.J., 1995. *Par-1*, a gene required for establishing polarity in *C. elegans* embryos, encoded a putative ser/thr kinase that is asymmetrically distributed. Cell 81, 611-620.
- Gurley, K.A., Rink, J.C., Sánchez-Alvarado, A., 2008. Beta-catenin defines head versus tail identity during planarian regeneration and homeostasis. Science 319, 323-327.
- Halstead, S.B., 2008. Dengue virus-mosquito interactions. Annu. Rev. Entomol. 53, 273-291.
- Hannon, G.J., 2002. RNA interference. Nature. 418, 244-251.
- Hartberg, W.K., 1971. Observations on the mating behaviour of *Aedes aegypti* in nature. Bull. W.H.O. 45, 847–850.
- Hayes, E.B., Komar, N., Nasci, R.S., Montgomery, S.P., O'Leary, D.R., Campbell, G.L., 2005. Epidemiology and transmission dynamics of West Nile virus disease. Emerg. Infect. Diseases 11, 1167-1173.
- Hediger, M., Burghardt, G., Siegenthaler, C., Buser, N., Hilfiker-Kleiner, D., Dübendorfer, A., Bopp, D., 2004. Sex determination in Drosophila melanogaster and Musca domestica converges at the level of the terminal regulator doublesex. Dev. Genes Evol. 214, 29-42.
- Heifetz, Y., Lung, O., Frongillo, E.A. Jr., Wolfner, M.F., 2000. The Drosophila seminal fluid protein Acp26Aa stimulates release of oocytes by the ovary. Curr. Biol. 10, 99-102.
- Heifetz Y, Vandenberg LN, Cohn HI, Wolfner MF. 2005. Two cleavage products of the Drosophila accessory gland protein ovulin can independently induce ovulation. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 102, 743-748.
- Herndon LA, Wolfner MF. 1995. A Drosophila seminal fluid protein, Acp26Aa, stimulates egg laying in females for 1 day after mating. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 92, 10114-10118.

- Hoa, N.T., Keene, K.M., Olson, K.E., Zheng, L. 2003. Characterization of RNA interference in an *Anopheles gambiae* cell line. Insect Biochem. Molec. Biol. 33, 949-957.
- Huvenne, H., Smagghe, G., 2010. Mechanisms of dsRNA uptake in insects and potential of RNAi for pest control, a review. J. Insect Physiol. 56, 227-235.
- Jones, L., Ratcliff, F., Baulcombe, D.C., 2001. RNA-directed transcriptional gene silencing in plants can be inherited independently of the RNA trigger and requires Met1 for maintenance. Curr. Biol. 11, 747-757.
- Jose, A.M., Smith, J.J., Hunter, C.P., 2009. Export of RNA silencing from *C. elegans* tissues does not require the RNA channel SID-1. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 106, 2283-2288.
- Joussen, N., Heckel, D.G., Haas, M., Schuphan, I., Schmidt, B., 2008. Metabolism of imidacloprid and DDT by P450 CYP6G1 expressed in cell cultures of *Nicotiana tabacum* suggests detoxification of these insecticides in Cyp6g1-overexpressing strains of *Drosophila melanogaster*, leading to resistance. Pest. Manag. Sci. 64, 65-73.
- Kasai, S., Tomita, T., 2003. Male specific expression of a cytochrome P450 (*Cyp312a1*) in *Drosophila melanogaster*. Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 300, 894-900.
- Ketting, R.F., Fischer, S.E., Bernstein, E., Sijen, T., Hannon, G.J., Plasterk, R.H., 2001. Dicer functions in RNA interference and in synthesis of small RNA involved in developmental timing in *C. elegans*. Genes Dev. 15, 2654-2659.
- Kim, M., Sim, C., Denlinger, D.L., 2010. RNA interference directed against ribosomal protein S3a suggests a link between this gene and arrested ovarian development during adult diapause in *Culex pipiens*. Insect Mol. Biol. 19, 27-33
- Komar, N.S., Langevin, S., Hinten, S., Nemeth, N., Edwards, E., Hettler, D., Davis, B., Bowen, R., Bunning, M., 2003. Experimental infection of North American birds with the New York 1999 strain of West Nile virus. Emerg. Infect. Dis. 9, 311-322.
- Krebs, R.A., Feder, M.E., 1998. Hsp70 and larval thermotolerance in *Drosophila melanogaster*: how much is enough and when is more too much? J. Insect Physiol. 44, 1091-1101.
- Kubli, E., 1992. The sex-peptide. Bioessays 14, 779-784.
- Kuhn, S., Sievert, V., Traut, W., 2000. The sex-determining gene doublesex in the fly *Megaselia scalaris*: conserved structure and sex-specific splicing. Genome 43, 1011-1020.

- Kuttenkeuler, D., Boutros, M., 2004. Genome-wide RNAi as a route to gene function in Drosophila. Brief Funct. Genomic Proteomic. 3, 168-176.
- Lester, P.I., Greenwood, D.R., 1997. Pretreatment induced thermotolerance in lightbrown apple moth (Lepidoptera: Tortricidae) and associated induction of heat shock protein synthesis. J. Econ. Entomol. 90, 199-204.
- Liu, N., Scott, J.G., 1998. Increased transcription of *CYP6D1* causes cytochrome P450mediated insecticide resistance in house fly. Insect Biochem. Molec. Biol. 28, 531-535.
- Liu, J., Carmell, M.A., Rivas, F.V., Marsden, C.G., Thomson, J.M., Song, J.J., Hammond, S.M., Joshua-Tor, L., Hannon, G.J., 2004. Argonaute2 is the catalytic engine of mammalian RNAi. Science 305, 1437-1441.
- Livak, K.J., Schmittgen, T.D., 2001. Analysis of relative gene expression data using realtime quantitative PCR and the $2^{-\Delta\Delta C}_{T}$ method. Methods. 25, 402-408.
- Lung, O., Tram, U., Finnerty, C.M., Eipper-Mains, M.A., Kalb, J.M., Wolfner, M.F., 2002. The *Drosophila melanogaster* seminal fluid protein Acp62F is a protease inhibitor that is toxic upon ectopic expression. Genetics 160, 211-224.
- Maïbèche-Coisne, M., Monti-Dedieu, L., Aragon, S., Dauphin-Villemant, C., 2000. A new cytochrome P450 from *Drosophila melanogaster*, CYP4G15, expressed in the nervous system. Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 273, 1132-1137.
- Mao, Y-B., Cai, W-J., Wang, J-W., Hong, G-J., Tao, X-J., Wang, L-J., Huang, Y-P., Chen, X-Y., 2007. Silencing a cotton bollworm P450 monooxygenase gene by plant-mediated RNAi impairs larval tolerance of gossypol. Nat. Biotechnol. 25, 1307-1313.
- Maori, E., Paldi, N., Shafir, S., Kalev, H., Tsur, E., Glick, E., Sela, I., 2009. IAPV, a beeaffecting virus associated with Colony Collapse Disorder can be silenced by dsRNA ingestion. Insect. Mol. Biol. 18, 55-60.
- MacRae, I.J., Kaihong, Z., Li, F., Repic, A., Brooks, A.N., Zacheus Cande, W., Adams, P.D., Doudna, J.A., 2006. Structural basis for double-stranded RNA processing by Dicer. Science 311, 195-198.
- Meise, M., Hilfiker-Kleiner, D., Dubendorfer, A., Brunner, C., Nothiger, R., Bopp, D., 1998. Sex-lethal, the master sex-determining gene in Drosophila, is not sexspecifically regulated in Musca domestica. Development 125, 1487-1494.

Merzendorfer, H., 2006. Insect chitin synthases, a review. J. Comp. Physiol. B. 176, 1-15.

- Meunier, B., de Visser, S.P., Shaik, S., 2004. Mechanism of oxidation reactions catalyzed by cytochrome P450 enzymes. Chem. Rev. 104, 3947–3980.
- Meyering-Vos, M., Müller, A., 2007. RNA interference suggests sulfakinins as satiety effectors in the cricket *Gryllus bimaculatus*. J. Insect Physiol. 53, 840-848.
- Misquitta, L., Paterson, B.M., 1999. Targeted disruption of gene function in Drosophila by RNA interference (RNA-i), a role for *nautilus* in embryonic somatic muscle formation. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 96, 1451-1456.
- Mlotshwa, S., Voinnet, O., Mette, M.F., Matzke, M., Vaucheret, H., Ding, S.W., Pruss, G., Vance, V.B., 2002. RNA silencing and the mobile silencing signal. Plant Cell 14, S289-S301.
- Napoli, C., Lemieux, C., Jorgensen, R., 1990. Introduction of a Chimeric Chalcone Synthase Gene into Petunia Results in Reversible Co-Suppression of Homologous Genes in trans. Plant Cell 2, 279-289.
- Ndegwa, D., Krautz-Peterson, G., Skelly, P.J., 2007. Protocols for gene silencing in schistosomes. Exp. Parasitol. 117, 284-291.
- Nene, V., Wortman, J.R., Lawson, D., Haas, B., Kodira, C., Tu, Z.J., Loftus, B., Xi, Z., Megy, K., Grabherr, M., Ren, Q., Zdobnov, E.M., Lobo, N.F., Campbell, K.S., Brown, S.E., Bonaldo, M.F., Zhu, J., Sinkins, S.P., Hogenkamp, D.G., Amedeo, P., Arensburger, P., Atkinson, P.W., Bidwell, S., Biedler, J., Birney, E., Bruggner, R.V., Costas, J., Coy, M.R., Crabtree, J., Crawford, M., Debruyn, B., Decaprio, D., Eiglmeier, K., Eisenstadt, E., El-Dorry, H., Gelbart, W.M., Gomes, S.L., Hammond, M., Hannick, L.I., Hogan, J.R., Holmes, M.H., Jaffe, D., Johnston, J.S., Kennedy, R.C., Koo, H., Kravitz, S., Kriventseva, E.V., Kulp, D., Labutti, K., Lee, E., Li, S., Lovin, D.D., Mao, C., Mauceli, E., Menck, C.F., Miller, J.R., Montgomery, P., Mori, A., Nascimento, A.L., Naveira, H.F., Nusbaum, C., O'leary, S., Orvis, J., Pertea, M., Quesneville, H., Reidenbach, K.R., Rogers, Y.H., Roth, C.W., Schneider, J.R., Schatz, M., Shumway, M., Stanke, M., Stinson, E.O., Tubio, J.M., Vanzee, J.P., Verjovski-Almeida, S., Werner, D., White, O., Wyder, S., Zeng, Q., Zhao, Q., Zhao, Y., Hill, C.A., Raikhel, A.S., Soares, M.B., Knudson, D.L., Lee, N.H., Galagan, J., Salzberg, S.L., Paulsen, I.T., Dimopoulos, G., Collins, F.H., Birren, B., Fraser-Liggett, C.M., Severson, D.W., 2007. Genome sequence of Aedes aegypti, a major arbovirus vector. Science 316, 1718-1723.
- Neubaum, D.M., Wolfner, M.F., 1999. Mated *Drosophila melanogaster* females require a seminal fluid protein, Acp36DE, to store sperm efficiently. Genetics 153, 845-857.
- Newmark, P.A., Reddien, P.W., Cebrià, F., Sánchez-Alvarado, A., 2003. Ingestion of bacterially expressed double-stranded RNA inhibits gene expression in planarians. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 100, 11861-11865.

- Nicholson, G.M., 2007. Fighting the global pest problem: preface to the special Toxicon issue on insecticidal toxins and their potential for pest insect control. Toxicon 49, 413-422
- Nigro, R.G., Campos, M.C.C., Perondini, A.L.P., 2007. Temperature and the progeny sex-ratio in *Sciara ocellaris* (Diptera, Sciaridae). Genet. Mol. Biol. 30, 152-158.
- Niwa, R., Matsuda, T., Yoshiyama, T., Namiki, T., Mita, K., Fujimoto, Y., Kataoka, H., 2004. CYP306A1, a cytochrome P450 enzyme, is essential for ecdysteroid biosynthesis in the prothoracic glands of *Bombyx* and *Drosophila*. J. Biol. Chem. 279, 35942-35949.
- Omura, T., Sato, R., 1964a. The carbon monoxide-binding pigment of liver microsomes I: Evidence for its hemoprotein nature. J. Biol. Chem. 239, 2370-2378.
- Omura, T., Sato, R., 1964b. The carbon monoxide-binding pigment of liver microsomes II: Solubilization, purification and properties, J. Biol. Chem. 239, 2379-2385.
- Orii, H., Mochii, M., Watanabe, K., 2003. A simple "soaking method" for RNA interference in the planarian *Dugesia japonica*. Dev. Genes Evol. 213, 138-141.
- Paoletti, M., Pimental, D., 2000. Environmental risks of pesticides versus genetic engineering for agricultural pest control. J. Agric. Environ. Ethics 12, 279-303.
- Piccin, A., Salameh, A., Benna, C., Sandrelli, F., Mazzotta, G., Zordan, M., Rosato, E., Kyriacou, C.P., Costa, R., 2001. Efficient and heritable functional knock-out of an adult phenotype in *Drosophila* using a GAL4-driven hairpin RNA incorporating a heterologous spacer. Nucleic Acids Res. 29, e55.
- Pittendrigh, B., Aronstein, K., Zinkovsky, E., Andreev, O., Campbell, B., Daly, J., Trowell, S., ffrench-Constant, R.H., 1997. Cytochrome P450 genes from *Helicoverpa armigera*: expression in a pyrethroid-susceptible and -resistant strain. Insect Biochem. Mol. Biol. 27, 507-512.
- Pratt, A.J., MacRae, I.J., 2009. The RNA-induced silencing complex: A versatile genesilencing machine. J. Biol. Chem. 284, 17897-17901.
- Pridgeon, J.W., Zhang, L., Liu, N., 2003. Overexpression of CYP4G19 associated with a pyrethroid-resistant strain of the German cockroach, *Blattella germanica* (L.). Gene 314, 157-163.
- Raikhel, A.S., Kokoza, V.A., Zhu, J., Martin, D., Wang, S.F., Li, C., Sun, G., Ahmed, A., Dittmer, N., Attardo, G., 2002. Molecular biology of mosquito vitellogenesis: from basic studies to genetic engineering of antipathogen immunity. Insect Biochem. Mol. Biol. 32, 1275-1286.

- Rajagopal, R., Sivakumar, S., Agrawal, N., Malhotra, P., Bhatnagar, R.K., 2002. Silencing of midgut aminopeptidase N of *Spodoptera litura* by double-stranded RNA establishes its role as *Bacillus thuringiensis* toxin receptor. J. Biol. Chem. 277, 46849-46851.
- Rana, T.M., 2007. Illuminating the silence: understanding the structure and function of small RNAs. Nat. Rev. Mol. Cell. Biol. 8, 23-36.
- Ratnieks, F.L., Carreck, N.L., 2010. Ecology: clarity on honey bee collapse? Science 327, 152-153.
- Ray, K., Mercedes, M., Chan, D., Choi, C.Y., Nishiura, J.T., 2009. Growth and differentiation of the larval mosquito midgut. J. Insect. Sci. 9, 1-13.
- Raymond, C.S., Shamu, C.E., Shen, M.M., Seifert, K.J., Hirsch, B., Hodgkin, J., Zarkower, D., 1998. Evidence for evolutionary conservation of sex-determining genes. Nature 391, 691-695.
- Reddien, P.W., Bermange, A.L., Murfitt, K.J., Jennings, J.R., Sánchez-Alvarado, A., 2005. Identification of genes needed for regeneration, stem cell function, and tissue homeostasis by systematic gene perturbation in planaria. Dev. Cell 8, 635-649.
- Rivero, A., Vézilier, J., Weill, M., Read, A.F., Gandon, S., 2010. Insecticide control of vector-borne diseases, when is insecticide resistance a problem? PLoS Pathog. 6, e1001000.
- Roy, S.G., Hansen, I.A., Raikhel, A.S., 2007. Effect of insulin and 20-hydroxyecdysone in the fat body of the yellow fever mosquito, *Aedes aegypti*. Insect Biochem. Mol. Biol. 37, 1317-1326.
- Saccone, G., Peluso, I., Artiaco, D., Giordano, E., Bopp, D., Polito, L.C., 1998. The *Ceratitis capitata* homologue of the *Drosophila* sex-determining gene sex-lethal is structurally conserved, but not sex-specifically regulated. Development 125, 1495-1500.
- Saccone, G., Pane, A., Polito, L.C., 2002. Sex determination in flies, fruitflies and butterflies. Genetica 116, 15-23.
- Saleh, M.C., van Rij, R.P., Hekele, A., Gillis, A., Foley, E., O'Farrell, P.H., Andino, R., 2006. The endocytic pathway mediates cell entry of dsRNA to induce RNAi silencing. Nat. Cell Biol. 8, 793-802.
- Sanchez, L., 2008. Sex-determining mechanisms in insects. Int. J. Dev. Biol. 52, 837-856.

- Sanders, H.R., Evans, A.M., Ross, L.S., Gill, S.S., 2003. Blood meal induces global changes in midgut gene expression in the disease vector, Aedes aegypti. Insect Biochem. Molec. Biol. 33, 1105-1122.
- Scali, C., Catteruccia, F., Li, Q., Crisanti, A. 2005. Identification of sex-specific transcripts of the *Anopheles gambiae doublesex* gene. J. Exp. Biol. 208, 3701-3709.
- Scharf, M.E., Parimi, S., Meinke, L.J., Chandler, L.D., Siegfried, B.D., 2001. Expression and induction of three family 4 cytochrome P450 (CYP4)* genes identified from insecticide-resistant and susceptible western corn rootworms, *Diabrotica virgifera virgifera*. Insect Mol. Biol. 10, 139-146.
- Schiebel, W., Pélissier, T., Riedel, L., Thalmeir, S., Schiebel, R., Kempe, D., Lottspeich, F., Sänger, H.L., Wassenegger, M., 1998. Isolation of an RNA-directed RNA polymerase –specific cDNA clone from tomato. Plant Cell 10, 2087-2102.
- Schütt, C., Nöthiger, R., 2000. Structure, function and evolution of sex-determining systems in Dipteran insects. Development 127, 667-677.
- Scott, J.G., 1999. Cytochrome P450s and insecticide resistance. Insect Biochem. Mol. Biol. 29, 757-777.
- Scott, J.C., Brackney, D.E., Campbell, C.L., Bondu-Hawkins, V., Hjelle, B., Ebel, G.D., Olson, K.E., Blair, C.D., 2010. Comparison of dengue virus type 2-specific small RNAs from RNA interference-competent and -incompetent mosquito cells. PLoS Negl. Trop. Dis. 4, e848.
- Scott, J.G., Georghiou, G.P., 1986. The biochemical genetics of permethrin resistance in the Learn-PyR strain of house fly. Biochem. Genet. 24, 25-37.
- Shakesby, A.J., Wallace, I.S., Isaacs, H.V., Pritchard, J., Roberts, D.M., Douglas, A.E., 2009. A water-specific aquaporin involved in aphid osmoregulation. Insect Biochem. Mol. Biol. 39, 1-10.
- Shearman, D.C., Frommer, M., 1998. The Bactrocera tryoni homologue of the Drosophila melanogaster sex-determination gene doublesex. Insect Mol. Biol. 7, 355-366.
- Shih, J.D., Fitzgerald, M.C., Sutherlin, M., Hunter, C.P., 2009. The SID-1 doublestranded RNA transporter is not selective for dsRNA length. RNA 15, 384-390.
- Shirangi, T.R., McKeown, M., 2007. Sex in flies: What 'body-mind' dichotomy. Dev. Biol. 306, 10-19.
- Sirot, L.K., Poulson, R.L., McKenna, M.C., Girnary, H., Wolfner, M.F., Harrington, L.C., 2008. Identity and transfer of male reproductive gland proteins of the Dengue

vector mosquito, *Aedes aegypti*: potential tools for control of female feeding and reproduction. Insect Biochem. Mol. Biol. 38, 176-189.

- Snyder, M.J., Stevens, J.L., Andersen, J.F., Feyereisen, R., 1995. Expression of cytochrome P450 genes of the CYP4 family in midgut and fat body of the tobacco hornworm, *Manduca sexta*. Arch. Biochem. Biophys. 321, 13-20.
- Soares, C.A., Lima, C.M., Dolan, M.C., Piesman, J., Beard, C.B., Zeidner, N.S., 2005. Capillary feeding of specific dsRNA induces silencing of the *isac* gene in nymphal *Ixodes scapularis* ticks. Insect Mol. Biol. 14, 443-452.
- Solis, C.F., Santi-Rocca, J., Perdomo, D., Weber, C., Guillén, N., 2009. Use of bacterially expressed dsRNA to downregulate *Entamoeba histolytica* gene expression. PLoS One 4, e8424.
- Song, J.J., Smith, S.K., Hannon, G.J., Joshua-Tor, L., 2004. Crystal structure of Argonaute and its implications for RISC slicer activity. Science. 305, 1434-1437.
- Smith, K.E., Linser, P.J., 2009. Silencing of carbonic anhydrase in an *Anopheles gambiae* larval cell line, Ag55. J. RNAi Gene Silencing 5, 345-350.
- Tabara, H., Grishok, A., Mello, C.C., 1998. RNAi in *C. elegans*, soaking in the genome sequence. Science 282, 430-431.
- Tarès, S., Bergé, J.B., Amichot, M., 2000. Cloning and expression of cytochrome P450 genes belonging to the CYP4 family and to a novel family, CYP48, in two hymenopteran insects, *Trichogramma cacoeciae* and *Apis mellifera*. Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 268, 677-682.
- Tavernarakis, N., Wang, S.L., Dorovkov, M., Ryazanov, A., Driscoll, M., 2000. Heritable and inducible genetic interference by double-stranded RNA encoded by transgenes. Nat. Genet. 24, 180-183.
- Terenius, O., Papanicolaou, A., Garbutt, J.S., Eleftherianos, I., Huvenne, H., Sriramana, K., Albrechtsen, M., An, C., Aymeric, J.L., Barthel, A., Bebas, P., Bitra, K., Bravo, A., Chevalier, F., Collinge, D.P., Crava, C.M., de Maagd, R.A., Duvic, B., Erlandson, M., Faye, I., Felföldi, G., Fujiwara, H., Futahashi, R., Gandhe, A.S., Gatehouse, H.S., Gatehouse, L.N., Giebultowicz, J., Gómez, I., Grimmelikhuijzen, C.J., Groot, A.T., Hauser, F., Heckel, D.G., Hegedus, D.D., Hrycaj, S., Huang, L., Hull, J.J., Iatrou, K., Iga, M., Kanost, M.R., Kotwica, J., Li, C., Li, J., Liu, J., Lundmark, M., Matsumoto, S., Meyering-Vos, M., Millichap, P.J., Monteiro, A., Mrinal, N., Niimi, T., Nowara, D., Ohnishi, A., Oostra, V., Ozaki, K., Papakonstantinou, M., Popadic, A., Rajam, M.V., Saenko, S., Simpson, R.M., Soberón, M., Strand, M.R., Tomita, S., Toprak, U., Wang, P., Wee, C.W., Whyard, S., Zhang, W., Nagaraju, J., Ffrench-Constant, R.H., Herrero, S., Gordon, K., Swevers, L., Smagghe, G., 2010. RNA interference in Lepidoptera: An overview of

successful and unsuccessful studies and implications for experimental design. J. Insect Physiol. doi:10.1016/j.jinsphys.2010.11.006.

- Tian, H., Peng, H., Yao, Q., Chen, H., Xie, Q., Tang, B., Zhang, W., 2009. Developmental control of a lepidopteran pest *Spodoptera exigua* by ingestion of bacteria expressing dsRNA of a non-midgut gene. PLoS One 4, e6225.
- Timmons, L., Court, D.L., Fire, A., 2001. Ingestion of bacterially expressed dsRNAs can produce specific and potent genetic interference in *Caenorhabditis elegans*. Gene 263, 103-112.
- Tomoyasu, Y., Denell, R.E., 2004. Larval RNAi in *Tribolium* (Coleoptera) for analyzing adult development. Dev. Genes Evol. 214, 575-578.
- Tram, U., Wolfner, M.F., 1999. Male seminal fluid proteins are essential for sperm storage in Drosophila melanogaster. Genetics. 153, 837-844.
- Travanty, E.A., Adelman, Z.N., Franz, A.W., Keene, K.M., Beaty, B.J., Blair, C.D., James, A.A., Olson, K.E., 2004. Using RNA interference to develop dengue virus resistance in genetically modified *Aedes aegypti*. Insect Biochem. Mol. Biol. 34, 607-613.
- Turner, C.T., Davy, M.W., MacDiarmid, R.M., Plummer, K.M., 2006. RNA interference in the light brown apple moth, *Epiphyas postvittana* (Walker) induced by doublestranded RNA feeding. Insect Mol. Biol. 15, 383-391.
- Ullerich, F-H., 1984. Analysis of sex determination in the monogenic blowfly *Chrysoma rufifacies* by pole cell transplantation. Mol. Gen. Genet. 193, 479-487.
- Ulvila, J., Parikka, M., Kleino, A., Sormunen, R., Ezekowitz, R.A., Kocks, C., Rämet, M., 2006. Double-stranded RNA is internalized by scavenger receptor-mediated endocytosis in Drosophila S2 cells. J. Biol. Chem. 281, 14370-14375.
- Valenzuela, J.G., Pham, V.M., Garfield, M.K., Francischetti, I.M., Ribeiro, J.M., 2002. Toward a description of the sialome of the adult female mosquito *Aedes aegypti*. Insect Biochem. Mol. Biol. 32, 1101-1122.
- Vance, V., Vaucheret, H., 2001. RNA silencing in plants: Defense and counterdefense. Science 292, 2277-2280.
- Vaucheret, H., Beclin, C., Fagard, M., 2001. Post-transcriptional gene silencing in plants. J. Cell. Sci. 114, 3083-3091.
- Verhulst, E.C., Beukeboom, L.W., van de Zande, L., 2010. Maternal control of haplodiploid sex determination in the wasp *Nasonia*. Science 328, 620-623.

- Voinnet, O., 2002. RNA silencing: small RNAs as ubiquitous regulators of gene expression. Curr. Opin. Plant Biol. 5, 444-451.
- Voinnet, O., Vain, P., Angell, S., Baulcombe, D.C., 1998. Systemic spread of sequencespecific transgene RNA degradation in plants is initiated by localized introduction of ectopic promoterless DNA. Cell 95, 177-187.
- Walshe, D.P., Lehane, S.M., Lehane, M.J., Haines, L.R., 2009. Prolonged gene knockdown in the tsetse fly *Glossina* by feeding double stranded RNA. Insect Mol. Biol. 18, 11–19.
- Warren, J.T., Petryk, A., Marques, G., Jarcho, M., Parvy, J.P., Dauphin-Villemant, C., O'Connor, M.B., Gilbert, L.I., 2002. Molecular and biochemical characterization of two P450 enzymes in the ecdysteroidogenic pathway of *Drosophila melanogaster*. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 99, 11043-11048.
- Waterhouse, R.M., Wyder, S., Zdobnov, E.M., 2008. The *Aedes aegypti* genome: a comparative perspective. Insect Mol. Biol. 17, 1-8.
- Wen, Z., Scott, J.G., 2001. Cytochrome P450 CYP6L1 is specifically expressed in the reproductive tissues of adult male German cockroaches, *Blattella germanica* (L.). Insect Biochem. Mol. Biol. 31, 179-187.
- Werck-Reichhart, D., Feyereisen, R., 2000. Cytochromes P450: a success story. Genome Biol. 1, 3003.
- Wheelock, G.D., Scott, J.G., 1990. Immunological detection of cytochrome P450 from insecticide resistant and susceptible house flies (*Musca domestica*). Pestic. Biochem. Physiol. 38, 130-139.
- Whyard, S., Wyatt, G.R., Walker, V.K., 1986. The heat shock response in *Locusta migratoria*. J. Comp. Physiol. B 156, 813-817.
- Whyard, S., Singh, A.D., Wong, S., 2009. Ingested double-stranded RNAs can act as species-specific insecticides. Insect Biochem. Mol. Biol. 39, 824-832.
- Weiner, A., 2003. Soaking up RNAi. Mol. Cell 12, 535-536.
- Winston, W.M., Molodowitch, C., Hunter, C.P., 2002. Systemic RNAi in *C. elegans* requires the putative transmembrane protein SID-1. Science 295, 2456-2459.
- Wolfner, M.F., 1997. Tokens of love: Functions and regulation of Drosophila male accessory gland products. Insect Biochem. Mol. Biol. 27, 179-192.
- Wolfner, M.F., 2002. The gifts that keep on giving: physiological functions and evolutionary dynamics of male seminal proteins in *Drosophila*. Heredity 88, 85-93.

- Wu, X., Hong, H., Yue, J., Wu, Y., Li, X., Jiang, L., Li, L., Li, Q., Gao, G., Yang, X., 2010. Inhibitory effect of small interfering RNA on Dengue virus replication in mosquito cells. Virol. J. 7, 270.
- Xiao, H., Lis, J.T., 1989. Heat shock and developmental regulation of the *Drosophila melanogaster hsp83* gene. Mol. Cell Biol. 9, 1746-1753.
- Yapici, N., Kim, Y.J., Ribeiro, C., Dickson, B.J., 2008. A receptor that mediates the postmating switch in *Drosophila* reproductive behaviour. Nature 451, 33-37.
- Yuen, J.L., Read, S.A., Brubacher, J.L., Singh, A.D., Whyard, S., 2008. Biolistics for high-throughput transformation and RNA interference in *Drosophila melanogaster*. Fly 2, 247-254.
- Zhou, X., Wheeler, M.M., Oi, F.M., Scharf, M.E., 2008. RNA interference in the termite *Reticulitermes flavipes* through ingestion of double-stranded RNA. Insect Biochem. Molec. Biol. 38, 805-815.
- Zhu, J., Chen, L., Raikhel, A.S., 2003. Posttranscriptional control of the competence factor betaFTZ-F1 by juvenile hormone in the mosquito *Aedes aegypti*. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 100, 13338-13343.